VILNIUS UNIVERSITY

FACULTY OF ECONOMICS AND BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION

INTEGRATED MARKETING AND COMMUNICATION

Gitana Stalmokaitė

MASTER THESIS

TITLE IN LITHUANIAN	TITLE IN ENGLISH
Materializmo, žaismingumo, noro pritapti ir	The impact of materialism, playfulness,
rizikos vengimo įtaka norui suteikti	belongingness and risk aversion on intention
rekomendaciją sužaidybintoje	to recommend in gamified referral
rekomendacijų rinkodaros programoje	marketing programme

Supervisor Dr. Ignas Zimaitis

•

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	3
1. ENGAGEMENT IN REFERRAL MARKETING PROGRAMS	6
1.1 Gamification and gamification elements	6
1.2 Gamification impact on motivation	
1.3 Perceived enjoyment	
1.3 Perceived usefulness	15
1.4 Perceived risk	
2. INDIVIDUAL TRAITS	
2.1 Materialism	
2.2 Playfulness	
2.3 Individual risk tolerance	24
2.4 Belongingness	
3. METHODOLOGY	30
3.1 Conceptual model of research	
3.2 Hypothesis development	
3.3 Constructs	
3.2 Instrument and data collection	
4. RESULTS	
4.1 Descriptive statistics	
4.2 Reliability analysis	
4.3 Hypotheses testing	
5. CONCLUSION AND RECCOMENDATIONS	60
5.1 Conclusion	60
5.2 Recommendations	62
LIST OF REFERENCES	64
SUMMARY	102
SANTRAUKA	104
ANNEXES	106
Annex 1. Empirical research questionnaire	106

INTRODUCTION

Using a technology to receive and share information or personal view has become a habit. The technology can facilitate enormous spread of personal view outside of close one particular people circle through social network, blogs, review sites, etc. (Ghosh et al., 2020). The web 2.0 give twoway many-to-many communication systems which empowers communication (Chu and Kim, 2011). Nowadays business aim to benefit from technology enhanced users communication by creating a referral marketing programs. Overall, referral marketing aim is to foster recommendation of service or product by providing benefits such us money, additional discount, promo codes, etc. (Abubakar et al., 2017; Jung et al., 2020). Wilson (2000) states that encouraging recommendation or Word-of-Mouth (WOM) is a cornerstone in marketing strategy aimed to use their current customers network in order to expand customers database by encouraging to share companies marketing messages. In business world, referral marketing programs is a tool to attract new and retain existing customers (Kumar et al., 2010). Different studies reveal the benefits of referral marketing programs include higher retention rate and overall value of customers acquired through referral marketing programs than other channels (Kumar et al., 2010; Wirtz et al., 2013). However, Jung et al. (2020) argue that design of referral marketing program is a challenging task because of demand to trigger not only extrinsic motivation (financial incentives) but also intrinsic motivation (desire to refer).

The study by Cao et al. (2021) investigated the combination of online referral programs with price promotion. This study revealed that discounts in paid referral program shape perception of product as being inferior quality (Cao et. al, 2021). The connection between level of self-efficiency, reward, and subsequent e-referral as well as reward type was investigated by Zhang et al. (2019). The study revealed that people reporting high creative-efficacy tend to be more responsive to gift reward while those with low creative-efficacy to cash reward and amount of the reward (Zhang et. al, 2019). A lot of studies are focused on willingness to participate driven by monetary incentives (Dose et al., 2019, Livin et al., 2013; Wirtz et al., 2019;). However, researchers agree that monetary incentives effectiveness cannot be guaranteed as it depends on many factors like the size of the reward, company's brand strength, relationship with customer, product innovativeness, etc. (Dose et al., 2019; Livin et al., 2013; Zhang et. al, 2019). Moreover, introduction of monetary incentives in marketing referral programs increases distrust in a referred product (Wirtz et al., 2013, Liyin et al., 2014). Furthermore, a study conducted by Wirtz et al. (2019) has shown that weak brands suffer more from monetary incentive introduction in their referral programs than strong brands. Weak brands

which introduced monetary rewards in their referral marketing programs experienced decrease of engagement because of the lack of trust of recommendation (Wirtz et al., 2019).

In the marketing field, gamification is used for various purposes: improve customer experience, grow brand awareness and loyalty, educate customers about products or services and, most importantly, increase conversion and profits (Mulcahy and McAndrew et al., 2021). The essence of games elements application in non-game context is to foster a particular behavior inside the gamified situation (Zichermann et al., 2011). In previous studies, the effect of gamification on fulfillment of basic psychological needs for social relatedness, autonomy, competence was revealed (Sailer, 2007; Xi and Hamari, 2019). Various research on work gamification revealed the positive effect on work enjoyment, productivity, minimize possibility of burnout (Gerdenitsch et. al, 2020; Ponis et. al, 2020). Hsu and Chen (2018) theoretically and empirically showed that gamified marketing activities influenced desirable customer behaviors. Gamification elements application has been analyzed in exercise gamification service (Koivisto and Hamari, 2014), trading service (Hamari, 2013) integrated marketing communication (Terlutter and Capella, 2013). In addition, gamification elements (points, leaderboards, levels) affects intrinsic motivation (Mekler et. al, 2017), performance (Landers et al., 2017) and impacts high and low brand loyalty (Mattke and Maier, 2021).

Different studies provide insights that the gamification application in marketing activities work as motivational tool which are used for promotion of engagement, participation intention, customer loyalty and positive response towards loyalty programs (Harwood and Garry, 2015; Hollebeek et al., 2021; Hwang and Choi, 2020; Zuo et al., 2017;). Beyond the research on gamification elements application towards loyalty programs with the aim to foster customer loyalty and intrinsic motivation to participate and engage, the research of gamification impact on intention to refer product or service is insufficient. In addition to this, there is no studies examining on how different personality traits might impact the evaluation of gamified system and intention to recommend as a result. Thus, the master thesis address new perspective by combining personality traits and gamified system evaluation as a factors which might impact intention to recommend. The intention to recommend is investigated through TAM and UTAUT theories constructs - perceived usefulness, enjoyment and risk which is impacted by personality traits such as materialism, playfulness, belongingness and risk aversion.

The problem of the master thesis how materialism, playfulness, belongingness, risk aversion impact perceived usefulness, playfulness, risk of gamified system and intention to recommend?

The main aim of the master thesis is to investigate how materialism, playfulness, belongingness, risk aversion impact the perceived usefulness, enjoyment and risk of a gamified system and, as a result, intention to recommend.

The objectives of master thesis:

- 1. To analyze the individual traits that affects intention to recommend from theoretical perspective.
- 2. To apply TAM and UTAUT models to analyze effect of perceived usefulness, enjoyment and risk on intention recommend from theoretical perspective.
- 3. To develop the methodology for empirical research in order to investigate the impact of factors on intention to recommend.
- 4. To collect and analyze data on different factors impact on intention to recommend.
- 5. Based on the findings of the empirical research, provide insights and recommendations.

The methods used in this master thesis is literature analysis and reliability and linear regression for statistical analysis of quantitative data.

The Master thesis consist of two theoretical chapters. The first chapter is dedicated to analysis of gamification and its elements. In addition to this, the TAM, UTAUT and other theories are analyzed with the aim to emphasize the perception of the system, defined as perceived usefulness, enjoyment and risk of gamified system, impact on intention to recommend. The second chapter is dedicated to analysis of individual traits and their effect on perception of the system and intention to recommend. In the third chapter, methodology of empirical research is presented. The fourth chapter is dedicated to empirical research results analysis and hypothesis testing. In the final part, summary of key points and recommendations for companies developing referral marketing programs are presented.

1. ENGAGEMENT IN REFERRAL MARKETING PROGRAMS

1.1 Gamification and gamification elements

The core idea of gamification is to use game elements for the purpose of engagement in activities while providing more entertainment in the process of doing certain activity that in other way might not be very pleasant for person. McGonigal (2011) summarizes this by stating that the reason for gamification usage in non-game contexts is that not all activities are naturally interesting and introduction of game features into these activities might make them more attractive. According to Kapp (2012), "game-based mechanics, aesthetics, and game thinking to engage people, motivate action, promote learning, and solve problems". While Sailer et al. (2013) emphasizes gamification as an innovative way to trigger motivation to engage in activities. The motivation trigger is a game element which is applied in non-game context addressing different motivational mechanisms Sailer et al., 2013). Gamification elements are the main components of gamification concepts, and they are important for defining the more completed gamification concept.

To consider activity to be gamified, it must share some key features that form the basis of any game. McGonigal (2011) presents four core characteristics without them it would be impossible to create a game. The four characteristics are (McGonigal, 2011):

- A goal is thing players are trying to attain in the game and which gives game or gamified activity sense of purpose.
- **Rules** purpose is to limit the ways of how goals can be achieved by creating limitations which makes harder to accomplish wanted outcome. However, rules are necessary to stimulate strategic thinking and engagement into activity.
- Feedback system is one of the most important and widely described characteristics. The feedback system informs players' progress towards achieving the goal. Real-time feedback ensures players that a goal is achievable and fosters players motivation to continue activity. Most frequently used feedback systems are points, levels, scores, leaderboards, etc.
- Voluntary participation acceptance of pre-set goals, rules and feedback creates the common ground for multiple players to play together and experience pleasurable activity.

Thus, games and gamified activities share the main core idea – being a well-planned set of goals and rules that creates a system which is exposed to the player by using feedback system. The core 4 features defining game are present in any gamified activity. Gamification is broadly analyzed in management literature and in addition to the core game elements, literature analysis revealed that gamification has a wide range of elements defined by different authors. However, there is lack of

clear terminology and taxonomy of game elements because authors use different terminology to describe same game elements. This notion is supported by Schobel et. al. (2020) who identified that main challenges of elements taxonomy are incomplete list of elements, different or very generic classification of elements, missing presentation of features, missing validation of other authors developed taxonomy. One of the ways to classify gamification elements is to invoke Hunicke, LeBlanc, Zubeck (2004) MDA (Mechanics, Dynamics, and Aesthetics) framework. According to this model, gamification elements differ from one to another based on their abstraction level. Table 1. depicts main components and their definitions.

Level of abstraction	Component	Definition
		Most concreate element which defines a specific component
Concreate Mechanic		that can be used in the game (Hunicke, LeBlanc, Zubeck,
	L	2004).
	Dynamics	Dynamics defines the interaction between the mechanics
	Dynamics	acting and player over time. (Lavoué et al., 2018).
		Most abstract element which defined expected emotional
Abstract	Aesthetics	response of the player when interacting in gamified activity
		(Hunicke, LeBlanc, Zubeck, 2004).

Table 1. MDA framework (Hunicke, LeBlanc, Zubeck, 2004).

In this paper, MDA framework is used to classify the different game elements found in scientific literature. The following game elements was identified by different authors and are presented in this paper with the aim to describe the variety of elements that can be used by practitioners developing or planning to develop the gamified activity to support users' engagement in referral marketing programs. Moreover, all elements are classified according to MDA framework from most concrete to most abstract. The elements can be defined as game **mechanics:**

- **Badge:** visual element that informs user and other about users' achievements while doing activities requested (Akasak et. al., 2016; Schobel et al., 2020).
 - **Bonus:** is a reward for accomplishing goals. Sometimes, it can be given as an additional reward for sequence of successfully accomplished goals. A badge can be given for the successful completion of 10 activities (Schobel et al., 2020).
 - **Choice:** non-linear gameplay where user have autonomy to choose among many possibilities (Harteveld, Sutherland, 2017).

• **Collection systems** measure players progress by enabling players to collect scores or items, trade them as well as managed collected resources (points, items, etc.) which has impact on overall player score, and they manage items scores or items which every time are added to overall score / item list (Akasaki et. al, 2016; Schobel et al., 2020).

• **Customization / Personalization:** the ability to personalize system's interface, decorating virtual space or creating of user avatar which is modified by the players (Tondello, Mora, Nacke, 2017; Schobel et al., 2020).

• **Easter egg:** unexpected game response of the specific action taken by the player. Unexpected response can occur as unpredicted gift, event, lesson, etc.. (Tondello, Mora, Nacke, 2017; Klock et. al., 2020).

• **Feedback:** provides users with relevant information considering their performance, reasons for failure or successful accomplishment of the activity. Feedback helps users to monitor their actions and give understanding about game state (Schobel et al., 2020).

• **Gifting:** Allow user not only to get gifts but also share resources with other which triggers altruism and satisfaction of player (Tondello, Mora, Nacke, 2017; Klock et. al., 2020).

• Leaderboard: is one of the most mentioned game elements in literature. In leaderboard, players are ranked according to well-defined and known for all players criteria such us points, levels, etc. Leaderboard is commonly used for performance comparison (Borges et. al, 2016; Tondello, Mora, Nacke, 2017; Schobel et al., 2020).

• Level: visualization of players gradual growth towards specific goals which helps to track players performance over time and experiences through distinct levels (Borges et al., 2016; Monterrat, Lavoué, George, 2017; Schobel et al., 2020).

• Lottery: sometimes unexpected element in game that requests player engagement in presented activity (e.g., quiz) and promise prizes in case of win. Sometimes, it can be random and unexpected element (Tondello, Mora, Nacke, 2017; Klock et. al., 2020).

• Narrative creates story by connecting different game elements (Klock et. al., 2020). One-Time Narratives: Narratives that tell the same story in chronological sequence for all players in the system (Schobel et al., 2020). Processing Narratives: Storytelling is more adaptive to players acted and activities and storyline can be different for different players (Schobel et al., 2020).

• **Point:** A point is a numerical unit which helps to indicate the player's progress. Points can be used to rank players in leaderboard or attain some level (Borges et al., 2016; Schobel et al., 2020)

• **Progress Bar:** Progress bar demonstrates players progress without exposing players performance to other players. This makes comparison of different players impossible, thus, players are not challenged (Schobel et al., 2020).

• **Reminder:** Presents player with history of their past actions and helps to visualize action taken (Schobel et al., 2020).

• **Prize:** is a reward player wins as an outcome of successful completion of task / action (Schobel et al., 2020).

• **Time manipulation** – determined time during which task / action should be completed by the player (Schobel et al., 2020). Time in a game can be manipulated with timers, deadlines, countdowns (Klock et. al., 2020).

• Unlockable: unique content or features available only for a specific player which done the actions requested (Lavoué et al., 2018).

• **Virtual goods** – assets with a perception in the game that can be purchased or traded which creates virtual economy (Schobel et al., 2020).

The set of mechanics used for creation of a gamified activity vary depending on the response gamified activity creator wants to induce. In other response – dynamics which are more abstract than mechanics and defines the user response to a set of mechanics. The **game dynamics** common in gamified activities are stated below.

• **Rewarding:** a reward system relates to tasks and activities which successful completion unlocks rewards. Rewards can be different such us prizes, bonus, additional points, levels, etc. (Klock et. al., 2020; Schobel et al., 2020). In some cases, rewards schedules can be used to maintain user engagement throughout the time, especially, if users are expected to have a high engagement in long sessions of activity (Fernandes, Junior, 2016; Klock et. al., 2020).

• **Cooperation:** communication among users which might be allowed or not allowed depending on the design. If communication is allowed, users form **a social network** (Tondello, 2016; Schobel et al., 2020). Moreover, cooperation is related with other gamification elements such as **social status** and **social pressure**. While social status exposure gives opportunity to show off achievements (ranks, levels, etc.), social pressure

makes impact on people behavior through public comments, voting or creating fear of being excluded from the team or underestimated by another player (Harteveld, Sutherland, 2017; Klock et. al., 2020).

- **Competition:** Mechanics like leaderboard, rank, badges evoke a competitive spirit among different players who aim to achieve the same goal (Schobel et al., 2020).
- **Development:** Mechanics like progress bar or points provide user information about their over-time or one-time behavior (Schobel et al., 2020).
- **Users' involvement:** Mechanics (customization of user interface, user avatar) requires partial or full users' involvement. In addition to this, it can be prescribed activities by gamified activity designer such us number of points for a specific action, but user has possibility to choose what action to take and points to earn. (Schobel et al., 2020).

Dynamics can be categorized into 2 groups. Simple dynamic is created by gamified activity creator while complex dynamic is a merge of mechanics and other dynamics (Junior, Silva, 2021). Dynamics creates the emotional response of engaged user, and this response is defined as aesthetics. Different aesthetics define different emotional goals that the user aims to achieve. The 8 aspects of aesthetics aim are to define players feelings using more specific description of emotions rather than overly broad "fun" (Kusuma et al., 2018). **Main aesthetics:**

- **Expression** goal is to provide self-discovery while giving the possibility for player to leave their mark by collecting points and achieving new levels, reaching personal and game records which exposed to all users in leaderboard. Moreover, personalization such us character customization and user interface, of avatar (Hunicke, LeBlanc, Zubeck, 2004; Kim, 2015).
- Sensation goal is to create pleasure by providing a sense of strong characteristics of engaging senses game visual designs, sound effects, etc (Hunicke, LeBlanc, Zubeck, 2004; Junior, Silva, 2021).
- **Fantasy** players' fantasy is invoked by exposure of a fictional world, alternative reality which player are experiencing while playing (Junior, Silva, 2021).
- **Narrative** the "fun" is induced by captivating storyline that resonates with players interests, experience and play a significant role in increasing players engagement and interest in a game and its elements (Kusuma et. al, 2018; Junior, Silva, 2021).
- **Challenge** the pre-set situation which requires player's effort to figure out solutions to overcome challenges to complete mission, achieve goal or be rewarded (Barata, 2016;

Klock et. al., 2020, Schobel et al., 2020). The gamified activity induces competitiveness and fun emerges from overcoming challenges (Kusuma et. al, 2018).

• **Fellowship** – fun arises building a social relationship and social circle with friends, family, or other gamers (Hunicke, LeBlanc, Zubeck, 2004; Kusuma et. al, 2018).

• **Discover** – fun arises from testing out new strategies, discovering the new game elements, challenges, tasks (Kusuma et. al, 2018).

• Submission – connection and devotion to the game (Kusuma et. al, 2018).

Thus, the gamification has a variety of mechanics and dynamics which creates the aesthetics of the game. According to Koivisto and Hamari (2019), the most commonly analyzed elements in gamification studies is points, scores, challenges, badges, leaderboards, etc.. However, gamification elements have to be applied following the 4 main game characteristics presented by McGonigal (2011) in order to create a gamified system. The gamified system is a set of gamified elements and rules of a game that triggers user's interest. The main motivation to apply gamification elements derives from a belief that gamified system can be used as a trigger for users intrinsic motivation even for those activities that user might not have an initial intrinsic motivation.

1.2 Gamification impact on motivation

To understand the intention to recommend, it is needed to get insight into motives behind individual behavior. The important thing for implementing gamification into referral marketing programs is to understand how to encourage clients to become referrers of companies' products and services (Jung et al., 2020). The willingness to participate in referral marketing programs can be encouraged by external motives (financial incentives) and intrinsic motives (desire to refer) (Jung et al., 2020). Intrinsic motivation is triggered by expected pleasure as an outcome from the activity engaged (Carbonneau et al. 2012). While extrinsic motivation is driven by value or benefits separated from the task like rewards, punishments, ego, approval from others, etc. (Deci and Ryan, 1985). Overall, both motives derive from natural psychological human needs. To encourage intention to refer, referral marketing programs should aim to stimulate one or both types of motives. Thus, referral marketing design should implement triggers – extrinsic or intrinsic ones.

Gamified activities aim to nurture intrinsic motivation by increasing enjoyment and pleasure out of the task. The core of gamification is that it seeks for voluntary and intrinsic motivation triggered users' engagement which, as a result, converts to achievement of companies predefined objectives and value for a company or brand (Houtari and Hamari, 2012). However, researchers do not reach consensus on gamification impact on intrinsic motivation. Some studies (Hanus and Fox, 2015) revealed a negative gamification impact on intrinsic motivation. Hanus and Fox (2015) study revealed that students of gamified course reported lower scores and motivation compared to those in non-gamified course. While studies by Mitchell et al. (2017) and Mekler et al. (2017) showed no impact on intrinsic motivation after the introduction of game elements (Mitchell et al., 2017; Mekler et al., 2017). The game elements like leaderboards and levels boost performance of simple tasks but did not affect intrinsic motivation (Mekler et al., 2017). Additionally, the perceived enjoyment and interest did not change with introduction of game elements (Mekler et al., 2017). In contrast to these findings, many studies revealed positive relation between gamification and intrinsic motivation (Ibanez et al., 2014; Su, Cheng, 2015; Xu et. Al, 2021). The positive relation between games' element introduction and motivation was found in gamified learning process. Introduction of game elements in the learning process leads to better learning performance and higher motivation compared to those exposed with non-gamified learning system (Ibanez et al., 2014; Su, Cheng, 2015). The contradicting results imply that positive impact of gamification on intrinsic motivation is case specific. In case of positive gamification impact, boost of the enjoyment of the task, performance and motivation can be expected.

The gamification impact measurement build on well-established theories such us the Technology Acceptance model (TAM) (Davis, 1989) and Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT). TAM (Davis, 1989) is one of the most widely used models to explain technology acceptance and usage. This model includes 2 constructs which impact intention to use – perceived ease-of-use and perceived usefulness (Davis, 1989). According to this theory, individuals evaluate efforts and time needed to receive benefits provided from innovative technology acceptance in their routine (Davis, 1989; Venkatesh et al., 2003). The use of application or new technology is based on individuals' belief that it helps them to do their job better (perceived usefulness) and it is not complicated to implement new technology (ease-of-use) (Davis, 1989; Venkatesh et al., 2003). In this theory, the perceived usefulness is job effectiveness, productivity and importance for job execution (Davis, 1989). The extension of TAM model is UTAUT which suggests 4 constructs - performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence and facilitating conditions (Venkatesh, 2003; Shachak et. al, 2019). Both of the theories are commonly used to predict the individuals' perception and acceptance of information systems or new technology (Venkatesh et al., 2003; Shachak et al., 2019). Thus, the TAM and UTAUT model is foundation for gamification impact on intention to recommend measurement in this thesis.

To understand better the system acceptance, in previous studies researchers extended the original TAM and UTAUT by additional constructs. The need for more accurate evaluation of the

behavioral intention factors, the original model was extended by self-worth, risk, trust, security by Khalilzadeh et al. (2017). Additionally, Chao (2019) added 2 more variables perceived enjoyment and satisfaction to predict of m-learning system. Furthermore, Sarosa (2009) add perceived enjoyment and brand reputation in their survey on new students' acceptance of iPad. Slade et al. (2015) extended the TAM by perceived risk and innovativeness to predict mobile payments adoption. Furthermore, the new construct of Disturbance concerns was introduced to analyze the factors that impact technology acceptance by Lai et al. (2009). The overview of different studies revealed that UTAUT and TAM model constructs are not enough to fully evaluate people's behavioral intentions. Based on presented studies, the final adaptation was done of TAM and UTAUT models for this thesis. Thus, to predict intention to recommend, the perceived usefulness, perceived enjoyment and perceived risk were chosen as dependable variables. These variables are presented in following subsections.

1.3 Perceived enjoyment

Perceived enjoyment is an intrinsic motivational factor which derives from internal satisfaction and interest to perform action (Carbonneau et al. 2012). In contrast to carrying out action out of perceived usefulness, the enjoyment rises from the activity itself as being perceived interesting and enjoyable to carry out by individuals (Davis et al., 1992). The task carrying out for no external benefits, only for internal satisfaction is defined as flow experience (Carl, 1994). The perceived enjoyment is related with the state of flow (Lee, Chen, 2010). The flow is defined by four dimensions – concentration, enjoyment, time distortion and telepresence (Lee, Chen, 2010). It is an optimal experience which provides a huge internal satisfaction which people are willing to repeat. (Csikszentmihalyi, 1987). The cornerstone of flow theory is that to achieve flow state one important condition must be present - a perfect balance between skills and challenge in a given situation (Csikszentmihalyi, 1987). Thus, seeking optimal experience, flow, encourages people to get involved in activities out of satisfaction rather than external benefits. However, daily life cannot provide welldesigned situations to meet criteria of task complexity and skills balance required to trigger flow experience. In contrary, games and games element introduction to non-game context can.

Gamification in non-game contexts helps to achieve flow state. This notion is supported by García-Jurado et al. (2018) study on flow impact on different generations online behavior. Flow state contributes towards perceived enjoyment of e-commerce platform as well as increase concentration and temporal time distortions (García-Jurado et al., 2018). This is linked to intention to use e-commerce platform (García-Jurado et al., 2018). The study by Bauer et al. (2020) showed that overall enjoyment of shopping experience increased among people playing a shopping-related game without

any monetary incentives. Additionally, it demonstrates that gamification of shopping experience improves customers satisfaction and positive WOM intention to the same level as 20% discount (Bauer et al., 2020). However, the flow experience, perceived enjoyment, and intention to buy when exposed to gamified products is different among distinct age groups. The increase in age corelates with perceived less flow experience and enjoyments which lead to lower intention to purchase (Bittner, Shipper, 2014). The state of flow is achieved individually and is triggered by the game element's introduction. For younger people gamification corelates with an increase of enjoyment which is important to attain flow state. Thus, involvement in well-designed, user skills well-suiting gamified system should trigger flow state which improves user satisfaction and increases enjoyment.

The perceived enjoyment has a positive impact on intention to engage in activities. Numerous studies revealed that perceived enjoyment as one of the factors to engage in activities (Ramayah, Ignatius, 2005; Suki et al., 2011; Venkatesh et al., 2003). Ramayah and Ignatius (2005) discovered that perceived enjoyment together with perceived ease-of-use positively impact online shopping intention. In addition to this, Venkatesh et al. (2003) reported the interconnection between ease of use and perceived playfulness. Moreover, significant impact of enjoyment on intention to use 3G mobile services was reported among people who believed that 3g mobile services usage will be interesting (Suki et al., 2011). Furthermore, perceived enjoyment affects the individual attitude towards continued usage of the system more significantly compared to perceived ease-of-use and perceived usefulness (Praveena, Thomas, 2014). This study results are supported by Anton et al. (2013) study on e-books adoption. Attitude toward adoption was influenced by perceived enjoyment and usefulness (Anton et al., 2013). The favorable attitude towards e-books correlates with greater intention to adopt (Anton et al., 2013). Zhou and Feng (2017) found different impacts on intention to use between leisure and work contexts. The study (Zhou and Feng, 2017) on mobile video calling revealed that in leisure context intention to use video calls was more impacted by perceived enjoyment. Contrary, in work contexts the same intention was more affected by perceived usefulness (Zhou and Feng, 2017). Thus, perceived enjoyment is one of intrinsic motivational factors which has a significant impact on individuals' attitude and behavioral intentions. This impact is higher in contexts where people expect more enjoyment such as leisure related activities.

Thus, perceived enjoyment is an intrinsic motivation factor that plays a key role in people's engagement in actions. Playful and enjoyable activities creates a flow state and individuals seek for enjoyment motivates people to engage in activities even when incentives are not provided. In addition

to this, the perceived enjoyment increases together with the introduction of gamification in services or products.

1.3 Perceived usefulness

Perceived usefulness focuses on external benefits and can be defined as extrinsic motivation (Davis, 1992; van der Heijden, 2004). Extrinsic motivation is controlled motivation which stimulates particular action to avoid punishment or gain a reward (Deci, Ryan, 1985). In contrast, autonomous motivation means that actions are stimulated by internal interest, satisfaction, enjoyment (Deci, Ryan, 1985). According to Organismic integration theory (OIT), the extrinsic motivation is ordered according to the level of autonomy (Deci, Ryan, 1985; Gilal et al., 2021).

Table 1

Level of autonomy according to Organismic integration theory (OIT)

External regulation	Introjected regulation	Identification	Integration
Least autonomous			Most autonomous

Source: Deci, Ryan, 1985.

According to the theory, external regulation is the least autonomous and refers to actions avert punishment or seek award (Deci, Ryan, 1985). While introjection is still influenced by factors like punishment, fear, or guilt, it also includes ego (Nicholls, 1984; Zhao et al., 2014). This means that actions are carried out not only out of purely external pressure, but also some internal pressure which originates from ego induced internal need to gain recognition from others and maintain pride (Nicholls, 1984; Zhao et al., 2014). Identification and integration forms of extrinsic motivation are considered as more autonomous motivation (Ryan, Deci, 2000). Identification form of extrinsic motivation means individuals are actively engaged and in control of their behavior because of being conscious of its importance for themselves (Ryan, Deci, 2000). Integration is the most autonomous form of motivation and derives from internalization of goals and activity perception as valuable for self (Ryan, Deci, 2000). Thus, increase of perceived behavior value for self, increase motivation autonomy. Although, motivation for behavior arises from understanding the value of it – avoidance of the unpleasant outcomes – punishments, low self-esteem, guilt or achieve reward.

Different studies show the correlation between perceived usefulness and behavioral intention. Ha & Stoel (2009) identified that perceived usefulness together with trust and perceived enjoyment had a significant influence on intention to use e-shopping. The other studies (Yang et al., 2017) revealed that perceived usefulness positively impacts intention to engage in gamification and customers' brand attitude. In addition to this, the perceived usefulness positively affects people satisfaction and continuous intention to use systems (Rohan et al., 2021). As perceived usefulness is an extrinsic motivation that derives from external values, the rewards are widespread practice to ensure for the usefulness for referrals (Davis, 1992; van der Heijden, 2004). Study by Chiu et al. (2018) reported that customers loyalty (intention to revisit or buy more) corresponds to the size of referral reward. The higher reward had a significant impact on customers' loyalty (Chiu et al., 2018). Increase motivation to carry out pre-defined action was reported by Ryu & Feick (2007) when introduction of reward for referral and referee has resulted in greater intention to refer (Ryu, Feick, 2007). Analysis of different studies revealed that the perceived usefulness is a predictor of extrinsically motivated behavioral intention.

Thus, people engagement in referral marketing programs and intention to act depends on perceived usefulness. Perceived usefulness is an extrinsic motivation. To trigger extrinsic motivation, many referral marketing programs use monetary incentives such us incentives – discounts, gifts, promo codes for referrals and referee. However, if people are only extrinsically motivated, the benefits removal or decrease in amount may lead to decrease in engagement. Perceived usefulness might not be only triggered by gain / awards. Game elements introduction in referral marketing programs can positively affect perceived usefulness by creating the perception of referral program as easy-to use and not time consuming. Overall, the perceived usefulness is benefits that could be not only monetary but also time saving or simplification of process.

1.4 Perceived risk

Risk can be defined as potential of negative opinion of individual from friends, acquaintance or any society member towards individuals actions (Maziriri, Chuchu 2017). Social risk increases with publicly consumed goods such us clothing (Lantos, 2015) and visible outcomes of people decisions (wearing unconventional clothes, joining communities, etc.) or views (political, etc.). Perceived risk is a subjective expectation of unpleasant outcomes that might be expected if ones actions are against friends, acquaintance or any society member expectations, for example, rejection, judgement, blaming, etc. (Maziriri, Chuchu 2017). People attitudes and intentions are monitored, evaluated and, in most cases, adjusted to meet pressure from outside by their subjective norms (Kim et al., 2009). The subjective norms are claimed to be a one of intention effecting factors in the theory of planned behavior (TPB) (Ajzen, 2011). The theory aims to explain behavior intentions which are affected by people's beliefs, subjective norms and perceived behavioral control impacts people's intentions and behavior (Ajzen, 2011). In addition to this, social norms, values, and beliefs introduced by close people are easily adopted and internalized (Vansteenkiste et al., 2010). Thus, perceived risk is affected by internal emotions, values, assumptions as well as external pressures like set of group values, behaviors, expectations.

Perception of risk is related to subjective norms which affect the evaluation of benefits of behavior people intend to engage in. Numerous studies of technology adoption have confirmed this notion. The study by Yi at al. (2015) found that perceived usefulness was affected by subjective norms via image. The result is supported by Rejón-Guardia et al. (2020) study which found indirect effect of subjective norms on intention to use Google apps and direct effect on usefulness through social image. In addition to this, the subjective norms positive impact on usefulness of the learning management system (Binyamin, 2018). The interconnection between social norms and perceived usefulness can be explained by stating that perceived usefulness by other group members and the assumption that other people expect individual to use system results into internalization of perceived usefulness (Schepers & Wetzels, 2007). Thus, the studies revealed that the individual sees the greater value out of those behaviors that please other members of the group and enhances personal image. In addition to this, individuals judgement on his behavior is impacted by individual's awareness of possible groups' judgement on behavior he conducted.

Furthermore, fear of rejection could be considered as a social risk which impacts people's attitude and behavioral intentions. The risk of social exclusion encourages people to modify their behavior with the aim of recovering community acceptance (Kawamoto et al., 2015). One of an important determinant of the extent to which people tend to experience stronger fear of social rejection and as a result do not engage in activities that might be against peer expectations is age (Blakemore, 2018). Adolescents (age 12 - 18 y) are more likely to experience fear of social rejection rather than adults (Blakemore, 2018). In addition to, lower self-esteem increases the negative effect of peer rejection on individuals' well-being (Blakemore, 2018). The fear of rejection contributed toward greater behavioral intention of reviewing dating profiles in the study conducted by Alba (2021). In addition to this, risk of social exclusion impacts the adults' decisions as well. The study of Ultimate game conducted by Ding et al. (2014) revealed that participants tend to sacrifice their self-interests satisfying offer and demonstrate fairness by proposing fair offers to other study participants not out of fairness, but out of fear of rejections. Moreover, the risk of being excluded, ignored, and avoided by others impacts people's intentions to share opinions (Neubaum and Krämer, 2018). The risk of being judged was found to be a predictor of avoidance of expressing minority opinion in online channels where this opinion is exposed to vast of people (Neubaum & Krämer, 2018). The fear of rejection originates from the natural human need to belong, and it shapes people's attitudes and behavioral intentions. Fear motivates people to look for avoidance strategies such as not engage in activities that might cause disapproval of others or disengagement from current activities with the intention to disclose support for group values or behaviors and regain social acceptance. Thus, social risk – fear of rejection might discourage people to participate in referral marketing programs and recommend products or services.

Perceived risk is a subjective assumption of other people judgement on taken action by individual. Calculation of this kind of a risk is subjective and based on internal emotions, individuals' traits and assumptions built on previous experiences and society values, rules, expectations. Additionally, social risk derives from society pressure to meet set of group values, behavior, expectations. These are the main reasons of dependence of higher perceived risk on a visibility of an taken action outcome or goods as well as services used by individual. Thus, individuals participation in referral marketing program and a recommendation of a product to other groups members are visible action and perceived risk is an important factor which individuals are considering before taking actions.

The gamification are widely used to impact the overall individuals perception on system. The main aim to include gamification elements into any system is to increase intrinsically motivated behavioral intention. In terms of referral marketing programs, the expected outcome of gamification implementation is an increase in intention to recommend products or services. Analysis of previous studies revealed that gamification is linked to higher perceived usefulness and enjoyment of the system. On the other hand, recommendation of product and service is a visible to others action and its intention might be impacted by perceived risk at given time. Thus, individual tends to monitor and adjust their behavior in favor of being approved by others and avoids negative emotions such us rejection and self-image harm. The intention to recommend using gamified system is evaluated by dependent variable, adapted from TAM and UTAUT, perceived enjoyment, perceived usefulness and risk is very subjective and dependable on personality traits.

2. INDIVIDUAL TRAITS

2.1 Materialism

Materialism – the level of importance of acquisition and possession of material objects in individuals' life (Burroughs et al., 2002; Ward et al. 1971). Different purposes of use of the material objects defines the line between instrumental and terminal materialism. Instrumental materialism is considered when material objects can be used to attain meaningful objectives like safety, higher life expectancy, etc. (Csikszentmihalyi and Rochberg-Halton, 1981). Opposite to instrumental materialism, terminal materialism is focused on acquired object usage for exposing higher status and power (Csikszentmihalyi and Rochberg-Halton, 1981). Taking into consideration Maslow's hierarchy of needs, materialism is the tendency to concentrate on lower such us safety or material comfort order needs over higher order needs such as self-actualization, personal growth (Inglehart, 1990). Larsen et. al (1999) sees materialism as socio-cultural phenomenon when people in society value material things highly and materialistic values can be transferred from one society member to another (Larsen et al., 1999). Thus, in literature, materialism is defined as personal value, personal trait or socio-cultural value. However, the bigger focus is put on materialism as a personal value and trait.

Materialism as a personality trait is linked to increased importance of possession on individuals' happiness and self-image. According to Belk (1983), materialistic personalities tend to desire to acquire other people's possessions (envy), are unwilling to share or donate and detain control over objects. In addition to this, a materialistic individual's goal is a prominent level of consumption and high level of consumption is an important way to attain happiness and a well-being in life (Richins and Dawson, 1992). The distinguishing feature of materialism is that acquisition provides more happiness than other means (interpersonal relationship, career achievements, etc.) (Richins and Dawson, 1992). Moreover, possession-defined success refers to evaluation of success and well-being by the amount and quality of material objects acquired (Richins and Dawson, 1992). This notion is supported by Burroughs and Rindfleisch (2002) who stated that highly materialistic individuals' wellbeing tends to be linked with possession of materials objects (Burroughs and Rindfleisch, 2002). They seek for social status, power in society, and control over the material world by consumption (Burroughs and Rindfleisch, 2002). So, materialism is positively related with impulse buying, status and conspicuous consumption which could imply that possession of material subjects is a sign of high status (Donatelly et al. 2016; Türk and Ercis, 2017). Thus, materialism is based on consumption and things attained through consumption. The consumption and ownership of material objects is a way to pursue happiness, satisfaction, and well-being in life while other, more hedonistic ways of happiness become in second plan. Most of the authors view and describe materialism as being a negative trait of people. Thus, materialistic people seek happiness from external goals such as money, status, appearance or amount of possession of material subjects.

Materialism is seen as a problematic and negative correlation between materialism and human well-being. According to aspirational index developed by Kasser and Ryan (1996), materialism can be defined as a function of intrinsic and extrinsic goals. Intrinsic goals (self-acceptance, affiliation, physical health, etc.) are the goals innately delighting to pursue due to the fact of fulfillment of psychological needs (Kasser and Ryan, 1996; Schmuck et al., 2000). While extrinsic goals are pursued out of expected rewards such us financial benefits, social approval, and recognition (Kasser, Schmuck, Ryan, 2001). Highly materialistic individuals tend to undermine their psychological needs and get involved in activities that could work against their well-being but serve for their extrinsic goals (Kasser and Ryan, 1996; Schmuck et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2017). This notion is supported by several studies. Nagpaul et al. (2017) loss of autonomy which is primary psychological harms psychological well-being because materialistic people might experience lack of commitment and sense of interest then praises and rewards are not present (Nagpaul et al., 2017). Study done in China revealed that materialism indirectly effects individuals' well-being as highly materialistic individuals undermine their psychological needs fulfillment which led to decrease of subjective well-being and increases risk of depression (Wang et al., 2017). Other research has found that progress at and attainment of set of goals for money, image, and popularity do not improve well-being but contributes to ill-being (Niemiec, Ryan, Deci, 2009). Furthermore, Ditmar et. al. (2014) found out the correlation between cultural setting and materialism. People who live in more hedonistically oriented cultures associate material subject possession and acquisition with lower well-being (Ditmar et. al., 2014). In contrast, economically developed nations experience stronger internalization of materialism due to society pressure, high promotion on consumerism via media, advertising (Ditmar et. al., 2014). Negative correlation between well-being and economically developed nations was found as well. However, reasons of this were non-cultural (Ditmar et. al., 2014). Kasser (2003) contributes towards expansion of reason by distinguishing several more specific reasons explaining the negative relationship between materialism and well-being. Thus, the link between materialism and well-being is found to be negative.

The materialism can be a part of the culture where members of materialistic culture value more material objects rather than hedonistic. In materialistic culture, conspicuous consumption is common as people feel the need to prove themselves for others same culture members by obtaining more and more material objects. Active marketing contributes toward this view. In addition to this, the material subject possession and acquisition is seen as enhancement of personal well-being even the different studies proved the contrary. Materialism is a personal value which effect the perception of the surrounding world and perception of value. Materialistic people tend to engage in activities for the seek of gain or reward. Absence of reward might lead to disengagement and lower perceived usefulness of behavioral intention even it address people psychological needs. Thus, the materialistic people is more extrinsically motivated and their level of engagement in referral marketing programs might strongly correlated with perceived usefulness / benefits offered.

2.2 Playfulness

The playfulness can be considered as opposite to materialism in terms of being more focused on internal satisfaction that particular behavior can bring rather than rewards offered. Playfulness includes pleasure, psychological stimulation, and people interest (Csikszentmihalyi, 1990). Genuinely pleasurable activity provokes state of flow (Csikszentmihalyi, 1990). Researcher describes it as peak of pleasurable activity with a deep focused on the activity, effortless control, sense of time and emotional problems disappearance, exhilarating feeling of transcendence (Csikszentmihalyi, 1990). This state can be triggered by providing tasks which match people's abilities – not too easy and not too hard (Csikszentmihalyi, 1990). Venkatesh (2000) also indicates that enjoyment, goal orientation and self-efficacy have impact on people behavior. It is important because the cornerstone of boosting individuals intention to act is understanding their intrinsic motivation (Seung, 2012). Thus, it is important to consider both tasks that individual is asked to execute and traits of the individual who engages in the task.

Playfulness can also be defined as personality disposition. Playfulness at different age has been widely studied. Proyer (2012) found out the negative correlation between age and playfulness. Younger adults showed a higher level of playfulness rather than older ones (Proyer, 2012). In addition to this, the same study (Proyer, 2012) showed a negative correlation between playfulness and age with the greater playfulness among younger adults. Also, greater playfulness corresponded with lower tendency of feelings such as sadness or bad mood in cheerful situations (Proyer, 2012). Moreover, it showed that playful people showed higher acceptance on (Proyer, 2012). Although the research is focused on playfulness in childhood, playfulness can be a defined as personality trait in adulthood as well. Lieberman (1965) was the first to describe playfulness by **five key elements:** physical spontaneity, social spontaneity, cognitive spontaneity, manifest joy, and sense of humor (Lieberman, 1965). According to the Proyer (2017), playful personality seeks for entertainment in all field of life

and like unusual activities, people, topics. In addition to this, they are constantly looking for a ways to convert mundane task into personally interesting and intellectually stimulating. Moreover, playful personality tend to be playful in social settings (Barnett, 2007; Proyer, 2017). Barnett (2007) together with Yarnal and Qian (2011) did a research and identified main characteristics of playful people. By identifying 15 descriptive qualities, Barnett (2007) proposed that playful people can be characterized as being *"funny, humorous, spontaneous, unpredictable, impulsive, active, energetic, adventurous, sociable, outgoing, cheerful, and happy, and are likely to manifest playful behavior by joking, teasing, clowning, and acting silly"*. In addition to this, Barnett research on young-adults playfulness was extended by Yarnal and Qian (2011) who proposed these characteristics of older-adult playfulness: happy, optimistic, cheerful, positive, enthusiastic, and relaxed. The new characteristics of playfulness was proposed. This framework encompasses 4 main facets of playfulness (Proyer, 2018):

a) *other-directed*. Playfulness is used for social relations building or reducing tension. People enjoy bantering and playing with others (Proyer, 2018).

b) *lighthearted*. People schedule time for play. People like to improvise, tend to consider life as a game and not focus on future consequences (Proyer, 2018).

c) *Intellectual*. People who use playing for innovative ideas or problems solution generation tend to prefer complexity (Proyer, 2018).

d) *Whimsical*. People like uncommon, strange things, activities, situations as well as being entertained by strange situations (Proyer, 2018).

The four playfulness facets by Proyer (2018) helps to describe the playfulness of adults.

The literature about playfulness revealed that it can be defined as instinctive motivational factor. According to Cognitive model, intrinsic motivation has a stronger effect on behavioral intention than extrinsic motivation (Thomas and Velthouse, 1990). Intrinsically motivated people demonstrate a higher responsibility to finish tasks or initiate new ones to address opportunity or problem as well as sustain motivation during challenging times (Thomas and Velthouse, 1990). Moreover, they claim that perceived playfulness can be an instinctive motivational factor which has a powerful effect on user's positive attitude building (Moon& Kim, 2001). Overall, Waterman, Schwartz and Conti (2008) claim that instinctively motivated activities are not only enjoyed, but also

is positively related to self-realization. Balance between task challenge and skills, perception that task can enhance personal development, willingness to invest efforts in task performance and belief that task is important (Waterman et al., 2008). The playfulness can be an intrinsic motivational factor which leads to internal satisfaction, higher responsibility and motivation to finish task as well as more positive individual attitude towards task building.

Playfulness can be defined as a factor that contributes toward acceptance and continues usage of the new things. Playfulness has been broadly analyzed in technology acceptance context. Moon and Kim (2001) introduced perceived playfulness as a new factor that influences the user's acceptance of World Wide Web (WWW). With the aim of explaining users' acceptance of WWW, perceived playfulness was added up to TAM (Technology Acceptance Model). The study discovered that when users perceived playfulness while using WWW, they considered experience more enjoyable and the level of their concentration on and curiosity for WWW increased (Moon & Kim, 2001). Playfulness was investigated in the context of web use continuity by being integrated in expectation confirmation theory (ECT) (Lin et al., 2005). The study confirmed that perceived playfulness positively influences satisfaction with the website and contributed significantly to individuals revisiting the website intention (Lin et al., 2005). These findings were supported by Wakefield and Whitten (2017) who found that in situations when individuals perceive interaction with mobile devices more playful, the device is considered as more useful, enjoyable and the intention to use it more frequently increase in comparison to individuals who do not perceive interaction as playful. Positive effect on continues usage has been indicated in research on motives on continued microblogging service Twitter use has revealed a significant effect of perceived enjoyment and playfulness (Agrifoglio et. al, 2012). Overall, in the context of technology, playfulness contributes toward acceptance of new systems as well as increase satisfaction of the system. Thus, gamification elements introduction in referral marketing programs help to achieve similar outcomes.

Thus, the level of playfulness may differ in different age groups. However, playfulness as a personality trait can be found in children as well as in adults. People with high level playfulness can be defined as the ones who seek for amusement in daily tasks, social and work settings. Playfulness as a personality disposition can be defined by variety of characteristics. However, one of the most common characteristics are happy, active, impulsive, cheerful, enthusiastic and naughty. People with playfulness trait is attracted by the task that involves more playful features and their engagement increases together with the increased task playfulness. This originates from their trait to seek for personally interesting, unusual activities, hobbies or even adventures. Thus, game elements

introduction into referral marketing programs could be beneficial to trigger these people playfulness and ensure that behavior is intrinsically pleasant and engaging in flow state.

2.3 Individual risk tolerance

People face risks all the time including their income, employment, health and they the evaluate each decision option and risks this decision might bring. Risk encompasses two dimensions uncertainty and unfavorable consequences (Dowling, 1986; Chen, 2018). The risks existence in nowadays world drives the need for such services as health, property, unemployment, etc (O'Donoghue et al., 2018). A rational procedure of decision making involves evaluating future actions and their alternatives as well as consequences of action taken (March, 1994). Risk taking can be defined as engagement in behavior with a wider range of outcomes including negative ones such as reward loss or punishment as well as balancing conflicting motivations (Ferguson et al., 1991; Figner et. al, 2011). Thus, in uncertain situations, probabilistic thinking takes control and evaluates each option.

Evaluation of risks before making a decision or taking actions has been widely analyzed by numerous researchers and studies. Markowitz (1952) was the first to suggest a framework for investment decision making by assessing the individual risk, outcome and other important assets that could have an impact. The modern portfolio theory (Markowitz, 1952) helps risk-averse investors to evaluate investing opportunities in order to attain desirable results with lowest risk possible. However, they are taking higher risks when expecting a higher outcome (Emanuelsson and Marling, 2012). The Modern portfolio theory emphasizes the two crucial factors that are considered by every people when making decisions in everyday life - perceived risk and perceived outcome. The Expected-Utility theory combines expected outcome value connected with probability of gain or loss in order to define risk aversion behavior (Rabin, 2013). Thus, people determine not only risk, but also the probability of negative outcome. The theory implies that people are almost risk neutral when the expected loss is exceptionally low (Rabin, 2013). Early work by Arrow (1965) suggested that when making decisions people are risk averse which means they experience low willingness to act in case of significant chance of loss or uncertain benefits (Arrow, 1965; Stefánsson, 2016). The pattern of risk averse behavior (Table 1) has been introduced by Kahneman and Tversky's (1979). Risk seeking behavior was noticed when a low probability of losing or high probability of winning occurred (Stefánsson, 2016). In contrast, risk-averse behavior was common when high probability of gain or low probability of loss occurred (Stefánsson, 2016).

Table 1

Risk aversion behavior

Gain	Loss
Risk seeking	Risk aversion
Risk aversion	Risk seeking
	Gain Risk seeking Risk aversion

Source: Kahneman & Tversky, 1979; Stefánsson, 2016

Based on the analyzed theories, the evaluation of risk is a cognitive process which involves processing the probability of outcomes (high or low) and potential outcome itself (gain or loss). This process is done by every individual and identification of high probability of loss triggers risk averse behavior.

However, some authors (Robin, 2013; Stefánsson, 2016) argue that Expected Utility theory does not help explain some risk attitudes. Moreover, it is emphasizing that risk aversion predictions over modest or small stakes is not precise (Robin, 2013). The reason is that risk and gain evaluation is strongly connected with individual subjective beliefs and risk attitudes. The positive relationship between subjective belief and risk attitudes has been found by Menapace et. al. (2013). Study revealed that risk attitude and judgement is strongly affected by individual's past experience. Farmers who experienced large-scale crop failure due to extreme weather conditions perceived higher weather risk compared to those without similar experiences (Menapace et. al. (2013). Figner et al. (2011) has expanded the factors that have impact on risk assessment. People vary in the risks they take because risk accepting is determined by several factors such as attributes of the situation, interaction with situation, interaction with the situation and decision maker's values and personality traits (Figner et. al, 2011). Level of risk taking varies for different individuals depending on insight of anticipated gain, risk and how much risk they are ready to accept in exchange for a specific outcome (Figner et. al, 2011). Thus, attitude towards risk might differ from individual to individual. The connection between risk aversion and big five personality traits was found by Aren et. al. (2020). According to study, people who possess traits self-interest, impulsiveness, and emotional stability are more risk taking than people with agreeableness, conscientiousness, and neuroticism traits (Aren et. al., 2020). The other study (Guiso, 2004) results revealed that risk-averse individuals tend to choose safer actions when choosing a job, allocation of savings and investments, investment in education which leads to lower, but predictable gains. Also, risk-averse individuals tend to select lower risk involved activities (Guiso, 2004). Moreover, Wang et al., (2017) study revealed the different risk aversions when making decisions for the group and individual decision. Group representative decisions are more risk averse when extrinsic motivation are present (guilt, self-blame, etc.) (Wang et.al, 2017). However, tolerance of risk increased once extrinsic motivation was removed (Wang et.al, 2017).

Thus, individual decision making encompass several steps and subjective risk assessment is one of the step that helps individuals to evaluate probability of gain or loss. Risk attitude and judgement is strongly related with individual's values and personality traits, past experience, subjective beliefs of loss or gain occurrence as well as assessment of possible impact of gain or loss. The individual tend to differ on risk tolerance. The risk-averse individuals has a lower tolerance of the risk and consciously selects lower risk activities in contrast to risk seekers. In addition to this, risk-averse is different when making individual and group decisions. Individual responsible for decision that impacts group of people is reported to be more risk-averse, and vice versa. Individual risk tolerance is important to consider when developing referral marketing program design as riskaverse people might not be willing to participate in programs if high probability of loss is identified. The internal fear of loss might discourage them from engagement. Thus, the trust between the referral, referee and brand should be built in order to ensure both sides (referral and referee) that gain probability is higher than loss.

2.4 Belongingness

Sense of belonging is defined as a user's feeling of cohesion or attachment to a group or a community (Lin, Fan & Chau 2014). Maslow's (1970) hierarchy of needs emphasizes the need for a sense of belonging as one of the major sources of motivation (Inglehart, 1990). Baumeister et. al. (1995) claimed that belonging is a fundamental need of humans. Human seek stable, long term, positive interactions, and connections with other people (Baumeister et. al., 1995). Additionally, people need a few close bonds close, long-term relationship which ensures stable care and concern for the full satisfaction of this need (Leary and Baumeister, 1995). To sustain social bonds, it is crucial that common values, goals, interests, and empathy would be shared among group members (Aron et. al., 2000). Common interests help to unite people into communities and belongingness is found to be as one of the contributing factors toward creation of a stronger bond among members of community and expansion of efforts to help others (Den Hartog et. al., 2007). Thus, the sense of belonging can be explained as the seek for close social connection with similar mind, values, goals and interest people and this bond provides the feel of acceptance and security.

Belonginess is important to human well-being and one of the factors shaping individuals behaviors in order to achieve acceptance among society members. The high sense of belonging might help to reduce perceived stress and as a result increases life satisfaction (Civitci, 2015), improves mental health and well-being (Stebleton, 2014) and contributes towards people's perception of their life as highly meaningful (Lambert et. al., 2013). Contrary, an unsatisfied need to belong can result in lower satisfaction of life, psychological and physical health problems (Baumeister et. Al., 1995). Feeling the need to belong, individuals shape behaviors in order to achieve acceptance among society members. The identity control theory confirms it by explaining the nature of a person's identities and the connection between identities and behavior within the social structure a person is in (Burke, 2007). The cornerstone of the theory is people perceive their identities and then choose their own behavior in order to match to the meaning of perceived identities (Burke, 2007). And the people with perceived same identities form groups. It is important to note that person and society attaches expectations towards the identities. Consequently, they do not engage in behavior which is against set identity standards (Burke, 2007). Therefore, the need to belong is considered as fundamental needs of humans and to fit in society structure, people are ready to follow behavior patterns set by the society they seek to belong to.

Individuals with a need to belong can be sensitive towards rejection as it negatively affects self-esteem. Leary et. Al. (2013) emphasizes that a high need to belong encourages people to interact with other people. However, those people also possess a powerful desire for social acceptance as well as fear of criticism and rejection. In addition to this, social anxiety arises from concerns about their impression, attractiveness, popularity, and reputation among other people (Leary et. Al, 2013). Social rejection and acceptance affect self-esteem (Cameron et. al, 2017). According to sociometer theory, self-esteem responsiveness to acceptance or rejection helps to monitor to avoid rejection and decrease in self-esteem. The threat of rejection motivates people to adjust their behavior with the aim of reestablishing acceptance or minimizing threat of rejection (Leary et al., 2000; Cameron et. al, 2017). The notion is supported by numerous studies. The peer rejection lowers self-esteem and increases adolescent materialism (Jiang, 2015). While self-esteem decreases after rejection tends to affect wellbeing and encourage risky behavior (Ford et al., 2013). The stronger feeling of rejection and lower self-esteem was reported by people chosen last for the team compared with those chosen first (Bourgeois et al., 2001). When people feel relationship with them is not valued, the feeling of rejection lowers their self-esteem (Buckley et al., 2004). Thus, exclusion shapes people's behavior by having an impact on their self-esteem. The risk of rejection might be a reason of unwillingness to participate in referral marketing programs if that behavior would be seen as against the perceived identity of participant as well as participant might expect rejection due to his actions.

People with high belongingness are eager to be a part of community. The positive side of feeling a part of community is that it encourages people to share opinion about consumption of product as a contribution towards other community members well - being. When an individual identifies himself as a part of community, it is an internal factor that motivates individuals to be altruistic and to put more efforts into achieving main goals, do favors for other group members (Hars and Ou, 2002). Social identity proved to be a factor that stimulates initiation of word of mouth in social networks (González-Soriano et al., 2020). The perception of being a valuable member of the online community motivates people to share opinions and reviews on consumption experience (González-Soriano et al., 2020). Additionally, commitment to brand community has a significant effect on positive WOM development (Demiray and Burnaz, 2019). According to Demiray and Burnaz (2019), the brand community contains both - opinion leaders and opinion seekers. The opinion leader has a constant high degree involvement and product knowledge to share with other community members. In contrast, opinion seeker's main goal is to receive information (Demiray and Burnaz, 2019). However, both parties report a higher sense of belonging to brand community (Demiray and Burnaz, 2019). Furthermore, the study (Kucukemiroglu and Kara, 2015) reports that if referral is a close friend, referee trust in eWOM increases as well as his willingness to participate in eWOM communication and generate product recommendations. Therefore, feeling the sense of belonging promotes people engagement and commitment to brand communities. The people self-identity promotes the behavior that is either opinion leaders or opinion seekers. The important implication from the studies is that that willingness to engage in referral marketing programs could be promoted by creating the sense of being a part of the bigger community and efforts of referring product or services contributes toward members of that group well-being.

Belonginess is a fundamental need of human-being and it triggers human motivation to be a part of communities sharing similar values and attitudes. The sharing of opinion or recommendation creates a stronger bond among community members. Additionally, sharing of opinion and recommendation creates the sense of being a valuable member of the community. This is the reason why opinion or recommendation sharing is perceived as a help to other community members. However, it possesses the risk of being rejected and this risk might decrease the motivation to recommend. As a result, people tend to align their behavior in order to meet community expectations and not engage in the activities that might be against community standards. The strong need to belong might influence individuals intentions to act without evaluating the benefits that one or another actions might provide – internal satisfaction or materialistic rewards. The important implication from the studies is that intention to recommend in referral marketing programs could be promoted by creating the sense of being a part of the bigger community and efforts of referring product or services contributes toward members of that group well-being.

The intention to recommend in referral marketing programs is an outcome of a cognitive process which involves evaluation of all possible benefits and losses. However, the perception of this gamified system and intention to recommend might differ depending on personality traits. Various studies have proved that personality traits have a significant impact on people's behavioral intentions. Materialistic people tend to engage in activities for a seek of gain or reward. Contrary, playful people seek for playful tasks which promise intrinsic enjoyment. People with a high need to belong to communities, will engage in activities which help them to become a more valuable community member. Furthermore, risk-averse individuals will engage less-risky activities compared to risk seekers who focus on high gains rather than loss. Therefore, personality traits are independent factors which influence the perception of gamified referral marketing program and intention to recommend as a result. The four personality traits – materialism, playfulness, belongingness and individual risk tolerance are chosen as independent variables for this master thesis.

3. METHODOLOGY

3.1 Conceptual model of research

The literature analysis revealed that implementation of game elements with the aim to increase the gamified system users' intrinsic motivation, brand loyalty, performance and behavioral intentions have been widely analyzed by different authors. The gamification and gamified systems are one of the increasingly used tools to increase customer engagement and loyalty triggering their intrinsic motivating. However, there is a lack of research focusing on individual traits: materialism, playfulness, belongingness and risk-aversion impact on intention to recommend in the gamified referral marketing programs.

Therefore, **the purpose of the research** was to analyze the impact of user' individual traits: materialism, playfulness, belongingness and risk aversion on the perceived usefulness, enjoyment, risk of gamified system and intention to recommend.

The main research question is therefore: How intention to recommend are influenced by individual traits and perception of gamified system?

To address the purpose of this research, the research model presented below was developed as well as variables were identified and hypothesis of this research formed.

Research model. The research model was formulated considering that intention to recommend derives from various factors which can be and cannot be influenced by the gamified system creator. Individual traits (materialism, playfulness, belongingness and risk aversion) are considered as innate as well as have a significant influence on people behavior intentions and are not controlled by gamified system creator. Thus, in this model they were considered as independent variables. The introduction of gamification elements in referral marketing program created a gamified system. The users' perception of this system was considered as having impact on intention to recommend. The perceived usefulness, enjoyment and risk of gamified system were dependent variables. The model is presented in *Figure* 1.



Figure 1. Conceptual model

Source: Author of master thesis

3.2 Hypothesis development

With the aim to test individual traits (materialism, playfulness, belongingness and risk-averse) impact on perception of the gamified system defined as perceived usefulness, enjoyment and risk and, as a result, on intention to recommend, the following hypothesis were formulated.

Materialism.

According to Zhang and Zhao (2019) and Wu et al. (2021) studies, materialistic orientation is connected to perfectionism which means focusing on the details of product with the aim to assess its value for them. Even materialistic people are reported to be less practical by Zhang and Zhao (2019), they tend to increase the perception of costs and weaken perception of benefits (Wu et al., 2021). Materialistic orientation found to be positively related with resistant attitude (Wu et al., 2021). Given this background, H1 was formed:

H1. Materialism has positive impact on perceived usefulness of gamified system.

Van Boven and Gilovich (2003) study emphasized that experiences bring more happiness than material possessions. In contrast, materialistic people shown to be prone to evaluate their happiness and self-definition through material objects acquisition (Richins, 2004) and their value those objects because of financial value as well as proof of status (Shrum, 2013). Zhang et al. (2014) study

supported Shrum (2013) study results by revealing materialistic people tendency to ignore hedonic benefits of life experiences because they did not increase identity expression. Given this background and that gamified system aim is to provide hedonic benefits for people to enjoy using it, the H2 was formed.

H2. Materialism has a negative impact on perceived enjoyment of gamified system.

Several previous research have revealed the positive connection between individualism and materialism (Eckersley, 2006; Awanis et al., 2017; Ali et al., 2020). The individualism core values are personal uniqueness and freedom, autonomy, self-confidence and responsibility (Hofstede, 2001; Gantenbein et al., 2019). Ali et al. (2020) reported that materialistic as well as individualistic personalities tend to be more independent with higher self-esteem and ability to make independent decisions based on personal preferences. While less materialistic people into decision-making process is more influenced by other important people or institutions (Ali et al., 2020). Given this background, H3 was formed:

H3. Materialism has negative impact on perceived risk of gamified system.

Playfulness:

Barnett (2007) reported the higher engagement in playful activities such as joking, teasing, clown by people with a dominant playfulness trait. In addition to this, the playfulness trait has positive relation with increased optimism, spontaneity as well as higher need for social connections (Yarnal, C., & Qian, X. (2011). Moreover, playfulness trait found to be positively related with a higher importance and efforts put towards intrinsic goals and aspirations achievements than extrinsic goals and aspirations (Proyer, 2012). The intrinsic motivation to engage in fun, gameful, playful activities and experiences were higher among people reported to possess playfulness trait (Petelczyc et al., 2018). The balance between skills and challenges creates an engagement into game which is a key component for increasing the quality of user's experience (Jin, 2012). However, playfulness is found to be negatively impacted by perceived risk (Dahabiyeh, Najjar, Agrawal, 2020). Given this background, H4, H5 and H6 were formed:

H4. Playfulness has a positive impact on perceived usefulness of gamified system.

H5. Playfulness has a positive impact on perceived enjoyment of gamified system.

H6. Playfulness has a positive impact on perceived risk of gamified system.

Belongingness:

Belongingness is one of the key factors that impact users' interaction in online environment and loyalty in the community (Lin, 2008; Zhao et al., 2012; Lin, Fan, Chau, 2014). A sense of belonging is positively related with motivation for social interaction (Alves et al., 2016). The importance of interaction for enjoyment has been revealed by Sacco and Ismail (2014) study. Higher enjoyment was reported among people who have a possibility of interaction within the system compared to those who do not have social interaction possibility (Sacco, 2014). Additionally, the belongingness is related with a need to be a valuable team member (Leary, 2021). The research report the decreased belongingness effect on attitude and behavioural intentions. Tuncel and Kavak (2022) study revealed that decreased sense of belongingness due to experienced social exclusion can lead to unethical behavioural intentions. In addition to this, belongingness is connected to the need and efforts to regain acceptance of the group by tailoring behavior (Chen, Wan, Levy, 2017; Leary, 2021). Furthermore, a positive relationship between sense of belonging and perceived usefulness of the systems has been revealed by Teo et al. (2003). Belongingness found to be important to continuous system usage with the aim to interact and be accepted by the friends and community (Lin, Fan, Chau, 2014). Given this background, H7, H8 and H9 were formed:

H7. Belongingness has a positive impact on perceived usefulness of the gamified system.

H8. Belongingness has a positive impact on perceived enjoyment of the gamified system.

H9. Belongingness has a positive impact on perceived risk of the gamified system.

Risk aversion:

The risk of gamified system that to some extent is faced by system users can be separated in 2 types identified. System dependent uncertainty which originates from uncertainty of using technological infrastructure and transaction dependent uncertainty which derives from asymmetric among system users and provider (Grabner-Krauter, Kaluscha, 2003). Thus, the users of gamified system will take risk to some extent. Risk averse individuals is reported to be more sensitive to uncertainty and uncertainty poses a risk (Slovic, 2000). Wong (2005) reported that risk perception mediates the risk propensity. Risk seeking people tend to perceive given situation as less risky compared to those who is risk averse. Thus, risk seeking people is more confident taking a risk comparing to risk averse people (Wong, 2005). However, people tend to resolve their perceived uncertainties when engaging in gamified activities to be getting rewarded (Otto, Fleming, Glimcher,

2016; Tan, Chen, 2021; Leclercq, 2022). In addition to this, high-quality experience is created by exposing the progress towards wining gamified activity which creates individual sense of control (Leclercq, 2022). Thus, the feedback system reduces the level of uncertainty. Given this background, the H10, H11 and H12 were formed:

H10. Risk aversion has a positive impact on perceived usefulness of gamified system.

H11. Risk aversion has a negative impact on perceived enjoyment of gamified system.

H12. *Risk aversion has a negative impact on perceived risk.*

Intention to use:

Gamification element introduction in the system is reported to be positively related to adoption of internet banking (Rodrigues, Costa, Oliveira, 2017). In addition to this, the significant relationship between behavioral intentions and gamification was reported by Baptista and Oliveira (2017). Samar and Mazuri (2019) reported the correlation between higher intention to use and adopt system and higher gamification of the system. Thus, gamification element introduction is reported to have a significant impact on system adoption or / and usage. An intention to recommend using gamified system is measured through perceived usefulness, enjoyment and risk of gamifies system.

Various studies confirmed the significant effect of perceived usefulness on intention to use system in different domains – virtual learning (Teo et al. Zhang, Z., 2003), e-commerce websites (Aparicio, Costa and Moises, 2021), gamified learning systems through creating positive attitude towards gamified system (Mustafa, 2022), use gamified virtual currency (George, Sajid, 2022). Given this background, the H13 was formed:

H13. *Perceived usefulness of gamified system has a positive impact on intention to recommend.*

The positive relationship between flow state (enjoyment) of web page and behavioral intentions to use has been revealed by Garcia-Jurado et al. (2018). The study results were supported by Zatarain Cabada et al. (2018) study which reported significant link between perceived enjoyment and intention to use gamified EasyLogic system. Kose, Morschheuser and Hamari (2019) study proved the positive correlation between perceived enjoyment and system usage. In addition to this, enjoyment derived from using gamified system is significantly connected to contribution intention (knowledge sharing) about this system (Kose, Morschheuser, Hamari, 2019). Thus, the enjoyment

which derives from gamified system is reported to have a positive impact on intention to use in various contexts. Given this background, the H14 was formed:

H14. Perceived enjoyment of gamified system has a positive impact on intention to recommend.

Hansen et al. (2018) study concluded that perceived risk is associated with strength of attitude and higher control towards engagement into system usage, thus, behavioral intention. Perceived risk is proved to be an important factor that negatively impact bahavioural intention to play online games (Dahabiyeh, Najjar, Agrawal, 2020) as well as level of trust of recommendation and online purchase intention (Chang, Chin, 2010). Given this background, the H15 was formed:

H15. Perceived risk of gamified system has a negative impact on intention to recommend.

3.3 Constructs

With the aim to test out hypothesis and formulate a research instrument, firstly, a reliable and valid measurement scales were identified. The scales for each construct are presented below.

Materialism. Materialism construct describes the users' attitude towards money and material goods. Richins and Davidson (1992) defines materialism a belief that ownership and acquisition of material objects is a main life goal and lead to happiness. The materialism is measured by Material Value Scale developed by Richins (2004) and adapted by Ponchio and Aranha (2008). A 7-points Likert-scale response format is used. Ponchio and Aranha (2008) adapted Materialism scales consists of 9 items in total. Richins (2004) reports the Cronnach's alpha for nine-item scale being .84. The Richins (2004) scale has been used in different studies to measure materialism by Alzubaidi, Slade and Dwivedi (2021) and Lee et al. (2022).

Playfulness. Shen, Chick, and Zinn (2014a) define the playfulness construct as an internal or mental inclination to engage in playful behavior. The playfulness is measured by The Short Measure of Adult Playfulness scale (SMAP) developed by Proyer (2012). The scale consists of 5 items in total which defines the level of engagement in playful experiences (Proyer, 2012). A 7-points Likert-scale response format is used. The greater score identifies higher playfulness and engagement in playful activities (Proyer, 2014). Proyer (2012) also reported unidimensionality and high internal consistencies ≥ 0.80 . The scale has been used in different studies to assess playfulness by Yue, Leung and Hiranandani (2016), Proyer and Brauer (2018), Proeyer (2014).

Belongingness. The sense of belongingness is defined as users demand for acceptability by social environment, social bond with group and feeling valuable appreciated members. The belongingness is measured with General Belongingness Scale developed by Malone, Pillow and Osman (2012). The scale consists of 2 dimensions – Acceptance / Inclusion and Rejection / Exclusion. Total 12 items, 6 per one dimension, are used. Given the high-inter factor correlation items in Rejection / Exclusion dimension is negative worded and reversed scored. A 7-points Likert-scale response format is used. The reliability of this scale is reported to be high with Coeficient apha .94 (Malone, Pillow, Osman, 2012). This scale has been used in different studies to assess general belonginess by Arslan (2018), Arslan and Coskun, M. (2021), Polat and Karabatak, (2021).

Risk aversion. Risk averseness commonly considered as personality trait defines to which extent users prefer certainty over uncertainty (Weber, Blais, Betz, 2002). To measure risk aversion a Domain-specific Risk-attitude Scale developed by Weber, Blais and Betz (2002) was used. For this research, the adapted social subscale consisting of 9-items related to risk in social domain. A 7-points Likert-scale response format is used. The lower score implies higher level of risk aversion. The scales have been widely used to assess risk aversion in different domains – Brooks and Clark (2019) and Netemeyer et al. (2019).

Perceived enjoyment. The perceived enjoyment is focused on intrinsic motivation to use the system for entertainment purposes (Van der Heijden, 2004). The four-item scale developed by Cheung, Chang, Lai (2000) was adapted to measure the perceived enjoyment of gamified system. A 7-points Likert-scale response format is used. The higher final score, the higher enjoyment respondent felt while using the gamified system. The Cronbach alpha for this scale was 0.83 (Cheung, Chang, Lai (2000). The scale to measure perceived enjoyment in terms of new system or service adaptation was used by Konietzny, Caruana and Cassar (2018), Tojib and Tsarenko (2012), Van der Heijden (2004).

Perceived usefulness. The perceived usefulness construct is adopted from TAM model developed by Davis et al. (1989). Davis et al. (1989) defined it as to which extent user believes that using system boost individual performance. The 6 items-scale developed by Davis et al. (1989) was adapted to measure the perceived usefulness of gamified system. A 7-points Likert-scale response format is used. The higher score implies higher level of perceived usefulness. Cronbach alpha reliability for perceived use- fulness was .97 (Davis et al., 1989). The scale to measure perceived
usefulness of the system was used by Izuagbe et al. (2019), Lanlan, Ahmi and Popoola (2019), Nayanajith (2021).

Perceived risk. Perceived risk is defined as subjectively calculated loss of particular action or engagement in situation (Hwang, Choe, 2020). The scale to measure perceived risk of gamified system was adopted from Currás-Pérez, Ruiz-Mafé and Sanz-Blas (2013) study. The scale consists of 8 items in total which defines the 4 risk dimensions – privacy risk, psychological risk, time loss risk, social risk. The response form is seven-point Likert scale (1=completely disagree, 7=completely agree). The reliability and convergent validity of measurement reported by Currás-Pérez, Ruiz-Mafé and Sanz-Blas (2013) is privacy risk (0.78), psychological risk (0.78), time loss risk (0.67), social risk (0.68).

Intention to recommend. Intention to recommend can be defined as positive word of mouth about the service or product (Kim, Son, 2009). Thus, the intention to recommend was measured with word-of-mouth scale which was adapted by Srinivasan, Anderson and Ponnavolu (2002) based on Zeithaml, Berry, and Parasuraman (1996). The scale consists of 4 items in total. The response form is 7 points scale. The scale to measure intention to recommend has been used by Kim and Son (2009).

3.2 Instrument and data collection

After the constructs were defined and scales to measure was chosen, a quantitative approach for this research was chosen and a research instrument was developed. Taking into consideration previous empirical research of gamification, the research instrument selected for this research was an online questionnaire. The online questionnaires are commonly used to measure gamification impact in studies (Gerdenitsch et. al, 2020; Hamari, Koivisto, Sarsa, 2014; Mattke and Maier, 2021; Mekler et. al, 2017; Xi and Hamari, 2019). The next reason for online questionnaire selection were the high speed of data collection and data comparison possibility due to standardized questions for all respondents (Lumsden, Morgan, 2005). In all questions the seven-point Likert scale was used as a response form. Thus, it eased large data quantities organising and data analysing. Moreover, online questionnaires ensured anonymity.

The online questionnaire consisted of two parts. In the first part, the individual traits – materialism, playfulness, belongingness and risk-aversion of respondents were evaluated. In the second part of the questionnaire, factors related to perception of the system - the perceived usefulness, enjoyment and risk and their impact on intention to recommend were measured. In order to do so, participants were introduced with background information about this gamified system's aim and were

asked to follow the link to gamified systems simulation. In addition to this, they were presented with the screenshots of the referral marketing system simulation. The simulation of gamified system was created for VPN (Virtual Private Network) services and gamification elements used in this system were leaderboard, points, bonus, progress bar and time manipulation. The aim of this simulation of gamified system was to encourage current VPN users to refer VPN service to new users. The VPN services were chosen for this simulation due to the high popularity of referral marketing programs among this service providers as well as very tough competition in the market. While gamification elements used in this gamified system are frequently used in different gamification related studies (Koivisto, Hamari, 2019). The simulation of the gamified system presented to respondents was created considering that gamification related studies frequently use existing gamified systems or simulation of gamified systems to measure gamification impact. Existing or simulation of gamified systems is used in studies by Gerdenitsch et al. (2020), Gonzalez-Briones et al. (2021) and Mekler et al. (2017). After being presented with a gamified system, respondents were asked to evaluate the presented simulation of the gamified system through their perception of risk, enjoyment and usefulness of the gamified system. The full instrument of this empirical research can be found in Annex 1.

Sample size

For this study participants were selected following non-probability, convenience sampling design. This sampling design was selected due to the large population being potential participants of this study. Moreover, the study had a limited budget and time dedicated for study conducting. The sample size was calculated following a statistical approach with formula n = z2 p(1-p)/e2. The standard error (z) is z=1.96, percent of population p=0.5, while level of acceptable error is 0.06. Thus, the sample size calculated is n=267 participants. The potential survey participants were based in Lithuania. However, the questionnaire was in English with the aim to give opportunities to participants who did not speak Lithuanian language.

Methods and statistics for data analysis

The methods used for statistical analysis of quantitative data was reliability and linear regression. Data was analyzed using SPSS.

4. RESULTS4.1 Descriptive statistics

Respondents

Research data was collected by online survey from October 1st till December 1st. During data collection period, 301 respondents responses were collected. All of the questionnaires were fully completed due to all questionnaire questions being mandatory questions. Thus, all the data from 301 respondents were included into analysis. All of the respondents were located in Lithuania. The demographics of respondents is presented in Tables 2 and 3. The majority of respondents were between 25 - 34 years (53.8%). The distribution of respondents by gender is balanced – 54.8% were female and 45.2% were male.

Table 2

Demographics	of	respondents:	Gender
--------------	----	--------------	--------

	Frequency	Percent, %
Female	165	54.8
Male	136	45.2

Table 3

Demographics of respondents: Age

Age group	Frequency	Percent, %
18-24	81	26.9
25-34	162	53.8
35-44	56	18.6
45-54	2	0.7

4.2 Reliability analysis

Reliability analysis were conducted for all scales. The internal consistency of scales were calculated with Cronbach's alpha. Reliability analysis indicated high internal consistency of all scales. Reliability analysis indicated that scales playfulness, belonginess, risk-averse, perceived usefulness, perceived playfulness, perceived risk and intention to recommend had a higher than 0.9 Cronbach's alpha. In order to avoid the redundant items and following the recommendation of maximum alpha value of 0.9 (Steiner, 2003), some items of scales were deleted.

Materialism scale consisting of 8 items Cronbach's alpha value is 0.811. Reliability analysis of Playfulness scale of 5 items indicated Cronbach's alpha value of 0.911. Elimination of 1 item "Sometimes, I completely forget about the time and am absorbed in a playful activity" helped to obtain Cronbach's alpha value of 0.896. Thus, the final playfulness scale consists of 4 items. Belongingness scale consisting of 10 items obtained a Cronbach's alpha value is 0.942 which is higher than recommended. Due to this, 4 items: "Because I do not belong, I feel distant during the holiday season", "I feel like an outsider", "I have close bonds with family and friends", "I feel accepted by others", "Friends and family do not involve me in their plans" were deleted and Belongingness scale consisting of 6 elements obtained 0.9. Risk-aversion scale consisting of 9 items Cronbach's alpha value is 0.852. Perceived usefulness scale consisting of 6 items Cronbach's alpha value is 0.877. Reliability analysis of Perceived enjoyment scale of 4 items indicated Cronbach's alpha value of 0.928. Elimination of 1 item "I would find the presented gamified system interesting" helped to obtain Cronbach's alpha value of 0.9. Initial risk-aversion scale consisting of 8 elements obtained Cronbach's alpha value of 0.918. Item "Participating in gamified system, endangers my privacy because of wrongful use of my personal data." was removed and recommended value of 0.9 was obtained. Intention to recommend scale consisting 4 items Cronbach's alpha value was 0.918. Elimination of 1 item "I would say positive things about this VPN service and gamified system" helped to obtain Cronbach's alpha value of 0.895. The summary of all scales reliability statistics are presented in Table 4.

Table 4

Scale	Cronbach's Alpha	N of items
Materialism	0.811	8
Playfulness	0.896	4
Belongingness	0.9	6
Risk-aversion	0.852	9
Perceived usefulness	0.877	6
Perceived enjoyment	0.9	3
Perceived risk	0.9	7
Intention to recommend	0.895	3

Reliability statistics summary

4.3 Hypotheses testing

In order to explore personality traits and perception of gamified system impact on intention to reccomend, the regression analysis were performed.

H1. Materialism has positive impact on perceived usefulness of gamified system.

H1 rejected. R²=0.105, F(1)= 35.208 p=0. The results of regression indicated that materialism explained only 10,5% of the variance (Table 5). However, materialism proved to be a statistically significant predictor of perceived usefulness (t=-5.934, p=0). Analysis of regression coefficient showed that materialism has a negative standardized coefficient β value of -0.325 which indicated the negative correlation between materialism and perceived usefulness (Table 6). This empirical data depicted an opposite impact from predicted one – the highly materialistic individuals perceived the gamified system to be less useful than respondents with lower levels of materialism.

There is a gap in research of relation between materialism disposition and perceived usefulness of the system. However, there are studies which investigated the connection between materialism and usage as well as participation intentions. Previous study by Hsiao et al. (2017) found materialism having significant positive effect on social and game application usage. However, the motivation of this usage is linked to materialistic people's belief of raising their status while using apps. Moreover, Akbar, Mai and Hoffmann (2016) investigated consumers' willingness to participate in commercial sharing systems (CSS) which provide temporary access to products or services. High materialism of consumers had low sharing intentions. However, the uniqueness of products and desire for unique products were found to be moderating factors which increased the materialistic people's intention to participate (Akbar, Mai and Hoffmann, 2016). Thus, materialistic personalities prioritize self-image enhancement and uniqueness of system or app rather than performance or ease of use provided by system or app.

Madal	Daguana		Anov	a ^a		
wiouei	K square	df	F	Sig ^b		
1	0.105	1	35.208	0.000^{b}		
a Predictors: (Constant), Materialism						

The results of linear regression with perceived usefulness as dependent variable

b Dependent Variable: Percieved Usefulness

Table 6

Model		Unsta Co	Unstandardized Coefficients		t	Sig.		
		В	Std. Error	Beta				
1	(Constant)	5.973	0.259		23.056	0		
1	Materialism	-0.364	0.061	-0.325	-5.934	0		
a Dependent V	a Dependent Variable: Percieved Usefulness							

The coefficients^a of linear regression model

a Dependent Variable: Percieved Userumess

H2. Materialism has a negative impact on perceived enjoyment of gamified system.

H2 accepted. $R^2=0.067$, F(1)=21.345 p=0 (Table 7). The results of linear regression indicated that materialism explained 6.7% variance and is a significant predictor (t=-4.62, p=0) of perceived enjoyment of the gamified system. Negative standardized β value of -0.325 showed a moderate negative relation between materialism and perceived enjoyment and proves the hypothesis that more materialistic people tend to perceive gamified systems as less enjoyable (Table 8).

The findings on materialism's negative impact on perceived enjoyment is congruent with previous studies which showed materialistic people being extrinsic-goals oriented. Materialistic people consume goods or services to fulfil extrinsic goals primarily – communicate their status or identity to a group rather than to achieve self-actualization or contribution to a community well-being (Hudders and Pandalaere, 2012; Ryan and Deci, 2000). Moreover, Duan (2020) proved the positive relation between anticipated impact of purchase on self and this purchase induced happiness. In a broader sense, if action is perceived as positively impacting self-image, it induces enjoyment over this action or more consumption. Thus, in this research, materialism proved to be negatively linked to perception of the system as less enjoyable. The reason for this is that gamified elements usage in the system works as a trigger of intrinsic motivation arising from enjoyment rather than from fulfilling extrinsic goals. Materialistic people do not value intrinsic motivation triggers, thus, increase in materialism, decrease enjoyment of the gamified system.

	• • .1	• • •	1 1
The results of linear	regression with	perceived enjoyment	as dependent variable
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			···· ··· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Madal	D canona	Anova ^a				
widdei	k square	df	F	Sigb		
1	0.067	1	21.345	0.000 ^b		
a Predictors: (Constant), Materialism						
b Dependent Variable: Percieved Enjoyment						

Table 8

The coefficients^a of linear regression model

Mo	odel	Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.
		В	Std. Error	Beta		
1	(Constant)	6.174	0.26		23.79	0
	Materialism	-0.284 0.061		-0.258	-4.62	0
	7 · 11 D ·	1				

a Dependent Variable: Percieved Enjoyment

H3. Materialism has negative impact on perceived risk of gamified system.

H3 is rejected. Materialism (t=1.839, p=0.067) found to be unsignificant predictor of perceived risk of gamified system. R^2 =0.011, F(1)= 3.381 p=0.067. The results are presented in the Table 9 and Table 10.

Table 9

The results of linear regression with perceived risk as dependent variable

Model	D couomo	Anova ^a				
widuei	k square	df	F	Sig ^b		
1	0.011	1	3.381	.067 ^b		
a Predictors: (Constant), Materialism						
b Dependent Variable:Percieved Risk						

N	Iodel	Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.
		В	Std. Error	Beta		
1	(Constant)	3.331	0.305		10.932	0
	Materialism	0.133	0.072	0.106	1.839	0.067
a Dependent Variable: Percieved Risk						

The coefficients^a of linear regression model

Playfulness:

H4. Playfulness has a positive impact on perceived usefulness of gamified system.

H4 is accepted. $R^2=0.376$, F(1)=179.841 p=0. As it was predicted, the playfulness trait is a significant predictor of perceived usefulness of the presented gamified system (t=13.41 p=0) (Table 11). Standardized coefficients β value of 0.613 confirms positive moderate relation between playfulness and perceived usefulness (Table 12). Thus, respondents with reported higher levels of playfulness tended to consider gamified referral marketing systems as more useful compared to those who reported low levels of playfulness.

The results are in line with prior research by Ke, Sun and Yang (2012) which proved a significant effect of user characteristics on perceived usefulness. Moreover, Estriegana, Medina-Merodio and Barchino (2019) reported significant playfulness influence on perceived usefulness, ease of use and perceived satisfaction of the system. Lin and Yeh (2019) research revealed a positive relation between playfulness and perceived usefulness of VR (virtual reality)- supported technology. Individual playfulness is found to be a driver of intrinsic motivation to engage in activities (Dahabiyeh, Najjar, Agrawal, 2020). Combining the results from prior research and this research results, playful personalities have a tendency to engage in pleasure-oriented systems usage. Thus, for playful system users, gamification could be a powerful tool to enhance a performance of the system because it evokes enjoyment and pleasure.

Madal	Daguana		Anova ^a			
widdei	K square	df	F	Sig ^b		
1	0.376	1	179.841	0.000b		
a Predictors: (Constant), Playfulness						
b Depender	nt Variable:P	erciev	ved Usefulness			

The results of linear regression with perceived usefulness as dependent variable

Table 12

The coefficients^a of linear regression model

Model		Unst Co	andardized efficients	Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.			
		B Std. Error		Beta					
1	(Constant)	1.598	0.222		7.207	0			
1	Playfulness	0.616	0.046	0.613	13.41	0			
a Dependent	a Dependent Variable: Percieved Usefulness								

H5. Playfulness has a positive impact on perceived enjoyment of gamified system.

H5 accepted. $R^2=0.573$, F(1)=401.281, p=0 (Table 13). Playfulness trait is a significant predictor of perceived enjoyment of the gamified system (t=20.032, p=0). Positive standardized coefficient β value of 0.757 indicated a strong positive relationship between playfulness trait and perceived enjoyment (Table 14). Higher level of playfulness is positively connected with higher enjoyment of the gamified system.

The results are in line with prior research. Wu and Holsapple (2014) reported the individual playfulness being a main motivator to seek entertainment-related experiences and engage in pleasureoriented IT systems. Kang, Shin and Ponto (2020) supported this notion by uncovering a positive correlation between playfulness and higher praise of hedonic features of the product. In addition to this, Lin et al. (2022) reported playfulness as having the most significant positive impact on perceived customers' enjoyment. Considering this research results and previous researches findings, more playful users appreciation of hedonic system elements results in gamification triggered higher enjoyment of the system

The	rosults	of	linear	reo	ression	with	nerceived	onio	vmont	as d	onondont	variable
Ine	resuits	ΟJ	unear	reg	ression	wun	perceiveu	enjo	ymeni	us u	epenaeni	variable

Madal	Daguana	Anova ^a					
widdei	r square	df	F	Sig ^b			
1	0.573	1	401.281	0.000b			
a Predictors: (Constant), Playfulness							
b Depende	nt Variable:	Perci	eved Enjoyment				

Table 14

The coefficients^a of linear regression model

Model		Unst Co	andardized efficients	Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.
		В	Std. Error	Beta		
1	(Constant)	1.516	0.18		8.433	0
1	Playfulness	0.746	0.037	0.757	20.032	0
a Dependent Variable: Percieved Enjoyment						

H6. Playfulness has a positive impact on perceived risk of gamified system.

H6 accepted. $R^2=0.139$, F(1)=48.431, p=0. The results of regression indicated that playfulness explained 13,9% of the variance (Table 15). However, playfulness trait was a statistically significant predictor of perceived risk of gamified system (t=6.959, p=0). A positive moderate relation with standardized coefficient β value of 0. 373 were found between playfulness and perceived risk (Table 16). Thus, perceived risk increases with increase of playfulness level.

The findings of prior studies in connection with playfulness and risk relation are contradicting. Purnami and Agus (2021) findings suggested that playfulness impact on behavioral intention is diminished when users perceive high-level of risk of a playing game. In addition to this, individual's playfulness is negatively affected by perceived risk of a game, and vice versa (Purnami and Agus, 2021). On the other hand, Zhao and Renard (2018) reported that playfulness lowers perception of risk and is linked with an increase in behavioral intentions such as game forwarding and personal data sharing (Zhao and Renard, 2018). Considering the research results and prior findings, a possible explanation could be that a cognitive trade-off between enjoyment evoked by participation in gamified system and risk of participating in gamified system. For a playful people, enjoyment from participation is more important than risks this participation might pose.

Table 15

The results of linear regression with perceived risk as dependent variable

Madal	R		Anova	a ^a			
wiodei	square	df	F	Sig ^b			
1	0.139	1	48.431	0.000b			
a Predictors: (Constant), Playfulness							
b Depend	dent Varia	ble:I	Percieved Ris	sk			

Table 16

The coefficients^a of linear regression model

Model		Unst Co	andardized oefficients	Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.
		В	Std. Error	Beta		
1	(Constant)	1.907	0.291		6.55	0
1	Playfulness	0.42	0.06	0.373	6.959	0
a Dependent	Variable: Perc	cieved Risl	K			

Belongingness:

H7. Belongingness has a positive impact on perceived usefulness of the gamified system.

H7 accepted. $R^2=0.314$, F(1)=136.874, p=0 (Table 17). Belongingness is a significant predictor of perceived usefulness (t=11.699, p=0). Positive standardized coefficient β value of 0.56 indicated a moderate positive relationship between belongingness trait and perceived usefulness (Table 18). Thus, as it was predicted, higher level of belongingness predicts the increase in perceived usefulness of the gamified system.

The results of the research are consistent with prior study's findings. The positive relation between sense of belonging (inclusion / acceptance) and perceived usefulness as well as enjoyment of emoticon usage in mobile instant messenger services was revealed by Jung, Kim and Lee (2021). Moreover, Chang and Chen (2020) study revealed that participation in online parenting communities with the aim of parenting knowledge increases a sense of belongingness to a community as well as perceived usefulness. Perceived usefulness found to be more important than perceived enjoyment in terms of system adoption intention for respondents who have a high sense of belonging in the community (Li et al., 2018). Considering the research results and prior studies findings, people with a higher sense of belonging want to contribute to the community and a gamified system might ease the way of doing so.

Table 17

The res	ults c	of linear	regression	with	perceived	usefulness	as de	ependent	variable
Inc res		j incar	regression	<i>w</i> i i i i	perceiveu	usejuness	us uc	penaeni	variable

Model	Daguara	Anova ^a						
Widdei	K Square	df	F	Sig ^b				
1	0.314	1	136.874	0.000^{b}				
a Predictor	a Predictors: (Constant), Belongingness							
b Depende	nt Variable:	Percie	eved Usefulness					

Table 18

The coefficients^a of linear regression model

Model		Unstand Coeff	lardized icients	Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.			
		В	Std. Error	Beta					
1	(Constant)	1.4	0.269		5.198	0			
1	Belongingness	0.616	0.053	0.56	11.699	0			
a Dependent	a Dependent Variable: Percieved Usefulness								

H8. Belongingness has a positive impact on perceived enjoyment of the gamified system.

H9 accepted. R²=0.028, F(1)= 8.736, p<0.05 (Table 21). Belongingness found to be a significant predictor of perceived risk (t=2.956, p<0.05). A standardized coefficient β value of 0.168 indicated a positive but weak relation between belongingness trait and perceived risk (Table 22). Thus, higher level of belongingness was linked to an increase of perceived risk when participating in a gamified system.

Cunningham et al. (2005) imply that contributing to perceived risk factors are performance, physical, social and financial risks. Wong and San Hu (2011) revealed that a hesitation that interferes with organizational spirituality was mostly related to psychological and social risk which encompass risk of negative effect on self-esteem and personal image in the eyes of the community. Importantly, the same study indicated that a sense of belonging was found to act as a buffer against the negative emotions, emotional and behavioral obstacles as well as faced risks Wong and San Hu (2011).

Considering the research results and prior studied findings, due to belongingness trait core values being valuable and respected by others community members, the behavioral intentions that might threaten these values are perceived as high-stakes. Thus, the higher belongingness rate is connected to higher risk perception of engaging in gamified referral marketing programmes.

Table 19

The results of linear regression with perceived enjoyment as dependent variable

Madal	D couomo	Anova ^a							
wiodei	K square	df	F	Sig ^b					
1	0.369	1	174.55	0.000^{b}					
a Predictors: (Constant), Belongingness									
b Depender	nt Variable: I	b Dependent Variable: Percieved Enjoyment							

Table 20

The coefficients^a of linear regression model

Model		Unst Co	andardized efficients	Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.
		B Std. Error		Beta		
1	(Constant)	1.736	0.253		6.849	0
1	Belongingness	0.654	0.05	0.607	13.212	0
a Dependent	Variable: Perciev	ved Enjoyi	ment			

H9. Belongingness has a positive impact on perceived risk of the gamified system.

H9 accepted. R^2 =0.028, F(1)= 8.736, p<0.05 (Table 21). Belongingness found to be a significant predictor of perceived risk (t=2.956, p<0.05). A standardized coefficient β value of 0.168 indicates a positive but weak relation between belongingness trait and perceived risk (Table 22). Thus, higher level of belongingness was linked to an increase of perceived risk when participating in a gamified system.

Cunningham et al. (2005) imply that contributing to perceived risk factors are performance, physical, social and financial risks. Wong and San Hu (2011) revealed that a hesitation that interferes with organizational spirituality was mostly related to psychological and social risk which encompass risk of negative effect on self-esteem and personal image in the eyes of the community. Importantly,

the same study indicated that a sense of belonging was found to act as a buffer against the negative emotions, emotional and behavioral obstacles as well as faced risks Wong and San Hu (2011). Considering the research results and prior studied findings, due to belongingness trait core values being valuable and respected by others community members, the behavioral intentions that might threaten these values are perceived as high-stakes. Thus, the higher belongingness rate is connected to higher risk perception of engaging in gamified referral marketing programmes.

Table 21

The results of linear regression with perceived risk as dependent variable

Madal	R		Anova ^a				
Model	square	df	F	Sig ^b			
1	0.028	1	8.736	0.000^{b}			
a Predictors: (Constant), Belongingness							
b Depend	dent Varia	ble:	Percieved R	Risk			

Table 22

The coefficients^a of linear regression model

Model		Unsta Co	andardized efficients	Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.
			Std. Error	Beta		
1	(Constant)	2.837	0.359		7.909	0
1	Belongingness	0.207	0.07	0.168	2.956	0.003
a Dependent	a Dependent Variable: Percieved Risk					

Risk-aversion:

H10. Risk aversion has positive impact on perceived usefulness of gamified system.

H10 rejected. $R^2=0.091$, F(1)=30.091 p=0. The R^2 value was 0.091 which indicated that only 9.1% of variance can be explained by model (Table 23). However, risk aversion proved to be a statistically significant predictor of perceived usefulness (t=-5.486, p=0). Contrary to the initial hypothesis, that risk aversion has a negative standardized coefficient β value of -0.302 which indicates a negative moderate relation between risk aversion and perceived usefulness (Table 24). Thus, in accordance with the initial hypothesis, more risk-averse respondents perceived gamified system usefulness lower.

The prior research (Casaló, 2015; Xu et al. 2017) revealed that higher perceived usefulness for high risk-averse users are achieved by experts recommendation or opinion, well-known brand names, prior experience and reliability of a service provider. In addition to this, risk-aversion and risk are found to have a negative influence on perceived usefulness on credit cards (Trinh, Tran and Vuong, 2020). A cross-cultural study by Zhang et al. (2018) uncovered that risk-aversion is related to a culture setting a user is in. The study revealed that perceived risk had negatively influenced perceived usefulness of mobile payment in the USA sample than in the China sample (Zhang et al., 2018). Considering the research results and prior study's findings, the source of information or encouragement of an action plays an important role in forming a belief that this action might enhance user performance as well as decrease the perceived risk of an action. Contrary to an initial hypothesis based on prior research results (Leclercq, 2022; Otto, Fleming, Glimcher, 2016; Tan, Chen, 2021), the gamified system usefulness and users risk-aversion trait were found to have a negative correlation. One possible explanation is that a gamified referral brand system does not include elements like brand name or recommendations from other users which could help to create familiarity of service providers and as a result potentially help to achieve higher perceived usefulness.

Table 23

Model	Daguana		Anova	la					
widdei	K square	df	F	Sig ^b					
1	0.091	1	30.091	0.000^{b}					
a Predictors	a Predictors: (Constant), Risk-aversion								
b Depender	nt Variable: I	Percie	ved Usefulness						

The results of linear regression with perceived usefulness as dependent variable

The coefficients^a of linear regression model

М	odel	Unstandardize Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.
		В	Std. Error	Beta		
1	(Constant)	6.002	0.284		21.117	0
1	Risk Aversion	-0.329	0.06	-0.302	-5.486	0
a Dependent Variable: Percieved Usefulness						

H11. Risk aversion has a negative impact on perceived enjoyment of gamified system.

H11 accepted. R^2 =0.206, F(1)= 77.767, p=0 (Table 25). Risk aversion was a statistically significant predictor of perceived usefulness (t=-8.819 p=0). Negative standardized coefficient beta value of -0.454, proved that respondents reporting high level of risk-averse behavior perceives gamified system as less enjoyable. Thus, risk aversion negatively impacted perceived enjoyment. Analysis of regression coefficient showed that risk aversion has a negative standardized coefficient β value of -0.454 which indicates the negative moderate relation between risk-aversion and perceived enjoyment (Table 26). In accordance with an initial hypothesis, more risk-averse respondents perceived a gamified system as less enjoyable.

Gamification of referral marketing programme provide a surprise elements which, according to pleasure paradox, should create excitement even if user is risk-averse and prefer low uncertainty (Wilson, 2005). However, hedonic value of system is recognized only when user is exposed to no or low uncertainty level in a given situation (Xia et al., 2018). Risk-averse users reported to have a much lower likelihood of engaging into activities (Chan et al. 2020) or trust uncertaint price promotions (Tan, Chen, 2021). Study by Zhang, Hou and Li (2020) revealed that uncertainty risk-averse respondents exposed to uncertainty experience intense negative emotional reaction. In addition to this, uncertainty creates a higher perceived risk was found to reduce the pleasure of an activity (Szymkowiak et al. 2021). Considering the research results and prior study's findings, the game elements in non-game context creates a surprise effect which aim is increase enjoyment. On the other hand, users with no prior experience of using gamified system or playing games, might perceive gamification as creating unusual and uncertain recommendation process that they have never encountered before. This could be a possible explanation of negative relation between enjoyment of a system and risk-aversion.

Madal	D squara		Anova ^a						
wiodei	k square	df	F	Sig ^b					
1	0.206	1	77.767	0.000^{b}					
a Predictor	a Predictors: (Constant), Risk-aversion								
b Depende	nt Variable:	Perci	eved Enjoymen	ıt					

The results of linear regression with perceived enjoyment as dependent variable

Model		Unstand Coeff	lardized icients	Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.	
		B Std. Error		Beta			
	(Constant)	7.25	0.261		27.827	0	
1	Risk Aversion	-0.485	0.055	-0.454	-8.819	0	
a Depen	a Dependent Variable: Percieved Enjoyment						

The coefficients^a of linear regression model

H12. Risk aversion has a negative impact on perceived risk.

H12 accepted. R²=0.423, F(1)= 217.55, p=0 (Table 27). Risk aversion was a significant predictor of perceived risk (t=-14.811 p=0). Analysis of regression coefficient showed that risk aversion has a negative standardized coefficient β value of -0.651 which indicated the negative moderate relation between risk-aversion and perceived risk (Table 28). In accordance with the initial hypothesis, respondents who were more risk-averse (got lower score), perceived higher risk of a gamified system compared to respondents who were more risk-tolerant.

The results are consistent with prior studies (Oehler and Wedlich, 2018; Holzmeister et al. 2020) which revealed that more risk averse people tend to perceive investments in assets more risky compared to risk tolerant people. Moreover, risk-aversion found to be a rational benefit of service usage reducing factor (Tanner and Su, 2019). In addition to this, risk-averse people overemphasise risk factors which results in avoidance behavior (Wakker, 2010; Chan, 2020; Im et al., 2021). Considering the research results and prior study's findings, more risk-averse people tend to exaggerate potential risks and oversee rational benefits of a gamified system are potential reasons for higher perceived risk of the system.

The results of linear regression with perceived risk as dependent variable

Madal	Daguana		Anova ^a				
widdei	K square	df	F	Sig ^b			
1	0.423	1	219.364	0.000 ^b			
a Predictors: (Constant), Risk-aversion							

b Dependent Variable: Percieved Risk

Table 28

Model		Unstand Coeffi	lardized icients	Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.
		В	Std. Error	Beta		
	(Constant)	7.528	0.253		29.717	0
1	RiskAverse	-0.792	0.054	-0.651	-14.811	0
a Dependen	t Variable: Per	cieved Risk				

The coefficients^a of linear regression model

Perception of the system:

H13. *Perceived usefulness of gamified system has a positive impact on intention to recommend.*

H13 accepted. R²=0.220, F(1)= 84.37, p=0 (Table 29). Perceived usefulness found to be a significant predictor of intention to recommend (t=9.185 p=0). Positive value of standardized coefficient β value of 0.469 indicated a positive moderate relation between perceived usefulness and intention to recommend (Table 30). In accordance with an initial hypothesis, higher intention to recommend can be achieved by increasing perceived usefulness of the gamified system.

The research results are consistent with prior findings which imply that perceived usefulness is an important factor fostering behavioral intention. A study about gamification usage in promoting mobile payment technology adoption by Wong et al. (2020) revealed that perceived enjoyment had a positive influence on perceived usefulness and as a result intention to adopt technology. Moreover, the same study findings imply that perceived usefulness is a mediator between perceived effectiveness and adoption as well as perceived ease of use and adoption of technology (Wong et al., 2020). In addition to this, perceived usefulness of gamified technology utility was found to have a positive impact on actual use of gamification for training (Vanduhe, Nat and Hasan, 2020). Positive impact of perceived usefulness creates a positive experience while using the system (Casaló, Flavián, and Ibáñez-Sánchez, 2017). For usage of social network (Facebook) perceived usefulness was even more important determinant of intention to use social network than perceived entertainment (Sharma, Joshi, Sharma, 2016). Considering the research results and prior study's findings, perceived

usefulness is one of the most important determinants of behavioral intentions - adoption, recommendation, usage and continued usage of different systems.

Table 29

The results of linear regression with intention to recommend as dependent variable

Madal	D		Anov	a ^a					
wiodei	k square	df	F	Sig ^b					
1	0.22	1	84.37	0.000^{b}					
a Predictor	a Predictors: (Constant), Perceived Usefulness								
b Depende	nt Variable:	Inten	tion to Recom	mend					

Table 30

The coefficients^a of linear regression model

Model		Unsta Coe	ndardized efficients	Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.	
		В	Std. Error	Beta			
1	(Constant)	2.557	0.247		10.372	0	
1	Percieved Usefulness	0.489	0.053	0.469	9.185	0	
a l	a Dependent Variable: Intention to Recommend						

H14. Perceived enjoyment of gamified system has a positive impact on intention to recommend.

H14 accepted. $R^2=0.561$, F(1)=381.698, p=0 (Table 31). Perceived enjoyment was a significant predictor of intention to recommend (t=19.537 p=0). Positive value of standardized coefficient β 0.469 indicated a positive moderate relation between perceived enjoyment and intention to recommend (Table 32). In accordance with an initial hypothesis, higher intention to recommend can be achieved by increasing perceived enjoyment of the gamified system.

The research results are consistent with prior findings. Wong et. al (2021) suggested that perceived enjoyment which is directly linked to attitude enhancement is a sign of a gamification effectiveness. Study by Zhao and Renard (2018) imply that motivation to play games are triggered by intrinsic enjoyment of the game. Games induce a high level of enjoyment, concentration and help to

achieve flow state. Perceived enjoyment and playfulness found to have a positive impact on game forwarding behavior (Zhao and Renard, 2018). In addition to this, perceived enjoyment is found to be a determinant of impulsive purchase intention by Sharma, Joshi and Sharma (2016). Moreover, perceived enjoyment and curiosity were predictors of continued intention to use game applications in social networks (Wu et al., 2018). Hung et al. (2016) proved a greater enjoyment of social networking sites positively affects attitude. A study by Xu, Peak and Prybutok (2015) aimed to identify reasons for mobile app recommendation. Importance of hedonic benefits including app aesthetics and enjoyment be a major predictor of intention to recommend app to others Xu, Peak and Prybutok (2015). Considering the research results and prior study's findings, game elements introduced in referral marketing programmes enforces hedonic value – perceived enjoyment of the gamified system. The perceived enjoyment is proved to be a significant determinant of system adoption, continued usage and recommendation of it to others.

Table 31

The results of linear regression with intention to recommend as dependent variable

Madal	Daguana		Anova ^a						
wiodei	k square	df	F	Sig ^b					
1	0.561	1	381.698	0.000^{b}					
a Predictor	a Predictors: (Constant), Perceived Enjoyment								
b Depende	b Dependent Variable: Intention to Recommend								

Table 32

The coefficients^a of linear regression model

Model		Uns	standardized Coefficients	Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.		
		В	Std. Error	Beta				
1	(Constant)	0.761	0.209		3.637	0		
1	Percieved Enjoyment	0.796	0.041	0.749	19.537	0		
a Depe	a Dependent Variable: Intention to Recommend							

H15. Perceived risk of gamified system has a negative impact on intention to recommend.

H15 rejected. $R^2=0.033$, F(1)=11.351, p=0001. The adjusted R^2 value was 0.033 which indicates that only 3,3% of variance can be explained by model (Table 33). Perceived risk found to be a significant predictor of intention to recommend. A standardized coefficient β value of 0.191

indicated a positive but weak relation between perceived risk of gamified system and intention to recommend (Table 34). In accordance with an initial hypothesis, higher intention to recommend can be achieved by increasing perceived enjoyment of the gamified system.

The research results are consistent with prior findings which imply the negative perceived risk impact on behavioral intention. According to Wong et al. (2020) perceived risk is the biggest obstacle to transforming a favorable attitude into a behavioral intention. Trinh, Tran and Vuong (2020) supported this notion by indicating perceived risk as having the biggest negative impact on intention to use a credit card. In addition to this, perceived risk is found to have a negative impact on brand loyalty (Hasan, Shams and Rahman, 2021). Kaur and Arora (2020) emphasizes the trust-building mechanism creation due to their survey findings that perceived risk and behavioral intention relation is moderated by trust. Considering the research results and prior study's findings, participation in a gamified system might pose perceived risks on personal image as well as performance related (time spent) risks. The negative impact of perceived risk on intention to recommend are consistent with prior research which reported risk as being one of the main barriers converting users' positive attitude towards system to intention to recommend.

Table 33

Madal	Daguana		Anova ^a					
widdei	k square	df	F	Sig ^b				
1	0.037	1	11.351	.001 ^b				
a Predictors	a Predictors: (Constant), Perceived Risk							
b Dependen	t Variable: Ir	itentio	n to Recommend					

The results of linear regression with intention to recommend as dependent variable

The coefficients^a of linear regression model

Model		Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.			
		В	Std. Error	Beta					
1	(Constant)	4.059	0.216		18.777	0			
	Perceived Risk	0.178	0.053	-0.191	3.369	0.001			
a Dependent Variable: Intention to Recommend									

Table 35 depicts the summary of research results by indicating a standardized coefficient β values and direction of impact.

Table 35

	Perceived usefulness	Perceived enjoyment	Perceived risk	Intention to recommend
Materialism	-0.325	-0.325	Not significant p>0.05	
Playfulness	0.613	0.757	0.373	
Belongingness	0.56	0.607	0.168	
Risk-aversion	-0.302	-0.454	-0.651	
Perceived usefulness				0.469
Perceived enjoyment				0.749
Perceived risk				-0.191

The summary of coefficients^a of linear regression model

In line with the conceptual model, the personality traits impacted the perception of the system which as a result was intended to recommend. Perceived enjoyment found to have a largest level of impact ($\beta = 0.749$) on intention to recommend, followed by perceived usefulness ($\beta = 0.469$). In addition to this, perceived enjoyment was indicated as the most influential predictor of intention to recommend. While, perceived risk ($\beta = -191$) found to have a weak negative impact on intention to recommend.

The perception of the system was confirmed to be impacted by personality traits. From the set of 4 personality traits studied in this research, only materialism impact on perceived risk found to be not significant (p>0.05). All other personality traits were found to be significant predictors of perception of the gamified system which consists of perception of usefulness, enjoyment and risk. Playfulness trait found to be the most influential variable in the entire sample with positive impact on all 3 predictors of intention to recommend – perceived usefulness, playfulness and risk (β = 0.613, β = 0.757, β = 0.373, respectively). Belongingness was found to have a moderate positive impact on perceived usefulness, enjoyment and risk (β = 0.56, β = 0.607, β = 0.168, respectively). Nature of belongingness and playfulness positively increases the perception of usefulness and enjoyment which as a result have a positive impact on intention to recommend. Moreover, research data revealed that belongingness and playfulness had a positive correlation with perceived risk of the system which impacts intention to recommend negatively. However, belongingness and playfulness traits effect on risk (β = 0.373, β =0.168, respectively) is less influential than on usefulness and enjoyment.

The two other personality traits - risk-aversion and materialism discovered to be negative predictors of perception of the system. Risk-aversion found to be the most influential variable in terms of negative impact on all 3 predictors of intention to recommend. High-risk aversion was the strongest predictor of negative impact on all 3 predictors of intention to recommend – usefulness (β = -0.302), enjoyment (β = -0.454) and risk (β = -0.652). High risk-averse system users' negative perception of the system results in negative intention to recommend service promoted through this system. Materialism was the second negative predictor of intention to recommend due to the negative impact on perception of the system - usefulness (β = -0.302) and enjoyment (β = -0.454).

5. CONCLUSION AND RECCOMENDATIONS

5.1 Conclusion

Intense competition, fast-changing competition landscape and costs of new client acquisition encouraged business to look for new, more efficient ways to attract customers. One of the ways is the referral marketing programs which encourages current clients to become brand advocates (referrers). Current clients become an intermediary in business to new potential clients' communication process. Loyal clients recommendations lower companies' clients acquisition costs because recommendations by current clients are more trusted by potential clients than advertisements done by company for product or service. To achieve these benefits from loyal clients, businesses face a challenging task to create a well-designed and intention to recommend stimulating referral marketing programs. The challenge consists of understanding and stimulating drivers of intentions to recommend which originates from people's perception of referral marketing programs (system).

In this research, gamification was introduced with the aim to positively impact perception of the referral marketing program by creating a pleasurable, fun-related and flow state promoting experience while recommending VPN service through this gamified system. The simulation of referral marketing programs involved commonly used game elements - leaderboard, points, bonus, progress bar and time manipulation. Thus, the main motivation to apply gamification elements originated from a variety of research (Mattke and Maier, 2021; Mekler et. al, 2017) which proved gamification being a trigger of intrinsic motivation even then people do not have initial motivation for behavioural intention.

The empirical research proved that all the predictors of intention to recommend are significant. As expected, this empirical research proved that perception of the gamified referral marketing system was subjective and impacted by individual traits of referrer. Empirical analysis found that all four personality traits of materialism, playfulness, risk-averse and belongingness have a significant impact on perception of the system – usefulness, playfulness and risk and, as a result, on intention to recommend. It is important to mention that materialism was the only personality trait found to have no significant impact on perceived risk. Perceived usefulness, enjoyment and risk are critical predictors of intention to recommend. The biggest positive influence on intention to recommend had a perceived enjoyment of the system, followed by usefulness. Contrary to the impact of perceived usefulness and enjoyment, high perceived risk decreased the intention to recommend. Thus, the

perceived enjoyment and usefulness enhanced an intention to recommend while perceived risk acted as a barrier for intention to recommend.

Even all of the factors had a significant impact on the intention to recommend. However, the strength and direction of impact differed. This allowed to separate factors in two groups - enhancing the intention to recommend and diminishing intention to recommend. The individual traits enhancing positive perception of the system and as a result intention to recommend are playfulness and belongingness. Research revealed that more playful system users experience fun and highly value game elements in terms of their performance enhancement while recommending a VPN service. As a result, increase in perceived enjoyment and usefulness positively impacts intention to recommend. Similar levels of positive impact on perceived playfulness and usefulness were reported by respondents with a higher sense of belongingness. Even though both traits were found to be sensitive to perceived risk, the gains forecasted from gamified system were higher than perceived losses. The factors diminishing perception of the system and as a result intention to recommend were materialism and risk-averse. Highly risk-averse individuals evaluated gamified system as less useful, enjoyable and potentially causing more losses than gains. Game elements in non-game context creates a surprise effect which, for more risk-averse people, increases perception of risk rather than enjoyment and usefulness. Materialistic people found to value the system negatively in terms of enjoyment and usefulness of the gamified system. Empirical research demonstrated that materialistic nature focuses on seeking gains or rewards as well as activities that enhance self-image, self-esteem and status in society. This implies that game elements in referral marketing program were not enough to generate the stronger effect on intention to recommend for highly materialistic people. Thus, intention to recommend in a gamified referral marketing program (system) was higher by playfulness and belongingness trait posing people, while materialistic personalities and high risk-averse traits posing people reported lower intention to recommend.

This master thesis proved that individual traits are important factors impacting the intention to recommend and should not be overlooked by the companies planning referral marketing programs. Moreover, it emphasises that intention to recommend is not only related to the system used by loyal customers itself, but more to a gamified system fit as a stimulus for motivating different individuals' intentions.

Limitations and further research directions

One of the main research limitations evolves from a research sample because research data represents only respondents from Lithuania, research results are cultural bias and might not be directly applicable in different cultural settings which are more distant from Lithuanian cultural settings. Thus, in the future, it would be worth to carry out studies that focus on different cultures' individual traits and their impact on perception of the gamified referral marketing programs in cross-cultural settings. Moreover, this research does not compare the effect of gamified referral marketing system versus non-gamified system and how gamification presence impacts the perception of the system. In this research, the usage of gamification as an intrinsic motivation trigger to recommend was based on previous research results which proved this positive impact. However, further research could be conducted to study how different individual trait possession impacts the perception of gamified versus non gamified systems. In addition to this, this research does not study individual traits perception on different gamification elements and their effect on intrinsic motivation. Thus, the future research could be conducted to analyze individual traits' impact on perception of different gamification elements.

5.2 Recommendations

Individual traits found to shape intention to recommend in gamified referral marketing programs. Thus, materialism, playfulness, belongingness and risk averse traits should not be overlooked when planning a gamified referral marketing programs. Thus, considering the master thesis results, following recommendations are proposed:

First, companies should test what triggers higher intention of their loyal clients to recommend a service or product - straightforward monetary incentives or gamified process of recommendation that enforces pleasure out of the recommendation process. This could be achieved through different messages or / and gamification elements testing with all loyal clients databases. After all tests are done, the loyal clients database can be segmented according to response to pleasure-oriented or monetary-incentives oriented triggers of intention to recommend. For the pleasure-oriented clients, who might be posing a higher playfulness and belongingness levels, referral marketing programs should include gamification elements to enhance enjoyable and fun experience loyal clients are potentially seeking. On the other hand, for monetary-incentives-oriented loyal clients, a clear and straightforward gain from intention to recommend should be stated. Only gamification of referral marketing programs without any incentives does not trigger intention to recommend loyal clients of highly materialistic nature. Thus, the identification of individual traits allows companies to choose best triggers of intention to recommend and increase the chances of product or service being referred. Second, it is important to develop well-designed and credible gamified referral marketing programs. The main reason is that perceived risk is an important factor reducing intention to recommend even if other intentions to recommend enhancing factors such as enjoyment and usefulness are present. Even loyal clients value enjoyment and pleasure given by gamified referral marketing programs, playfulness, belongingness and high-risk aversion posing loyal clients intention to recommend are impacted by potential risks of the program. The recommendation is not to overcrowd the system with various game elements which might increase confusion and complicate the way people can recommend products or services. Moreover, clear instructions of goals and main rules have to be present at any given time in the system used to recommend a product or service. In addition to this, assessing the loyal clients feedback on referral marketing programs might help to identify the potential seen by clients that business missed when launching referral marketing programs.

LIST OF REFERENCES

Abubakar, A. M., Ilkan, M., Al-Tal, R. M., Eluwole, K. K. (2017). *eWOM, revisit intention, destination trust and gender*. Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management, 31. 220-227 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2016.12.005</u>

Agrifoglio R., Black, S., Metallo C., Ferrara, M. (2012) *Extrinsic versus Intrinsic Motivation in Continued Twitter Usage*, Journal of Computer Information Systems, 53:1, 33-41 p. Internet access: 10.1080/08874417.2012.11645594

Ajzen, I. (2011) *The theory of planned behaviour: Reactions and reflections, Psychology & Health*, 26:9, 1113-1127 p. Internet access: 10.1080/08870446.2011.613995

Akasaki, H., Suzuki, S., Nakajima, K., Yamabe, K., Sakamoto, M., Alexandrova, T., & Nakajima, T. (2016, July). *One size does not fit all: Applying the right game concepts for the right persons to encourage non-game activities*. In International Conference on Human Interface and the Management of Information (pp. 103-114). Springer, Cham. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-40397-7_11</u>

Akbar, P., Mai, R., Hoffmann, S. (2016). *When do materialistic consumers join commercial sharing systems*. Journal of Business Research, 69(10), 4215-4224. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.03.003

Al-Ansi, A., Olya, H. G., Han, H. (2019). *Effect of general risk on trust, satisfaction, and recommendation intention for halal food*. International Journal of Hospitality Management, 83, 210-219 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.10.017</u>

Alba, G. (2021). *The effect of implicit (vs explicit) rejection on the behavioral intentions of online daters*. Online Information Review. PP. 930 – 943 . Internet access: 10.1108/OIR-06-2020-0207

Ali, A., Sherwani, M., Ali, A., Ali, Z., Sherwani, S. (2020). The moderating role of individualism/collectivism and materialism: an application of the theory of planned behavior (*TPB*) in halal food purchasing. Journal of Food Products Marketing, 26(9), 581-599. Internet access: <u>10.1080/10454446.2020.1846148</u>

Allameh, S. M., Pool, J. K., Jaberi, A., Salehzadeh, R., Asadi, H. (2015). *Factors influencing sport tourists' revisit intentions: The role and effect of destination image, perceived quality, perceived*

value and satisfaction. Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics. 191- 201 p. Internet access: 10.1108/APJML-12-2013-0159

Alves, S., Abrantes, J. L., Antunes, M. J., Seabra, C., Herstein, R. (2016). WOM antecedents in backpacker travelers. Journal of Business Research, 69(5), 1851-1856. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.10.068</u>

Alzubaidi, H., Slade, E. L., Dwivedi, Y. K. (2021). *Examining antecedents of consumers' proenvironmental behaviours: TPB extended with materialism and innovativeness.* Journal of Business Research, 122, 685-699. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.01.017</u>

Antón, C., Camarero, C., Rodríguez, J. (2013). Usefulness, enjoyment, and self-image congruence: the adoption of e-book readers. Psychology & Marketing, 30(4), 372-384 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.20612</u>

Aparicio, M., Costa, C. J., Moises, R. (2021). *Gamification and reputation: key determinants of e-commerce usage and repurchase intention*. Heliyon, 7(3), e06383. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e06383</u>

Aren, S., Nayman Hamamci, H. (2020), *Relationship between risk aversion, risky investment intention, investment choices: Impact of personality traits and emotion*, Kybernetes, Vol. 49 No. 11, 2651-2682 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/K-07-2019-0455</u>

Arghashi, V., Yuksel, C. A. (2022). *Interactivity, Inspiration, and Perceived Usefulness! How retailers' AR-apps improve consumer engagement through flow.* Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services, 64, 102756 – 10276 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2021.102756

Aron, A., Norman, C. C., Aron, E. N., McKenna, C., Heyman, R. (2000). *Couples' shared participation in novel and arousing activities and experienced relationship quality*. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 78, 273–284 p. Internet access: 10.1037/0022-3514.78.2.273

Arrow, Kenneth J. (1965). *Aspects of the Theory of Risk Bearing*. Helsinki: Yijo Jahnssonis Saatio. Internet access: <u>https://www.worldcat.org/title/aspects-of-the-theory-of-risk-bearing/oclc/853074</u>

Arslan, G. (2018). *Psychological maltreatment, social acceptance, social connectedness, and subjective well-being in adolescents.* Journal of Happiness Studies, 19(4), 983-1001. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-017-9856-z</u>

Arslan, G., Coskun, M. (2021). Social exclusion, self-forgiveness, mindfulness, and internet addiction in college students: A moderated mediation approach. International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction, 1-15. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-021-00506-1</u>

Ashraf, M., Ahmad, J., Sharif, W., Raza, A. A., Shabbir, M. S., Abbas, M., Thurasamy, R. (2020). *The role of continuous trust in usage of online product recommendations*. Online Information Review. pp. 745-766. Internet access: DOI 10.1108/OIR-05-2018-0156

Audrin, C., Brosch, T., Chanal, J., Sander, D. (2017). *When symbolism overtakes quality: Materialists consumers disregard product quality when faced with luxury brands*. Journal of Economic Psychology, 61, 115-123. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2017.04.001</u>

Awanis, S., Schlegelmilch, B. B., Cui, C. C. (2017). *Asia's materialists: Reconciling collectivism and materialism.* Journal of International Business Studies, 48(8), 964-991. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1057/s41267-017-0096-6

Barata, G., Gama, S., Jorge, J., Gonçalves, D. (2016). *Early prediction of student profiles based on performance and gaming preferences*. IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies, 9(3), 272-284. Internet access: DOI: 10.1109/TLT.2016.2541664

Barnett, L. A. (2007). *The nature of playfulness in young adults*. Personality and individual differences, 43(4), 949-958. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2007.02.018</u>

Barnett, L. A., (2007). *The nature of playfulness in young adults*. Personality and Individual Differences, Volume 43, Issue 4, 2007, 949-958 p., ISSN 0191-8869, Internet access:: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2007.02.018</u>.

Bauer, J. C., Linzmajer, M., Nagengast, L., Rudolph, T., D'Cruz, E. (2020). *Gamifying the digital shopping experience: games without monetary participation incentives increase customer satisfaction and loyalty*. Journal of Service Management. 563 – 595 p. Internet access: DOI 10.1108/JOSM-10-2018-0347

Baumeister, R. F., Leary, M. R. (1995). *The need to belong: Desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation*. Psychological Bulletin, 117(3), 497–529 p.. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.117.3.497

Belk, R. W., Pollay, R. W. (1985). *Materialism and magazine advertising during the twentieth century*. Advances in Consumer Research, 12(1), 394–398 p. Internet access: https://www.acrwebsite.org/volumes/6422/volumes/v12/NA-12

Belk, Russell. (1985). *Materialism: Trait Aspects of Living in the Material World*. Journal of Consumer Research. 12. 265-80. Internet access: 10.1086/208515

Binyamin, S. S., Rutter, M. J., Smith, S. (2018). *The influence of computer self-efficacy and subjective norms on the students' use of learning management systems at King Abdulaziz University*. International Journal of Information and Education Technology, 8(10), 693-699 p.. Internet access: 10.18178/ijiet.2018.8.10.1124

Bittner, J. V., Shipper, J. (2014). *Motivational effects and age differences of gamification in product advertising*. Journal of consumer marketing. Internet access: 10.1108/JCM-04-2014-0945

Blakemore, S. J. (2018). *Avoiding social risk in adolescence. Current directions in psychological science*, 27(2), 116-122 p. Internet access: : <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721417738144</u>

Boakye, K. G., Prybutok, V. R., Ryan, S. D. (2012). *The intention of continued web-enabled phone service usage: A quality perspective*. Operations Management Research, 5(1), 14-24. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12063-012-0062-1</u>

Borges, S.S., Mizoguchi, R., Durelli, V.H.S., Bittencourt, I.I., Isotani, S. (2016). A Link Between Worlds: Towards a Conceptual Framework for Bridging Player and Learner Roles in Gamified Collaborative Learning Contexts. Communications in Computer and Information Science, vol 677. Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-52039-1_2</u>

Bourgeois, K.S., Leary, M.R. (2001). *Coping with Rejection: Derogating Those Who Choose Us Last. Motivation and Emotion*, 25, 101–111 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010661825137

Box, J. M. F. (1983), *Product Quality Assessment by Consumers* — the Role of Product Information, Industrial Management & Data Systems, Vol. 83 No. 3/4, 25-31 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1108/eb057308

Buckley, K. E., Winkel, R. E., Leary, M. R. (2004). *Reactions to acceptance and rejection: Effects of level and sequence of relational evaluation*. Journal of experimental social psychology, 40(1), 14-28. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.05.553</u>

Burke, Peter. (2007). *Identity Control Theory*. Blackwell Encyclopedia of Sociology. Internet access: <u>http://rsp-lab11.ucr.edu/Papers/05d.pdf</u>

Burroughs J. E., Rindfleisch A. (2002) *Materialism and Well-Being: A Conflicting Values Perspective*. Journal of Consumer Research, Vol. 29, No. 3. 348-370 P. Internet access: http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1086/344429

C.H. Su, C.H. Cheng. (2015). A mobile gamification learning system for improving the learning motivation and achievements. Journal of Computer Assisted Learning, 31 (3) (2015), 268-286 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12088</u>

Cameron J.J., Stinson D.A. (2017) *Sociometer Theory*. Encyclopedia of Personality and Individual Differences, Springer, Cham. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28099-8_1187-1</u>

Candido C. F., Morris D. S. (2000) *Charting service quality gaps*, Total Quality Management, 11:4-6, 463-472 p., Internet access: DOI 10.1080/09544120050007779

Cao, Z., Chu, J., Hui, K. L., Xu, H. (2021). *The Relationship Between Online Referral Marketing and Price Promotion: Evidence from a Large E-Commerce Platform*. Journal of Management Information Systems. Internet access: <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=3821266</u>

Carbonneau N, Vallerand RJ, Lafrenière MA. (2012) *Toward a tripartite model of intrinsic motivation*. J Pers. Oct; 80(5): 1147-78 p. Internet access: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.2011.00757.x

Carl, W. (1994). *Flow-a theory of optimal experience: history and critical evaluation*. Theories of. 3-8 p. Internet access: <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/summary?doi=10.1.1.93.4724</u>

Casaló, L. V., Flavián, C., Guinalíu, M., Ekinci, Y. (2015). Avoiding the dark side of positive online consumer reviews: Enhancing reviews' usefulness for high risk-averse travelers. Journal

of Business Research, 68(9), 1829-1835. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.01.010

Casaló, L. V., Flavián, C., Ibáñez-Sánchez, S. (2017). *Antecedents of consumer intention to follow and recommend an Instagram account*. Online Information Review. pp. 1046-1063. Internet access: DOI 10.1108/OIR-09-2016-0253

Cathy S. Lin, Sheng Wu, Ray J. (2005). *Tsai, Integrating perceived playfulness into expectationconfirmation model for web portal context*. Information & Management. Volume 42, Issue 5. 2005. Pages 683-693. ISSN 0378-7206,. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2004.04.003.

Chan, H. F., Skali, A., Savage, D. A., Stadelmann, D., Torgler, B. (2020). *Risk attitudes and human mobility during the COVID-19 pandemic*. Scientific reports, 10(1), 1-13. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-76763-2

Chan, H. F., Skali, A., Savage, D. A., Stadelmann, D., Torgler, B. (2020). *Risk attitudes and human mobility during the COVID-19 pandemic*. Scientific reports, 10(1), 1-13. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-76763-2

Chang, C. C., Chin, Y. C. (2010). *The impact of recommendation sources on online purchase intentions: The moderating effects of gender and perceived risk*. World Academy of Science, Engineering and Technology, 66, 111-114. Internet access: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.1006.5251&rep=rep1&type=pdf

Chang, I., Chen, R. S. (2020). *The impact of perceived usefulness on satisfaction with online parenting resources: The mediating effects of liking and online interaction*. The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher, 29(4), 307-317. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.53761/1.18.4.2</u>

Chao, C. M. (2019). Factors determining the behavioral intention to use mobile learning: An application and extension of the UTAUT model. Frontiers in psychology, 10, 1652 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01652</u>

Chen, R. P., Wan, E. W., Levy, E. (2017). *The effect of social exclusion on consumer preference for anthropomorphized brands*. Journal of Consumer Psychology, 27(1), 23–34. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcps.2016.05.004

Chen, Y. (2018). *The roles of prevention messages, risk perception, and benefit perception in predicting binge drinking among college students.* Health Communication, 33(7), 877–886 p.. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2017.1321161

Chiu, Y. L., Chen, L. J., Du, J., Hsu, Y. T. (2018). *Studying the relationship between the perceived value of online group-buying websites and customer loyalty: The moderating role of referral rewards*. Journal of Business & industrial marketing. 211 – 225 p. Internet access: <u>10.1108/JBIM-03-2017-0083</u>

Chu, S. Ch., Kim Y. (2011) *Determinants of consumer engagement in electronic word-of-mouth* (*eWOM*) *in social networking sites*, International Journal of Advertising, 30:1, 47-75 p., Internet access: <u>10.2501/IJA-30-1-047-075</u>

Civitci A., (2015). *Perceived Stress and Life Satisfaction in College Students: Belonging and Extracurricular Participation as Moderators*, Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, Volume 205, 2015, ISSN 1877-0428, 275-281 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.09.077.

Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1987). *The flow experience*. In M. Eliade (Ed.), The Encyclopedia of Religion (Vol. 5, New York: Macmillan. 361-363 p. Internet access: https://www.worldcat.org/title/encyclopedia-of-religion/oclc/13137882

Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1990). *Flow, the psychology of optimal experience*. Harper & Row Publishers Inc, New York. Internet access: <u>https://www.worldcat.org/title/flow-the-psychology-of-optimal-experience/oclc/20392741</u>

Csikszentmihalyi, M., Rochberg-Halton, E. (1981). *The Meaning of Things: Domestic Symbols and the Self.* 1-12 p. Internet access: DOI 10.2307/2067526

Cunningham, L., Gerlach, J., Harper, M., Young, C. (2005). *Perceived risk and the consumer buying process: Internet airline reservations*. International Journal of Service Industry Management, 16(4), 357-372. Internet access: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/09564230510614004</u>

Dahabiyeh, L., Najjar, M. S., & Agrawal, D. (2020). *The effect of risk levels on technology adoption decision: the case of online games.* Information Technology & People. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-09-2019-0455</u>

Dahabiyeh, L., Najjar, M. S., Agrawal, D. (2020). *The effect of risk levels on technology adoption decision: the case of online games*. Information Technology & People. Internet access: https://www.emerald.com/insight/0959-3845.htm

Dahabiyeh, L., Najjar, M. S., Agrawal, D. (2020). *The effect of risk levels on technology adoption decision: the case of online games*. Information Technology & People. Internet access: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/343264696_The_effect_of_risk_levels_on_technology_adoption_decision_the_case_of_online_games

Davis, F. D. (1989). *Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology*. Management Information Systems Quarterly, 13(3), 319–340 p. . Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/249008</u>

Davis, F. D., Bagozzi, R. P., Warshaw, P. R. (1989). User acceptance of computer technology: A comparison of two theoretical models. Management Science, 35(8), 982–1002 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.35.8.982</u>

Davis, F. D., Bagozzi, R. P., & Warshaw, P. R. (1992). *Extrinsic and intrinsic motivation to use computers in the workplace 1*. Journal of applied social psychology, 22(14), 1111-1132 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.1992.tb00945.x

Deci, E. L., Ryan, R. M. (1985). *The general causality orientations scale: Self-determination in personality*. Journal of research in personality, 19(2), 109-134 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-6566(85)90023-6

Demiray, M., Burnaz, S. (2019). *Exploring the impact of brand community identification on Facebook: Firm-directed and self-directed drivers*. Journal of Business Research, 96, 115-124. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.11.016

Den Hartog, D. N., De Hoogh, A. H., Keegan, A. E. (2007). *The interactive effects of belongingness and charisma on helping and compliance*. Journal of Applied Psychology, 92(4), 1131–1139 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.92.4.1131</u>

Den Hartog, D. N., De Hoogh, A. H., Keegan, A. E. (2007). *The interactive effects of belongingness and charisma on helping and compliance*. Journal of Applied Psychology, 92(4), 1131. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.92.4.1131</u>

Dittmar, H., Bond, R., Hurst, M., Kasser, T. (2014). The Relationship Between Materialism andPersonal Well-Being: A Meta-Analysis. Journal of personality and social psychology. 107. 879-924p..Internetaccess:https://www.researchgate.net/publication/267743492The Relationship Between Materialismand Personal Well-Being A Meta-Analysis

Donnelly, G. E., Ksendzova, M., Howell, R. T., Vohs, K. D., Baumeister, R. F. (2016). *Buying to blunt negative feelings: Materialistic escape from the self.* Review of General Psychology,20(3), 272–316 p.. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1037/gpr0000078

Dose, D.B., Walsh, G., Beatty, S.E. (2019). Unintended reward costs: the effectiveness of customer referral reward programs for innovative products and services. J. of the Acad. Mark. Sci. 47, 438–459p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-019-00635-z

Dowling, G. R. (1986). *Perceived risk: The concept and its measurement*. Psychology & Marketing, 3(3), 193–210 p. Internet access: https://doi. Org/10.1002/mar.4220030307

Eckersley, R. (2006). *Is modern Western culture a health hazard?* International Journal of Epidemiology, 35(2), 252–258. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyi235</u>

Emanuelsson, S., Marling, H. (2012). *The Markowitz Portfolio Theory*. Internet access: https://docplayer.net/37620032-The-markowitz-portfolio-theory.html

Estriegana, R., Medina-Merodio, J. A., Barchino, R. (2019). *Student acceptance of virtual laboratory and practical work: An extension of the technology acceptance model*. Computers & Education, 135, 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2019.02.010</u>

Farzin, M., Fattahi, M. (2018). *eWOM through social networking sites and impact on purchase intention and brand image in Iran*. Journal of Advances in Management Research. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1108/JAMR-05-2017-0062

Ferguson, M. A., Valenti, J. M., Melwani, G. (1991). *Communicating with risk takers: A public relations perspective*. Journal of Public Relations Research, 3(1–4), 195–224 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1207/s1532754xjprr0301-4_10

Fernandes, F. T., Junior, P. T. A. (2016, July). *Gamification aspects in the context of electronic government and education: A case study.* In International Conference on HCI in Business,
Government, and Organizations (pp. 140-150). Springer, Cham. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-39399-5_14

Ferreira, A., Silva, G. M., Dias, Á. L. (2021). *Determinants of continuance intention to use mobile self-scanning applications in retail*. International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQRM-02-2021-0032</u>

Figner B, Weber EU. (2011) *Who Takes Risks When and Why?: Determinants of Risk Taking*. Current Directions in Psychological Science. 20(4), 211-216 p.. Internet access: 10.1177/0963721411415790

Ford, M. B., Collins, N. L. (2013). *Self-esteem moderates the effects of daily rejection on health and well-being*. Self and Identity, 12(1), 16-38 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1080/15298868.2011.625647

Gailliot, M. T., Baumeister, R. F. (2007). *Self-esteem, belongingness, and worldview validation: Does belongingness exert a unique influence upon self-esteem?*. Journal of Research in Personality, 41(2), 327-345 p.. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2006.04.004</u>

Gantenbein, P., Kind, A., & Volonté, C. (2019). *Individualism and venture capital: A cross-country study*. Management International Review, 59(5), 741-777. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11575-019-00394-7

Gao, W., Liu, Z., Li, J. (2017). *How does social presence influence SNS addiction? A belongingness theory perspective*. Computers in Human Behavior, 77, 347-355 p.. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.09.002</u>

García-Jurado, A., Castro-González, P., Torres-Jiménez, M., Leal-Rodríguez, A. L. (2019). *Evaluating the role of gamification and flow in e-consumers: millennials versus generation X.* Kybernetes. 1278 – 1295 p.. Internet access: 10.1108/K-07-2018-0350

Garcia-Jurado, A., Castro-Gonzalez, P., Torres-Jimenez, M., Leal-Rodriguez, A. L. (2018). *Evaluating the role of gamification and flow in e-consumers: millennials versus generation X.* Kybernetes. Internet access: <u>www.emeraldinsight.com/0368-492X.htm</u>

George, A., Joy, M. M., Sajid, M. (2022). Understanding the Intention to Use Virtual Currency in a Gamified E-Commerce Context. International Journal of Online Marketing (IJOM), 12(1), 1-

14.DOI:10.4018/IJOM.288425.Internetaccess:https://www.igi-global.com/gateway/article/full-text-pdf/288425&riu=true

Geraerts, E., Bernstein, D.M., Merckelbach, H., Linders, C., Raymaeckers, L., Loftus, E.F. (2008). *Lasting false beliefs and their behavioral consequences*. Psychological Science, 19, 749–753 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008.02151.x

Gerdenitsch, C., Sellitsch, D., Besser, M., Burger, S., Stegmann, C., Tscheligi, M., Kriglstein, S. (2020). *Work gamification: Effects on enjoyment, productivity and the role of leadership*. Electronic Commerce Research and Applications, Volume 43, 2020, 100994, pages 1 – 10. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.elerap.2020.100994</u>.

Ghosh, S., Gaurav, K., Bhattacharya, S. et al. (2020) *Ensuring the spread of referral marketing campaigns: a quantitative treatment*. Sci Rep 10, 11072. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-67895-6

Gilal, F. G., Paul, J., Gilal, N. G., Gilal, R. G. (2021). *The role of organismic integration theory in marketing science: A systematic review and research agenda*. European Management Journal. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2021.02.001</u>

González-Briones, A., Valdeolmillos, D., Casado-Vara, R., Chamoso, P., García Coria, J. A., Herrera-Viedma, E., Corchado, J. M. (2018). *Garbmas: Simulation of the application of gamification techniques to increase the amount of recycled waste through a multi-agent system*. In International symposium on distributed computing and artificial intelligence, pp. 332-343. Internet access: https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-94649-8_40

González-Soriano, F. J., Feldman, P. S. M., Rodríguez-Camacho, J. A. (2020). *Effect of social identity on the generation of electronic word-of-mouth (eWOM) on Facebook*. Cogent Business & Management, 7(1), 1738201, 1 – 15 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2020.1738201</u>

Gozdecki, J., Jajszczyk, A., Stankiewicz, R. (2003). *Quality of service terminology in IP networks*. IEEE communications magazine, 41(3), 153-159 p. Internet access: <u>10.1109/MCOM.2003.1186560</u> Grabner-Kräuter, S., Kaluscha, E. A. (2003). *Empirical research in on-line trust: a review and critical assessment*. International journal of human-computer studies, 58(6), 783-812. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1071-5819(03)00043-0</u>

Gratz, K. L., Tull, M. T., Richmond, J. R., Edmonds, K. A., Scamaldo, K. M., Rose, J. P. (2020). *Thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness explain the associations of COVID-19 social and economic consequences to suicide risk*. Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior, 50(6), 1140-1148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12654</u>

Grönroos, C. (1984), *A Service Quality Model and its Marketing Implications*, European Journal of Marketing, Vol. 18 No. 4, 36-44 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1108/EUM000000004784

Guiso, L., Paiella, M. (2004), *The Role of Risk Aversion in Predicting Individual Behaviors*. 1-22 p. Internet access: <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=608262</u>

Ha, S., Stoel, L. (2009). *Consumer e-shopping acceptance: Antecedents in a technology acceptance model*. Journal of business research, 62(5), 565-571 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2008.06.016

Hamari, J. (2013). *Transforming homo economicus into homo ludens: A field experiment on gamification in a utilitarian peer-to-peer trading service*. Electronic Commerce Research and Applications, Volume 12, Issue 4, 2013, Pages 236-245 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.elerap.2013.01.004</u>.

Hamari, J., & Koivisto, J. (2013, June). *Social Motivations To Use Gamification: An Empirical Study Of Gamifying Exercise*. In ECIS, Vol. 105, No. 5, 18-19p. Internet access: https://dlwqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/31033378/2013-social_motivations_to_use_gamification-preprint-with-cover-page-

v2.pdf?Expires=1653940389&Signature=EqQnRImkUM4npIUeFetNcY76tf-

oc5AZ~Lj5ul3RtHAeQYHOcpggnbgzDar0JEg5bfrcpiF-gMcnOeiHKuJI-cyynDQms5LbBjw7MCX3YYeeHG3Mt1t9NGJbhxDVDhSHuI0TRBZooaz~8xw8Vn7XBQWUbTUEeOOjLSK n1DIgPpyxBA7VdMd8n-

pgCWy~U5CU9TWrvDITBeyHOdn7LIiKb8U0dL966X2qSxu4iBU0t8PZFERyD6w5D8A-1g3NRXesr3VqyRebAjEYLG2ZDShwg-K3s8YMjXo8K5s853vUUGW72B-

tKU77XyjNvZxrar69wq62cpFB6A8L1RJEPhj7A_&Key-Pair-Id=APKAJLOHF5GGSLRBV4ZA

Hamari, J., Koivisto, J. (2015). "Working out for likes": An empirical study on social influence in exercise gamification. Computers in Human Behavior, 50, 333-347 p.. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.04.018

Hamari, J., Koivisto, J., Sarsa, H. (2014). *Does gamification work? A literature review of empirical studies on gamification*. In 2014 47th Hawaii international conference on system sciences 3025-3034p. Ieee. Internet access: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/stamp/stamp.jsp?arnumber=6758978

Hansen, J.M., Saridakis, G. and Benson, V. (2018). *Risk, trust, and the interaction of perceived ease of use and behavioral control in predicting consumers' use of social media for transactions.*, Computers in Human Behavior, Vol. 80, pp. 197-206. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.11.010</u>

Hanus, M. D., Fox, J. (2015). Assessing the effects of gamification in the classroom: A longitudinal study on intrinsic motivation, social comparison, satisfaction, effort, and academic performance, Computers & Education, Volume 80, 152-161 p.. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2014.08.019.

Hars, A., Ou, S. (2002). Working for Free? Motivations for Participating in Open-Source Projects. International Journal of Electronic Commerce, 6(3), 25–39 p.. Internet access: http://www.jstor.org/stable/27751021

Harteveld, Sutherland, S. C. (2017, March). *Personalized gaming for motivating social and behavioral science participation*. In Proceedings of the 2017 ACM workshop on theory-informed user modeling for tailoring and personalizing interfaces (pp. 31-38). Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3039677.3039681</u>

Harwood, T. and Garry, T. (2015), *An investigation into gamification as a customer engagement experience environment*, Journal of Services Marketing, Vol. 29 No. 6/7, pp. 533-546 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JSM-01-2015-0045</u>

Harwood, T., Garry, T. (2015). An investigation into gamification as a customer engagement experience environment. Journal of Services Marketing. Internet access: <u>10.1108/JSM-01-2015-0045</u>

Hasan, R., Shams, R., Rahman, M. (2021). *Consumer trust and perceived risk for voicecontrolled artificial intelligence: The case of Siri*. Journal of Business Research, 131, 591-597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.12.012

Hofstede, G. (2001). *Culture's consequences: Comparing values, behaviors, institutions and organizations across nations*. Sage publications. Internet access: https://books.google.lt/books?id=w6z18LJ_1VsC&dq=Hofstede,+G.+(2001).+Culture%27s+co https://scatters.comparing+values,+behaviors,+institutions+and+organizations+across+nations.+ https://scatters.comparing+values,+behaviors,+institutions+and+organizations+across+nations.+ https://scatters.comparing+values,+behaviors,+institutions+and+organizations+across+nations.+ https://scatters.comparing+values,+behaviors,+institutions+and+organizations+across+nations.+ https://scatters.comparing-values,+behaviors,+institutions+and+organizations+across+nations.+

Hollebeek, L. D., Das, K., Shukla, Y. (2021). *Game on! How gamified loyalty programs boost customer engagement value*. International Journal of Information Management. Volume 61, 102308, 1-7 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2021.102308.

Holzmeister, F., Huber, J., Kirchler, M., Lindner, F., Weitzel, U., Zeisberger, S. (2020). *What drives risk perception? A global survey with financial professionals and laypeople*. Management Science, 66(9), 3977-4002. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.2019.3526</u>

Hong, H., Kim, H. S., Lennon, S. J. (2018). *The effects of perceived quality and usefulness of consumer reviews on review reading and purchase intention*. Journal of Consumer Satisfaction, Dissatisfaction and Complaining Behavior, 31, 71-89. Internet access: https://www.jcsdcb.com/index.php/JCSDCB/article/view/288

Hsiao, K. L., Shu, Y., Huang, T. C. (2017). *Exploring the effect of compulsive social app usage on technostress and academic performance: Perspectives from personality traits*. Telematics and Informatics, 34(2), 679-690.

Hsu, C. H., Chen, M. (2008) *How gamification marketing activities motivate desirable consumer behaviors: Focusing on the role of brand love*. Computers in Human Behavior, Vol. 88, 121-133 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2018.06.037</u>

Huang, P. L., Lee, B. C., Chen, C. C. (2019). The influence of service quality on customer satisfaction and loyalty in B2B technology service industry. Total Quality Management &

Business Excellence, 30(13-14), 1449-1465 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2017.1372184

Hudders, L., Pandelaere, M. (2012). *The silver lining of materialism: The impact of luxury consumption on subjective well-being*. Journal of happiness studies, 13(3), 411-437. Internet access: <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10902-011-9271-9</u>

Hung, S. Y., Tsai, J. C. A., Chou, S. T. (2016). *Decomposing perceived playfulness: A contextual examination of two social networking sites*. Information & management, 53(6), 698-716. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2016.02.005

Hunicke, R., LeBlanc, M., Zubek, R. (2004). *MDA: A formal approach to game design and game research*. In Proceedings of the AAAI Workshop on Challenges in Game AI (Vol. 4, No. 1, p. 1722). Internet access: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228884866_MDA_A_Formal_Approach_to_Game_D esign_and_Game_Research

Huotari, K., Hamari, J. (2012). *Defining Gamification - A Service Marketing Perspective*. ACM J. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/2393132.2393137</u>

Hwang, J., Choi, L. (2020). *Having fun while receiving rewards?: Exploration of gamification in loyalty programs for consumer loyalty*. Journal of Business Research, 106, 365-376 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.01.031</u>

Ibanez, M. B., Di-Serio, A., Delgado-Kloos, C. (2014). *Gamification for engaging computer science students in learning activities: A case study.* IEEE Transactions on learning technologies, 7(3), 291-301 p. Internet access: <u>10.1109/TLT.2014.2329293</u>

Im, J., Kim, J., Choeh, J. Y. (2021). *COVID-19, social distancing, and risk-averse actions of hospitality and tourism consumers: A case of South Korea.* Journal of Destination Marketing & Management, 20, 100566. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdmm.2021.100566</u>

Jiang, J., Zhang, Y., Ke, Y., Hawk, S. T., Qiu, H. (2015). *Can't buy me friendship? Peer rejection and adolescent materialism: Implicit self-esteem as a mediator*. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 58, 48-55 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2015.01.001</u>

Jin, L., Huang, Y. (2014) When giving money does not work: The differential effects of monetary versus in-kind rewards in referral reward programs. International Journal of Research in

Marketing, Volume 31, Issue 1, 2014, 107-116p. ISSN 0167-8116, Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijresmar.2013.08.005.

Jin, L., Huang, Y. (2013). When giving money does not work: The differential effects of monetary versus in-kind rewards in referral reward programs. International Journal of Research in Marketing. 31. Internet access: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2315011</u>

Jin, S. A. A. (2012). "Toward integrative models of flow": Effects of performance, skill, challenge, playfulness, and presence on flow in video games. Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media, 56(2), 169-186. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1080/08838151.2012.678516

Duan J. (2020). *Materialism and purchase-evoked happiness: A moderated mediation model of purchase type and purchase's impact on self,* Journal of Global Scholars of Marketing Science, 30:2, 170-187, Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1080/21639159.2019.1700150

Jung, B., Kim, H., Lee, S. H. S. (2021). *The impact of belongingness and graphic-based emoticon usage motives on emoticon purchase intentions for MIM: an analysis of Korean KakaoTalk users*. Online Information Review. Internet access: DOI 10.1108/OIR-02-2020-0036

Jung, J., Bapna, R., Golden, J. M., & Sun, T. (2020). *Words Matter! Toward a Prosocial Call-to-Action for Online Referral: Evidence from Two Field Experiments*. Information Systems Research, 31(1), 16-36 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.2019.0873</u>

Junior, R., Silva, F. (2021). Redefining the MDA Framework—The Pursuit of a Game Design Ontology. Information, 12(10), 395. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/info12100395</u>

Kang, H. J., Shin, J. H., Ponto, K. (2020). *How 3D virtual reality stores can shape consumer purchase decisions: the roles of informativeness and playfulness*. Journal of Interactive Marketing, 49, 70-85. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intmar.2019.07.002</u>

Kapp, K. M. (2012) *The Gamification of Learning and Instruction: Game-based Methods and Strategies for Training and Education*, Pfeiffer, San Francisco. Internet access: <u>https://books.google.lt/books?hl=lt&lr=&id=M2Rb9ZtFxccC&oi=fnd&pg=PR12&dq=Kapp,+K</u> <u>.+M.+(2012)+The+Gamification+of+Learning+and+Instruction:+Game-</u>

based+Methods+and+Strategies+for+Training+and+Education,+Pfeiffer,+San+Francisco&ots=J yOe578EaM&sig=7C9E0POo191yfHDY1qKmbrRwwfQ&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q=Kapp% 2C%20K.%20M.%20(2012)%20The%20Gamification%20of%20Learning%20and%20Instructi on%3A%20Game-

<u>based%20Methods%20and%20Strategies%20for%20Training%20and%20Education%2C%20P</u> feiffer%2C%20San%20Francisco&f=false

Karabati, S., Cemalcilar, Z. (2010). Values, materialism, and well-being: A study with Turkish university students. Journal of Economic Psychology, 31(4), 624-633. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2010.04.007</u>

Kasser, T. Domagalski, T. (2004). *The High Price of Materialism*. The Academy of Management Review. 29. 135 – 137 p. Internet access: 10.2307/20159018.

Kasser, T., Ryan, R.M. (1996), *Further examining the American dream: Differential correlates of intrinsic and extrinsic goals*, Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, Vol. 22, No. 3, 280-287 p.. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167296223006</u>

Kaur, S., Arora, S. (2020). *Role of perceived risk in online banking and its impact on behavioral intention: trust as a moderator*. Journal of Asia Business Studies, 15(1), p1-30. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JABS-08-2019-0252</u>

Kawamoto, T., Ura, M., Nittono, H. (2015). *Intrapersonal and interpersonal processes of social exclusion*. Frontiers in Neuroscience, 9, 62. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2015.00062</u>

Ke, C. H., Sun, H. M., Yang, Y. C. (2012). Effects of User and System Characteristics on Perceived Usefulness and Perceived Ease of Use of the Web-Based Classroom Response System. Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology-TOJET, 11(3), 128-143p.. Internet access: <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ989206</u>

Khalilzadeh, J., Ozturk, A. B., Bilgihan, A. (2017). *Security-related factors in extended UTAUT model for NFC based mobile payment in the restaurant industry*. Computers in Human Behavior. 70, 460–474 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.01.001</u>

Kim, B. (2015). Game mechanics, dynamics, and aesthetics. Library technology reports, 51(2), 17-19. Internet access: <u>https://journals.ala.org/index.php/ltr/article/view/5630</u>

Kim, H. B., Kim, T. T., Shin, S. W. (2009). *Modeling roles of subjective norms and eTrust in customers' acceptance of airline B2C eCommerce websites*. Tourism management, 30(2), 266-277. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2008.07.001

Kim, S. S., Son, J. Y. (2009). Out of dedication or constraint? A dual model of post-adoption phenomena and its empirical test in the context of online services. MIS quarterly, 49-70. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/20650278</u>

Kim, S. S., Choe, J. Y. J., Petrick, J. F. (2018). *The effect of celebrity on brand awareness, perceived quality, brand image, brand loyalty, and destination attachment to a literary festival.* Journal of Destination Marketing & Management, 9, 320-329 p.. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdmm.2018.03.006</u>

Kim, T. H., Ko, Y. J., Park, C. M. (2013). *The influence of event quality on revisit intention: Gender difference and segmentation strategy*. Managing Service Quality: An International Journal. 205 - 219 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09604521311312237</u>

Klock, A. C. T., Gasparini, I., Pimenta, M. S., Hamari, J. (2020). *Tailored gamification: A review of literature*. International Journal of Human-Computer Studies, 144, 102495. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhcs.2020.102495</u>

Koivisto, J., Hamari, J. (2019). *The rise of motivational information systems: A review of gamification research*. International Journal of Information Management, 45, 191-210p.. Internet access: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0268401217305169</u>

Koivisto, J., Hamari, J. (2014). *Demographic differences in perceived benefits from gamification*. Computers in Human Behavior, Volume 35, 179-188p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.03.007.

Konuk, F. A. (2018). *The role of store image, perceived quality, trust and perceived value in predicting consumers' purchase intentions towards organic private label food.* Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services, 43, 304-310 p. Internet access:: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2018.04.011

Kose, D. B., Morschheuser, B., Hamari, J. (2019). *Is it a tool or a toy? How user's conception of a system's purpose affects their experience and use*. International Journal of Information Management, 49, 461-474. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.07.016</u>

Kramarczyk, J., Alemany Oliver, M. (2020). Accumulative vs. appreciative expressions of materialism: Revising materialism in light of polish simplifiers and new materialism. Journal of Business Ethics, 1-19. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-020-04628-9

Kucukemiroglu, S., Kara, A. (2015). *Online word-of-mouth communication on social networking sites: An empirical study of Facebook users*. International journal of commerce and management. 2 – 20 p.. Internet access: 10.1108/IJCoMA-11-2012-0070

Kumar V., Petersen J. A., Leone R.P. (2010) *Driving Profitability by Encouraging Customer Referrals: Who, When, and How.* Journal of Marketing. 74(5):1-17. Internet access: 10.1509/jmkg.74.5.001

Kusuma, G. P., Wigati, E. K., Utomo, Y., Suryapranata, L. K. P. (2018). *Analysis of gamification models in education using MDA framework*. Procedia Computer Science, 135, 385-392. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2018.08.187

L. Xia, J. Lei, M. Geuens, M. Pandelaere, M.T. Pham (2018), *E-European Advances in Consumer Research*, 11, Association for Consumer Research, Duluth, pp. 154-155.

Lai, D. C. F., Lai, I. K. W., Jordan, E. (2009). *An extended UTAUT model for the study of negative user adoption behaviours of mobile commerce*. In Proceedings of the Ninth International Conference on Electronic Business (720-727 p.). Internet access: <u>http://iceb.johogo.com/proceedings/2009/720-728.pdf</u>

Lambert, N. M., Stillman, T. F., Hicks, J. A., Kamble, S., Baumeister, R. F., & Fincham, F. D. (2013). *To belong is to matter: Sense of belonging enhances meaning in life*. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 39(11), 1418-1427 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167213499186

Landers, R., Bauer, K. N., Callan, R. C. (2017). *Gamification of task performance with leaderboards: A goal setting experiment*. Computers in Human Behavior, Volume 71, 508-515 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.08.008</u>.

Lantos, G. P. (2015). *Consumer behavior in action: Real-life applications for marketing managers*. Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315705439</u>

Larsen, V. M. Sirgy, J., Wright, N. D. (1999), *Materialism: The Construct, Measures, Antecedents, and Consequences*. Academy of Marketing Studies Journal, Vol. 3, No. 2, 75-107 p.

Internet

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/284187724_Larsen_Val_M_Joseph_Sirgy_and_Newel <u>1 D_Wright_1999_Materialism_The_Construct_Measures_Antecedents_and_Consequences_Ac</u> <u>ademy_of_Marketing_Studies_Journal_Vol_3_No_2_75-107</u>

Lavoué, E., Monterrat, B., Desmarais, M., & George, S. (2018). Adaptive gamification for learning environments. IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies, 12(1), 16-28. Internet access: DOI: <u>10.1109/TLT.2018.2823710</u>

Leary M., Baumeister R.F, (2000). *The nature and function of self-esteem: Sociometer theory*. Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, Academic Press, Volume 32, 1-62 p. . Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(00)80003-9</u>.

Leary, M. R. (2021). *The need to belong, the sociometer, and the pursuit of relational value: Unfinished business.* Self and Identity, 20(1), 126-143. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15298868.2020.1779120</u>

Leary, M. R., Kelly, K. M., Cottrell, C. A., Schreindorfer, L. S. (2013). *Construct validity of the need to belong scale: Mapping the nomological network*. Journal of personality assessment, 95(6), 610-624 p. . Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00223891.2013.819511</u>

Leclercq, T. (2022). *No pain, no gain! The uncertainty-to-win effect on customer experience quality through gamified interaction*. Recherche et Applications en Marketing (English Edition), 20515707221078210. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/20515707221078210</u>

Lee, J. A., Sudarshan, S., Sussman, K. L., Bright, L. F., Eastin, M. S. (2022). *Why are consumers following social media influencers on Instagram? Exploration of consumers' motives for following influencers and the role of materialism*. International Journal of Advertising, 41(1), 78-100. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02650487.2021.1964226</u>

Lee, S. M., Chen, L. (2010). *The Impact of Flow on Online Consumer Behavior*, Journal of Computer Information Systems, 50:4, 1-10 p. Internet access: 10.1080/08874417.2010.11645425

Li, R., Huang, Q., Chen, X., Zheng, B., Liu, H. (2018, January). Understanding the Adoption of Smart Community Services: Perceived Usefulness, Enjoyment, and Affective Community *Commitment*. In Proceedings of the 51st Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences. http://hdl.handle.net/10125/50203

Lieberman, J. N., (1965). *Playfulness and Divergent Thinking: An Investigation of their Relationship at the Kindergarten Level*, The Journal of Genetic Psychology, 107:2, 219-224 p. Internet access: <u>10.1080/00221325.1965.10533661</u>

Lin, H. F. (2008). *Determinants of successful virtual communities: Contributions from system characteristics and social factors*. Information & Management, 45(8), 522-527. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2008.08.002

Lin, H., Fan, W., Wallace, L. (2013). *The Effects of Social and Technical Factors on User Satisfaction, Sense of Belonging and Knowledge Community Usage*. International Journal of e-Collaboration. 9. 13-30 p. Internet access: DOI 10.4018/jec.2013070102

Lin, H., Fan, W., & Chau, P. Y. (2014). Determinants of users' continuance of social networking sites: A self-regulation perspective. Information & Management, 51(5), 595-603. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2014.03.010

Lin, P. H., Yeh, S. C. (2019). *How motion-control influences a VR-supported technology for mental rotation learning: From the perspectives of playfulness, gender difference and technology acceptance model.* International Journal of Human–Computer Interaction, 35(18), 1736-1746. https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2019.1571784

Lin, S. C., Tseng, H. T., Shirazi, F., Hajli, N., Tsai, P. T. (2022). *Exploring factors influencing impulse buying in live streaming shopping: a stimulus-organism-response (SOR) perspective*. Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics, (ahead-of-print). Internet access: DOI 10.1108/APJML-12-2021-0903

Inglehart, R. (1990). Culture shift in advanced industrial society. Princeton. NJ: PrincetonUniversityPress.68-69p.Internetaccess:https://books.google.lt/books?hl=lt&lr=&id=Nf9ZDwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&dq=inglehart,+Ronald.+(1990).+Culture+shift+in+advanced+industrial+society.+Princeton.+NJ:+Princeton+University+Press&ots=Fmuq28wB9E&sig=WpBgio8mKjVf6o1MSDDzG2mxZ3M&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q=inglehart%2C%20Ronald.%20(1990).%20Culture%20shift%20in%20adva

nced%20industrial%20society.%20Princeton.%20NJ%3A%20Princeton%20University%20Pres s&f=false

Lumsden, J., Morgan, W. (2005). Online-questionnaire design: Establishing guidelines and evaluating existing eupport. In 2005 Information Resources Management Association International Conference (pp. ITP52-13). IGI Global. Internet access: https://research.aston.ac.uk/en/publications/online-questionnaire-design-establishing-guidelines-and-evaluatin

Malone, G. P., Pillow, D. R., Osman, A. (2012). *The general belongingness scale (GBS): Assessing achieved belongingness*. Personality and individual differences, 52(3), 311-316. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2011.10.027</u>

Marakanon, L., Panjakajornsak, V. (2017). *Perceived quality, perceived risk and customer trust affecting customer loyalty of environmentally friendly electronics products*. Kasetsart Journal of Social Sciences, 38(1), 24-30. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.kjss.2016.08.012</u>

March, J.G. (1994) *Primer on Decision Making– How Decisions Happen*. Internet access: <u>https://books.google.lt/books?hl=lt&lr=&id=cFagB2qj2jwC&oi=fnd&pg=PT9&dq=ma</u>rch+decision+making+foundation&ots=jdHxoyveEC&sig=-

<u>Vrg5zXZz_DL8YiYZh4GGlOUgJc&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q=march%20decision%20makin</u> <u>g%20foundation&f=false</u>

Mattke, J., Maier, C. (2021). *Gamification: Explaining brand loyalty in mobile applications*. AIS Transactions on Human-Computer Interaction, 13(1), 62-81 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.17705/1thci.00142</u>

Maziriri, E. T., & Chuchu, T. (2017). *The conception of consumer perceived risk towards online purchases of apparel and an idiosyncratic scrutiny of perceived social risk: a review of literature*. International Review of Management and Marketing, 7(3), 257-265.

McGonigal, J. (2011). *Reality is broken: Why games make us better and how they can change the world*. Penguin. 19 - 27 p.p Internet access: DOI: <u>https://books.google.lt/books?hl=lt&lr=&id=yiOtN_kDJZgC&oi=fnd&pg=PT10&ots=fkjfRGcT</u> <u>Yr&sig=aD5np1pD9gtyB2UHun_Ll2sK7LI&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q&f=false</u> Mekler, E. D., Brühlmann, F., Opwis, K., & Tuch, A. N. (2013). *Do points, levels and leaderboards harm intrinsic motivation? An empirical analysis of common gamification elements.* In Gamification 2013 - Proceedings of the 1st International Conference on Gameful Design, Research, and Applications, 66-73 p. ACM. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/2583008.2583017</u>

Mekler, E. D., Brühlmann, F., Tuch, A. N., Opwis, K. (2017). *Towards understanding the effects of individual gamification elements on intrinsic motivation and performance*. Computers in Human Behavior, 71, 525-534 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.08.048</u>

Mekler, E., Brühlmann, F., Tuch, A., Opwis, K. (2017). *Towards understanding the effects of individual gamification elements on intrinsic motivation and performance*. Computers in Human Behavior. 71. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.08.048</u>

Menapace, L., Colson, G., Raffaelli, R. (2013). *Risk aversion, subjective beliefs, and farmer risk management strategies*. American Journal of Agricultural Economics, 95(2), 384-389. Internet access: DOI 10.1.1.880.5827

Mitchell R., Schuster L., Drennan J. (2017) Understanding how Gamification Influences Behaviour in Social Marketing. Australasian Marketing Journal. 2017; 25(1):12-19 p. Internet access: <u>10.1016/j.ausmj.2016.12.001</u>

Monterrat, B., Lavoué, É., George, S. (2017). Adaptation of gaming features for motivating learners. Simulation & Gaming, 48(5), 625-656. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1046878117712632</u>

Moon J. W., Kim, Y. G. (2001). *Extending the TAM for a World-Wide-Web context*, Information & Management, Volume 38, Issue 4, 2001, 217-230 p., ISSN 0378-7206. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-7206(00)00061-6

Mulcahy, R.F., McAndrew, R., Russell-Bennett, R., Iacobucci, D. (2021), "Game on!" Pushing consumer buttons to change sustainable behavior: a gamification field study, European Journal of Marketing, Vol. 55 No. 10, 2593-2619 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/EJM-05-2020-0341</u>

Mun, Y. Y., Jackson, J. D., Park, J. S., & Probst, J. C. (2006). Understanding information technology acceptance by individual professionals: Toward an integrative view. Information & Management, 43(3), 350-363 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2005.08.006</u>

Mustafa, A. S., Alkawsi, G. A., Ofosu-Ampong, K., Vanduhe, V. Z., Garcia, M. B., & Baashar, Y. (2022). *Gamification of E-Learning in African Universities: Identifying Adoption Factors Through Task-Technology Fit and Technology Acceptance Model*. In Next-Generation Applications and Implementations of Gamification Systems (pp. 73-96). IGI Global. Internet access: <u>https://manuelgarcia.info/media/full_paper/gamification-african-universities.pdf</u>

Nagpaul T., Pang J.S. (2017) *Materialism lowers well-being: The mediating role of the need for autonomy – correlational and experimental evidence*. Asian journal of psychology. Volume20, Issue1. January 2017. 11-21 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ajsp.12159</u>

Neubaum, G., Krämer, N. C. (2018). *What do we fear? Expected sanctions for expressing minority opinions in offline and online communication*. Communication Research, 45(2), 139-164 p. Internet access: DOI 10.1097/NMD.0b013e318294744a

Nicholls, J. G. (1984). *Achievement motivation: Conceptions of ability, subjective experience, task choice, and performance*. Psychological Review, 91, 328-346 p. Internet access: <u>10.1037/0033-</u>295X.91.3.328

Niemiec, C. P., Ryan, R. M., Deci, E. L. (2009). The path taken: Consequences of attaining intrinsic and extrinsic aspirations in post-college life. Journal of Research in Personality, 43, 291-306 p. Internet access: <u>10.1016/j.jrp.2008.09.001</u>

Noei, E., Syer, M. D., Zou, Y., Hassan, A. E., Keivanloo, I. (2017). A study of the relation of mobile device attributes with the user-perceived quality of Android apps. Empirical Software Engineering, 22(6), 3088-3116. Internet access: <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10664-017-9507-3</u>

O'Donoghue, T., Somerville, J. 2018. *Modeling Risk Aversion in Economics*. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 32 (2): 91-114 p. Internet access: DOI 10.1257/jep.32.2.91

Oehler, A., Wedlich, F. (2018). *The relationship of extraversion and neuroticism with risk attitude, risk perception, and return expectations.* Journal of Neuroscience, Psychology, and Economics, 11(2), 63–92. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/npe0000088</u>

Otto, A. R., Fleming, S. M., Glimcher, P. W. (2016). *Unexpected but incidental positive outcomes predict real-world gambling*. Psychological Science, 27(3), 299-311p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797615618366

Parasuraman, A., Zeithaml, V. A., Berry, L. L. (1985). *A conceptual model of service quality and its implications for future research*. Journal of marketing, 49(4), 41-50 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1177/002224298504900403

Park, J., Hyun, H., Thavisay, T. (2021). *A study of antecedents and outcomes of social media WOM towards luxury brand purchase intention*. Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services, 58, 102272. 1 – 10 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2020.102272</u>

Petelczyc, C. A., Capezio, A., Wang, L., Restubog, S. L. D., Aquino, K. (2018). *Play at work: An integrative review and agenda for future research*. Journal of Management, 44(1), 161-190p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206317731519

Polat, H., Karabatak, S. (2021). *Effect of flipped classroom model on academic achievement, academic satisfaction and general belongingness*. Learning Environments Research, 1-24. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10984-021-09355-0</u>

Ponchio, M. C., Aranha, F. (2008). *Materialism as a predictor variable of low income consumer behavior when entering into installment plan agreements*. Journal of Consumer Behaviour: An International Research Review, 7(1), 21-34p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cb.234</u>

Ponis, S. T., Plakas, G., Agalianos, K., Aretoulaki, E., Gayialis, S. P., Andrianopoulos, A. (2020). *Augmented reality and gamification to increase productivity and job satisfaction in the warehouse of the future*. Procedia Manufacturing, 51, 1621-1628 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2020.10.226

Praveena, K., Thomas, S. (2014). *Continuance intention to use Facebook: A study of perceived enjoyment and TAM*. Bonfring International Journal of Industrial Engineering and Management Science, 4(1), 24-29 p. Internet access: 10.9756/BIJIEMS.4794

Proyer, R. T. (2012). Development and initial assessment of a short measure for adult playfulness: The SMAP. Personality and Individual Differences, 53(8), 989-994. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2012.07.018 Proyer, R. T. (2012). *Examining playfulness in adults: Testing its correlates with personality, positive psychological functioning, goal aspirations, and multi-methodically assessed ingenuity.* Psychological Test and Assessment Modeling, 54(2), 103-127p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.5167/uzh-63532</u>

Proyer, R. T. (2014). *Perceived functions of playfulness in adults: Does it mobilize you at work, rest, and when being with others?*. European Review of Applied Psychology, 64(5), 241-250p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erap.2014.06.001</u>

Proyer, R. T., Brauer, K. (2018). *Exploring adult playfulness: examining the accuracy of personality judgments at zero-acquaintance and an LIWC analysis of textual information*. Journal of Research in Personality, 73, 12-20p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2017.10.002</u>

Proyer, R.T. (2017). A new structural model for the study of adult playfulness: Assessment and exploration of an understudied individual differences variable. Personality and Individual Differences. Volume 108, 2017, Pages 113-122 p., ISSN 0191-8869, Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.12.011.

Proyer, René T. (2018) *Playfulness and humor in psychology: An overview and update*. HUMOR, vol. 31, no. 2, 2018, pp. 259-271. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1515/humor-2016-0080

Purnami, L. D., Agus, A. A. (2021). *The Effect of Perceived Value and Mobile Game Loyalty on In-App Purchase Intention in Mobile Game in Indonesia (Case Study: Mobile Legend and Love Nikki)*. ASEAN Marketing Journal, *12*(1), 2. Internet access: DOI 10.1108/ITP-09-2019-0455

Rabin, M. (2013). *Risk aversion and expected-utility theory: A calibration theorem*. Handbook of the fundamentals of financial decision making: Part I. 2013. 241-252. Internet access: https://escholarship.org/content/qt731230f8/qt731230f8.pdf

Raghunathan, R., Corfman, K. (2006). *Is happiness shared doubled and sadness shared halved? Social influence on enjoyment of hedonic experiences*. Journal of Marketing Research, 43(3), 386-394. <u>https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkr.43.3.386</u>

Ramayah, T., Ignatius, J. (2005). Impact of perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use and
perceived enjoyment on intention to shop online. ICFAI Journal of Systems Management (IJSM),
3(3), 36-51 p. Internet access::

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/284417406_Impact_of_perceived_usefulness_perceived_enjoyment_on_intention_to_shop_online

Rejón-Guardia, F., Polo-Peña, A. I., Maraver-Tarifa, G. (2020). *The acceptance of a personal learning environment based on Google apps: The role of subjective norms and social image*. Journal of Computing in Higher Education, 32(2), 203-233 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1007/s12528-019-09206-1

René T. Proyer. (2012). *Development and initial assessment of a short measure for adult playfulness: The SMAP*. Personality and Individual Differences, Volume 53, Issue 8, 2012, 989-994 p., ISSN 0191-8869. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2012.07.018</u>.

Richins, M. L. (2004). *The material values scale: Measurement properties and development of a short form*. Journal of consumer Research, 31(1), 209-219. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1086/383436

Richins, Marsha & Dawson, Scott. (1992). *A Consumer Values Orientation for Materialism and Its Measurement*. Journal of Consumer Research. 19. 303-316 p. Internet access: 10.1086/209304.

Rodrigues, L. F., Costa, C. J., Oliveira, A. (2017). *How does the web game design influence the behavior of e-banking users?*. Computers in Human Behavior, 74, 163-174. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.04.034

Rohan, R., Pal, D., Funilkul, S., Chutimaskul, W., Eamsinvattana, W. (2021). *How Gamification Leads to Continued Usage of MOOCs? A Theoretical Perspective*. IEEE Access, 9, 108144 – 108159 p. Internet access: 10.1109/ACCESS.2021.3102293

Ryan, R. M, Deci, E. L. (2000). *Intrinsic and Extrinsic Motivations: Classic Definition and New Directions*. Contemporary Educational Psychology. 25. 54-67 p. Internet access: 10.1006/ceps.1999.1020.

Ryan, R. M. (1995). *Psychological needs and the facilitation of integrative processes*. Journal of personality, 63(3), 397-427 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.1995.tb00501.x</u>

Ryan, R. M., Deci, E. L. (2000). *Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being*. American Psychologist, 55(1), 68–78 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.68</u>

Ryan, R., Deci, E. (2000). *Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being.* American Psychologist, 55(1), 68–78. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.68

Ryu, G., Feick, L. (2007). *A Penny for Your Thoughts: Referral Reward Programs and Referral Likelihood*. Journal of Marketing, 71(1), 84–94 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.71.1.084

Sacco, D. F., Ismail, M. M. (2014). Social belongingness satisfaction as a function of interaction medium: Face-to-face interactions facilitate greater social belonging and interaction enjoyment compared to instant messaging. Computers in Human Behavior, 36, 359-364. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.04.004

Sailer, M., Hense, J., Mandl, J., Klevers, M. (2014). *Psychological perspectives on motivation through gamification*. Interaction Design and Architecture Journal, (19), 28-37. Internet access: https://mediatum.ub.tum.de/doc/1222424/file.pdf

Sailer, M., Hense, J.U., Mayr, S. H., Mandl, H. (2007) *How gamification motivates: An experimental study of the effects of specific game design elements on psychological need satisfaction*. Computers in Human Behavior, Volume 69, 2017, 371- 380 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.12.033

Saleem, S., Omar, R. M. (2015). *Measuring customer based beverage brand equity: Investigating the relationship between perceived quality, brand awareness, brand image, and brand loyalty.* International journal of marketing studies, 66-73 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/ijms.v7n1p66</u>

Samar, R., Mazuri, A. G. (2019). *Does gamified elements influence on user's intention to adopt internet banking with integration of UTAUT and general self-confidence?*. International Journal of Business Excellence, 19(3), 394-414p. Internet access: <u>https://www.inderscienceonline.com/doi/epdf/10.1504/IJBEX.2019.102835</u>

Sarosa, S. (2019). *The role of brand reputation and perceived enjoyment in accepting compulsory device 's usage: extending UTAUT*. Procedia Computer Science, 161, 115-122 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2019.11.106

Schepers, J., Wetzels, M. (2007). *A meta-analysis of the technology acceptance model: Investigating subjective norm and moderation effects*. Information & management, 44(1), 90-103 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2006.10.007</u>

Schmuck, P., Kasser, T., Ryan, R.M. (2000), *Intrinsic and extrinsic goals: Their structure and relationship to well-being in German and US college students*, Social Indicators, Research, Vol. 50, No. 2, 225-241 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007084005278

Selnes, F. (1993). An examination of the effect of product performance on brand reputation, satisfaction and loyalty. European Journal of marketing, 27(9), 19-35 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1108/03090569310043179

Seung A. (2012). *Toward Integrative Models of Flow: Effects of Performance, Skill, Challenge, Playfulness, and Presence on Flow in Video Games*, Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media, 56:2, 169-186 p., Internet access: 10.1080/08838151.2012.678516

Shachak, A., Kuziemsky, C., Petersen, C. (2019). *Beyond TAM and UTAUT: Future directions for HIT implementation research*. Journal of biomedical informatics, 100, 103315, p. 1-3. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbi.2019.103315</u>

Sharma, S. K., Joshi, A., Sharma, H. (2016). *A multi-analytical approach to predict the Facebook usage in higher education*. Computers in Human Behavior, 55, p.p. 340-353. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.09.020

Sharma, S. K., Joshi, A., Sharma, H. (2016). *A multi-analytical approach to predict the Facebook usage in higher education*. Computers in Human Behavior, 55, p.p. 340-353. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.09.020

Shrum, L. J., Wong, N., Arif, F., Chugani, S. K., Gunz, A., Lowrey, T. M., Nairn A., Pandelaere M., Ross, S.M., Ruvio, A.,Scott, K., Sundie, J. (2013). *Reconceptualizing materialism as identity goal pursuits: Functions, processes, and consequences.* Journal of Business Research, 66(8), 1179-1185p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2012.08.010</u>

Slade, E. L., Dwivedi, Y. K., Piercy, N. C., & Williams, M. D. (2015). *Modeling consumers'* adoption intentions of remote mobile payments in the United Kingdom: extending UTAUT with innovativeness, risk, and trust. Psychology & Marketing, 32(8), 860-873. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.20823

Slovic, P. E. (2000). *The perception of risk*. Earthscan publications. Internet access: https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2001-01329-000

Srinivasan, S. S., Anderson, R., Ponnavolu, K. (2002). *Customer loyalty in e-commerce: an exploration of its antecedents and consequences*. Journal of retailing, 78(1), 41-50. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-4359(01)00065-3</u>

Stebleton, M. J., Soria, K. M., Huesman Jr, R. L. (2014). *First-generation students' sense of belonging, mental health, and use of counseling services at public research universities*. Journal of College Counseling, 17(1), 6-20. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1882.2014.00044.x</u>

Steenkamp, J.B.E.M. (1989). *Product quality : an investigation into the concept and how it is perceived by consumers*. Marketing and Consumer Behaviour. 1 – 14 p. Internet access: https://edepot.wur.nl/51607

Stefánsson H.O., Bradley, R.. *What Is Risk Aversion?* (2017). The British Journal for the Philosophy of Science. Volume 70, Number 1. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1093/bjps/axx035

Streiner, D. L. (2003). *Starting at the beginning: an introduction to coefficient alpha and internal consistency*. Journal of personality assessment, 80(1), 99-103p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327752JPA8001_18

Suki, N. M., Suki, N. M. (2011). Exploring the relationship between perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, perceived enjoyment, attitude and subscribers' intention towards using 3G mobile services. Journal of Information Technology Management, 22(1), 1-7 p. Internet access: 10.9756/BIJIEMS.4794

Sun, H. M., Cheng, W. L. (2009). *The input-interface of Webcam applied in 3D virtual reality systems*. Computers & Education, 53(4), 1231-1240p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2009.06.006

Szymkowiak, A., Gaczek, P., Jeganathan, K., Kulawik, P. (2021). The impact of emotions on shopping behavior during epidemic. What a business can do to protect customers. Journal of Consumer Behaviour, 20(1), 48-60. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1002/cb.1853

Tamimi, N., Sebastianelli, R. (2016). *How e-tailing attributes affect perceived quality: The potential impact of customer demographics and online behaviors*. The TQM Journal. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/TQM-04-2015-0048</u>

Tan, W. K., Chen, B. H. (2021). Enhancing subscription-based ecommerce services through gambled price discounts. Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services, 61, 102525. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2021.102525</u>

Tan, W. K., Chen, B. H. (2021). *Enhancing subscription-based ecommerce services through gambled price discounts*. Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services, 61, 102525. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2021.102525

Tanner, E.C., Su, L. (2019), *Reducing perceived vulnerability to increase utilization of nonprofit services*. Journal of Services Marketing, Vol. 33 No. 3, pp. 344-355. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1108/JSM-12-2017-0434

Teo, H. H., Chan, H. C., Wei, K. K., Zhang, Z. (2003). Evaluating information accessibility and community adaptivity features for sustaining virtual learning communities. International Journal of Human-Computer Studies, 59(5), 671-697p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1071-5819(03)00087-9</u>

Teo, H. H., Chan, H. C., Wei, K. K., Zhang, Z. (2003). *Evaluating information accessibility and community adaptivity features for sustaining virtual learning communities*. International Journal of Human-Computer Studies, 59(5), 671-697p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1071-5819(03)00087-9</u>

Terlutter, R., Capella, M. L. (2013). *The gamification of advertising: analysis and research directions of in-game advertising, advergames, and advertising in social network games.* Journal of advertising, 42(2-3), 95-112 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1080/00913367.2013.774610

Thomas, K.W., Velthouse, B.A. (1990). Cognitive elements of empowerment: an "interpretive" model of intrinsic task motivation, Academy of Management Review, Vol. 15, . 666-681 p.

Internet

https://www.proquest.com/openview/34883c881cb549e968d40105fee815c1/1?cbl=37198&pqorigsite=gscholar

Thyroff, A., Kilbourne, W. E. (2018). *Self-enhancement and individual competitiveness as mediators in the materialism/consumer satisfaction relationship.* Journal of Business Research, 92, 189-196. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.07.023</u>

Tondello, G. F., Mora, A., Nacke, L. E. (2017). *Elements of gameful design emerging from user preferences*. In Proceedings of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play (pp. 129-142). Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3116595.3116627</u>

Tondello, G. F., Wehbe, R. R., Diamond, L., Busch, M., Marczewski, A., Nacke, L. E. (2016, October). *The gamification user types hexad scale*. In Proceedings of the 2016 annual symposium on computer-human interaction in play (229-243p). Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1145/2967934.2968082

Trinh, H. N., Tran, H. H., Vuong, D. H. Q. (2020). *Determinants of consumers' intention to use credit card: a perspective of multifaceted perceived risk*. Asian Journal of Economics and Banking. https://doi.org/10.1108/AJEB-06-2020-0018

Tunçel, N., Kavak, B. (2022). *Being an ethical or unethical consumer in response to social exclusion: The role of control, belongingness and self-esteem*. International Journal of Consumer Studies, 46(2), 459-474p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcs.12693</u>

Van Boven, L., Gilovich, T. (2003). *To do or to have? That is the question*. Journal of personality and social psychology, 85(6), 1193p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-</u>3514.85.6.1193

van der Heijden, H. (2004). User Acceptance of Hedonic Information Systems. MIS Quarterly, 28(4), 695–704 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/25148660</u>

Vanduhe, V. Z., Nat, M., Hasan, H. F. (2020). Continuance intentions to use gamification for training in higher education: Integrating the technology acceptance model (TAM), Social motivation, and task technology fit (TTF). IEEE Access, 8, 21473-21484p. Internet access: DOI 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.2966179

Vansteenkiste, M., Niemiec, C.P. Soenens, B. (2010), *The development of the five mini-theories of self-determination theory: an historical overview, emerging trends, and future directions*, Urdan, T.C. and Karabenick, S.A. (Ed.) *The Decade Ahead: Theoretical Perspectives on Motivation and Achievement*. Advances in Motivation and Achievement, Vol. 16 Part A, 105-165 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1108/S0749-7423(2010)000016A007

Venkatesh, V. (2000). Determinants of Perceived Ease of Use: Integrating Control, Intrinsic Motivation, and Emotion into the Technology Acceptance Model. Information Systems Research.
11. 342-365 p. Internet access: DOI 10.1287/isre.11.4.342.11872.

Venkatesh, V., Morris, M., Davis, G., Davis, F. (2003). User Acceptance of Information Technology: A Unified Model. Management Information Systems Quarterly - MISQ. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/30036540</u>

Venkatesh, V., Morris, M., Davis, G., Davis, F. (2003). User Acceptance of Information Technology: Toward a Unified View. MIS Quarterly. 27. 425-478 p. Internet access: DOI 10.2307/30036540.

Wakefield, R. L., Whitten, D. (2006) *Mobile computing: a user study on hedonic/utilitarian mobile device usage*. European Journal of Information Systems, 15:3, 292-300 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.ejis.3000619</u>

Wakker, P. P. (2010). Prospect theory: For risk and ambiguity. Cambridge university press. 44 –92p.Internetaccess:http://www.albacharia.ma/xmlui/bitstream/handle/123456789/32074/wakkerptdec.pdf?sequence=1&origin=publication detail

Wang R., Liu H., Jiang J., Song, Y. (2017), *Will materialism lead to happiness? A longitudinal analysis of the mediating role of psychological needs satisfaction*. Personality and Individual Differences, Volume 105, 2017, 312-317 p.. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.10.014</u>.

Wang Z. J, Kuang, Y., Tang H. Y., Gao, C., Chen, A., Chan K. Q. (2017). *Are Decisions Made by Group Representatives More Risk Averse? The Effect of Sense of Responsibility*. Behavioral decision making. Volume31, Issue3, 311-323 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bdm.2057</u> Wang, E. S. T., Lin, R. L. (2017). *Perceived quality factors of location-based apps on trust, perceived privacy risk, and continuous usage intention*. Behaviour & Information Technology, 36(1), 2-10. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X.2016.1143033</u>

Wang, T. L., Tran, P. T. K., Tran, V. T. (2017). *Destination perceived quality, tourist satisfaction and word-of-mouth*. Tourism Review. 392 – 405 p. Internet access: DOI 10.1108/TR-06-2017-0103

Ward, S., Wackman, D. (1971). Family and media influences on adolescent consumer learning.
American Behavioral Scientist, 14(3), 415–427. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1177/000276427101400315

Waterman, A.S., Schwartz, S.J., Conti, R. (2008), *The implications of two conceptions of happiness (hedonic enjoyment and eudaimonia) for the understanding of intrinsic motivation*, Journal of Happiness Studies, Vol. 9, 41-79 p. Internet access: DOI 10.1007/s10902-006-9020-7

Wilson, R. F. (2000). *The six simple principles of viral marketing*. Web marketing today, 70(1), 232 p. Internet access: <u>https://www.academia.edu/download/26250436/viralmarketing.pdf</u>

Wilson, T. D., Centerbar, D. B., Kermer, D. A., Gilbert, D. T. (2005). *The pleasures of uncertainty: prolonging positive moods in ways people do not anticipate. Journal of personality and social psychology*, 88(1), 5p. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2021.102525</u>

Wirtz J, Orsingher C, Chew P, Tambyah S. K. *The Role of Metaperception on the Effectiveness of Referral Reward Programs*. Journal of Service Research. 2013;16(1): 82-98 p. Internet access: DOI 10.1177/1094670512462138

Wirtz J., Orsingher C., Cho H. *Engaging customers through online and offline referral reward programs*. European Journal of Marketing, ISSN: 0309-0566; 2019; 53(9): 1920-1987 p. Internet access: <u>https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/EJM-10-2017-0756/full/html</u>

Wong, D., Liu, H., Meng-Lewis, Y., Sun, Y., Zhang, Y. (2021). *Gamified money: Exploring the effectiveness of gamification in mobile payment adoption among the silver generation in China*. Information Technology & People. 281-315pp. Internet access: DOI 10.1108/ITP-09-2019-0456

Wong, H. R., San Hu, J. (2011). *Why do people hesitate? Perceived risk in workplace spirituality*. International Journal of Business and Management, 6(11), 57. Internet access: http://dx.doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v6n11p57

Wong, K. F. E. (2005). *The role of risk in making decisions under escalation situations*. *Applied Psychology*, 54(4), 584-607. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-0597.2005.00236.x</u>

Wu, D., Yu, L., Zhang, Q., Jiao, Y., Wu, Y. (2021). Materialism, Ecological Consciousness and Purchasing Intention of Electric Vehicles: An Empirical Analysis among Chinese Consumers.
Sustainability, 13(5), 2964. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13052964</u>

Wu, Y., Cui, T., Liu, N., Deng, Y., Guo, J. (2018). *Demystifying continuous participation in game applications at social networking sites: A social playfulness design perspective*. Internet Research. pp. 374-392. Internet access: DOI 10.1108/APJML-12-2021-0903

Wu, J. and Holsapple, C. (2014), *Imaginal and emotional experiences in pleasure-oriented IT usage: a hedonic consumption perspective*, Information and Management, Vol. 51 No. 1, pp. 80-92. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2013.09.003</u>

Xi N., Hamari, J.. (2019). *Does gamification satisfy needs? A study on the relationship between gamification features and intrinsic need satisfaction*. International Journal of Information Management, Volume 46, 2019, 210-221 p.. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2018.12.002.

Xu, C., Peak, D., Prybutok, V. (2015). *A customer value, satisfaction, and loyalty perspective of mobile application recommendations*. Decision Support Systems, 79, 171-183pp. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2015.08.008

Xu, J., Lio, A., Dhaliwal, H., Andrei, S., Balakrishnan, S., Nagani, U., Samadder, S. (2021). *Psychological interventions of virtual gamification within academic intrinsic motivation: a systematic review*. Journal of Affective Disorders, 293, 444-465 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.06.070</u>

Xu, X., Thong, J. Y., Tam, K. Y. (2017). *Winning back technology disadopters: testing a technology readoption model in the context of mobile internet services.* Journal of Management Information Systems, 34(1), 102-140p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.2017.1297172

Yang, Y., Asaad, Y., Dwivedi, Y. (2017). *Examining the impact of gamification on intention of engagement and brand attitude in the marketing context*. Computers in Human Behavior, 73, 459-469 p. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.03.066

Yarnal, C., Qian, X. (2011). Older-Adult Playfulness: An Innovative Construct and Measurement for Healthy Aging Research. American Journal of Play, 4(1), 52-79 Internet access: https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ985548

Yarnal, C., Qian, X. (2011). *Older-Adult Playfulness: An Innovative Construct and Measurement for Healthy Aging Research*. American Journal of Play, v4 n1, 53-75 p. Internet access: <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ985548.pdf</u>

Yi, D., Ji, T. T., Xu, C., Hitchman, G. (2014). *Fear of rejection or concern for fairness: the proposer's offering behavior in the ultimatum game*. Social Behavior and Personality: an international journal, 42(3), 401-406 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.2014.42.3.401</u>

Yue, X. D., Leung, C. L., Hiranandani, N. A. (2016). Adult playfulness, humor styles, and subjective happiness. Psychological Reports, 119(3), 630-640. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1177/0033294116662842

Žabkar, V., Brenčič, M. M., Dmitrović, T. (2010). *Modelling perceived quality, visitor satisfaction and behavioural intentions at the destination level*. Tourism management, 31(4), 537-546 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2009.06.005</u>

Zatarain Cabada, R., Barrón Estrada, M. L., Ríos Félix, J. M., Alor Hernández, G. (2018). *A virtual environment for learning computer coding using gamification and emotion recognition*. Interactive learning environments, 28(8), 1048-1063 p. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2018.1558256</u>

Zeithaml, V. A., Berry, L. L., Parasuraman, A. (1996). *The behavioral consequences of service quality*. Journal of marketing, 60(2), 31-46. Internet access: ttps://doi.org/10.1177/002224299606000203

Zhang, D., Zhang, F., Liu, S., & Du, H. S. (2019). Impact of referral reward program on innovative customers' follow-up e-referral: the moderating role of creative self-efficacy.

Information Technology & People. Internet access: https://www.proquest.com/docview/2242735068

Zhang, J. W., Howell, R. T., Caprariello, P. A., Guevarra, D. A. (2014). *Damned if they do, damned if they don't: Material buyers are not happier from material or experiential consumption.* Journal of Research in Personality, 50, 71-83. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2014.03.007

Zhang, K., Hou, Y., Li, G. (2020). *Threat of infectious disease during an outbreak: Influence on tourists' emotional responses to disadvantaged price inequality*. Annals of Tourism Research, 84, 102993. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annals.2020.102993</u>

Zhang, L., Zhao, H. (2019). *Personal value vs. luxury value: What are Chinese luxury consumers shopping for when buying luxury fashion goods?*. Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services, 51, 62-71. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2019.05.027</u>

Zhang, Y., Sun, J., Yang, Z., Wang, Y. (2018). *What makes people actually embrace or shun mobile payment: A cross-culture study*. Mobile information systems. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/7497545

Zhao, L., Lu, Y., Wang, B., Chau, P. Y., Zhang, L. (2012). *Cultivating the sense of belonging and motivating user participation in virtual communities: A social capital perspective*. International Journal of Information Management, 32(6), 574-588. Internet access: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2012.02.006

Zhao, Y., Zhu, Q. (2014). *Effects of extrinsic and intrinsic motivation on participation in crowdsourcing contest: A perspective of self-determination theory*. Online Inf. Rev., 38, 896-917 p. . Internet access: 10.1108/OIR-08-2014-0188

Zhao, Z., Renard, D. (2018). *Viral promotional advergames: how intrinsic playfulness and the extrinsic value of prizes elicit behavioral responses*. Journal of Interactive Marketing, 41, 94-103. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intmar.2017.09.004</u>

Zhou, R., Feng, C. (2017). Difference between leisure and work contexts: The roles of perceived enjoyment and perceived usefulness in predicting mobile video calling use acceptance. Frontiers in psychology, 8, 350. Internet access: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00350</u>

Zichermann, G., Cunningham, C. (2011). *Gamification by design: Implementing game mechanics in web and mobile Apps*. Sebastopol, CA: O'Reilly, 15 – 24 p. . Internet access: http://storage.libre.life/Gamification_by_Design.pdf

Zuo, L., Xiong, S., Iida, H. (2017, November). *An analysis of hotel loyalty program with a focus on the tiers and points system*. In 2017 4th International Conference on Systems and Informatics (ICSAI), 507-512 p., . Internet access: <u>10.1109/ICSAI.2017.8248345</u>

THE IMPACT OF MATERIALISM, PLAYFULNESS, BELONGINGNESS AND RISK AVERSION ON INTENTION TO RECOMMEND IN GAMIFIED REFERRAL MARKETING PROGRAMME

Gitana STALMOKAITĚ

Master thesis

Integrated marketing and communication programme

Faculty of Economics and Business Administration, Vilnius University, 2022

Supervisor Dr. Ignas Zimaitis, Vilnius, 2022

SUMMARY

62 pages, 35 tables, 1 figurine

The main aim of the master thesis was to investigate how materialism, playfulness, belongingness, risk aversion impact the perceived usefulness, enjoyment and risk of a gamified system and as a result intention to recommend. In order to achieve this aim, the objectives of this thesis were: analyze individual traits affect on intention to recommend from theoretical perspective; To apply TAM and UTAUT models to analyze perception of the system; To develop methodology for empirical research and research impact of factors to intention to recommend; To collect and analyze data and apply findings to provide insights and recommendation.

To achieve the master thesis aim, the methods used were literature analysis and reliability, linear regression for statistical analysis of quantitative data. First and second chapters of the Master thesis were dedicated for analysis of individual traits and their effect on perception of the system and intention to recommend. In the third chapter, methodology of empirical research is presented. For this empirical research, a gamified referral marketing system (gamified system) was created and used to encourage respondents' intention to recommend VPN service.

Empirical analysis found that all four personality traits of materialism, playfulness, risk-averse and belongingness had a significant impact on perception of the system – usefulness, playfulness and risk and, as a result, on intention to recommend. Higher playfulness and belongingness were positively linked to perception of the system as more enjoyable and useful. On the other hand, higher materialism and risk-aversion were linked to worsen perception of enjoyment and usefulness of the gamified system. Moreover, perception of the system, defined by usefulness, enjoyment and risk, found to have a significant impact on intention to recommend. The strongest impact on intention to recommend had perceived enjoyment and usefulness. While, perceived risk had a negative impact on intention to recommend. Higher playfulness, belongingness and risk-aversion reported respondents were found to be the most sensitive to perceived risk while any significant relationship between materialism and perceived risk was found.

Based on literature analysis and empirical research findings, two factors groups - **enhancing the intention to recommend** and **diminishing intention to recommend** were identified. The first group involves factors such as playfulness, belonginess, perceived usefulness and enjoyment. The second one involves high materialism and risk-aversion as well as high perceived risk. This master thesis proved that individual traits are important factors impacting the intention to recommend and should not be overlooked by the companies planning referral marketing programs.

MATERIALIZMO, ŽAISMINGUMO, NORO PRITAPTI IR RIZIKOS VENGIMO ĮTAKA NORUI SUTEIKTI REKOMENDACIJĄ SUŽAIDYBINTOJE REKOMENDACIJŲ RINKODAROS PROGRAMOJE

Gitana STALMOKAITĚ

Magistro darbas

Rinkodaros ir integruotos komunikacijos studijų programa

Integrated marketing and communication programme

Ekonomikos ir verslo administravimo fakultetas, Vilniaus Universitetas, 2022

Darbo vadovas Dr. Ignas Zimaitis, Vilnius, 2022

SANTRAUKA

62 puslapiai, 35 lentelės, 1 paveikslėlis

Pagrindinis magistro darbo tikslas yra išanalizuoti, kokią įtaką materializmas, žaismingumas, noras pritapti ir rizikos vengimas turi norui suteikti rekomendaciją sužaidybintoje rekomendacijų rinkodaros programoje. Šiam tikslui įgyvendinti autorius iškėlė šiuos uždavinius: Išanalizuoti individualius bruožus, turinčius įtakos ketinimui rekomenduoti; Pritaikyti TAM ir UTAUT modelius analizuojant numanomo naudingumo, malonumo ir rizikos poveikį ketinimui rekomenduoti; Sukurti empirinio tyrimo metodologiją, siekiant ištirti veiksnių ir ketinimo rekomenduoti ryšį; Surinkti ir išanalizuoti empirinio tyrimo duomenis; Remiantis empirinio tyrimo išvadomis, pateikti įžvalgas ir rekomendacijas.

Magistro darbo tikslui pasiekti buvo naudojama mokslinės literatūros analizė ir patikimumo bei tiesinės regresijos metodai kiekybinių duomenų statistinei analizei. Pirmajame ir antrajame darbo skyriuose analizuojami ketinimą rekomenduoti skatinantys veiksniai, TAM ir UTAUT modeliai bei asmenybės bruožų įtaka įsitraukimui bei skirtingų sistemų suvokimui. Tyrimui buvo sukurta sužaidybinta rekomendacijų rinkodaros programa, kuria respondentai buvo skatinami rekomenduoti VPN paslaugą.

Empirinio tyrimo rezultatai patvirtino, kad visi keturi asmenybės bruožai – materializmas, žaismingumas, noras pritapti ir rizikos vengimas turi įtakos sužaidybintos rekomendacijų rinkodaros

sistemos suvokimui – numanomam naudingumui, malonumui ir rizikai. Respondentai, kurie yra labiau žaismingi ir labiau siekia pritapti, įvertino sužaidybintą sistemą kaip malonesnę ir naudingesnę. Kita vertus, į materializmą ir rizikos vengimą linkę respondentai, sužaidybintos sistemos naudingumą ir malonumą vertino prasčiau. Vienintelis asmenybės bruožas – materializmas neturėjo reikšmingos įtakos numanomai rizikai. Taip pat, empirinio tyrimo rezultatai parodė, kad numanomas naudingumas, malonumas ir rizika yra svarbūs ketinimą rekomenduoti įtakojantys veiksniai. Didžiausią teigiamą įtaką ketinimui rekomenduoti turėjo numanomas malonumas ir naudingumas. O neigiamą įtaką ketinimui rekomenduoti turėjo numanoma rizika. Numanoma rizika buvo vienintelis veiksnys, kuris neigiamai veikia ketinimą rekomenduoti žaismingumo, noro pritapti ir rizikos vengimo asmenybės bruožus turinčius respondentus.

Literatūros analizė ir empirinis tyrimas leido padaryti išvadas, kad visus veiksnius, turinčius įtaką ketinimui rekomenduoti, galima suskirstyti į dvi grupes. Pirmoji, stiprinantys ketinimą rekomenduoti – aukštas žaismingumas ir noras pritapti bei aukštas numanomas sistemos naudingumas ir malonumas. Antroji, mažinantys ketinimą rekomenduoti – aukštas materializmas ir rizikos vengimas bei numanomas sistemos rizikos lygis. Lojalių klientų asmenybės bruožai yra svarbūs veiksniai, kurie veikia jų požiūrį į rinkodaros rekomendacijų programą ir ketinimą rekomenduoti pasinaudojant ja.

ANNEXES

Annex 1. Empirical research questionnaire

Part 1 of questionnaire:

Question 1: Rate the level of agreement with each statement provided below:

	Strong		Slightl		Slight	Age	Strong
	ly	Disagr	У	Neith	ly	Agr	ly
	disagr	ee (2)	disagr	er (4)	Agree	(6)	agree
	ee (1)		ee (3)		(5)	(0)	(7)
I admire people who own							
expensive homes, cars, and							
clothes. (S)							
I try to keep my life simple, as far							
as possessions are concerned. (C)							
(R)							
My life would be better if I owned							
certain things I don't have. (H)							
Buying things gives me a lot of							
pleasure. (C)							
I'd be happier if I could afford to							
buy more things. (H)							
I like to own things that impress							
people. (S)							
I like a lot of luxury in my life.							
(C)							
It sometimes bothers me quite a							
bit that I can't afford to buy all the							
things I'd like. (H)							

Question 2: Rate the level of agreement with each statement provided below:

	Strong ly disagr ee (1)	Disagr ee (2)	Slightl y disagr ee (3)	Neith er (4)	Slight ly Agree (5)	Agr ee (6)	Strong ly agree (7)
I am a playful person.							
Good friends would describe me							
as a playful person.							
I frequently do playful things in							
my daily life.							
It does not take much for me to							
change from a serious to a playful							
frame of mind.							
Sometimes, I completely forget							
about the time and am absorbed in							
a playful activity.							

Question 3: Rate the level of agreement with each statement provided below:

	Strong		Slightl		Slightl		Strong
	ly	Disagr	У	Neith	У	Agre	ly
	disagre	ee (2)	disagr	er (4)	Agree	e (6)	agree
	e (1)		ee (3)		(5)		(7)
When I am with other people, I							
feel included.							
I have close bonds with family							
and friends.							
I feel accepted by others.							
I have a sense of belonging.							
I have a place at the table with							
others.							
I feel connected with others.							

I feel like an outsider.				
I feel as if people do not care				
about me.				
Because I do not belong, I feel				
distant during the holiday				
season.				
When I am with other people, I				
feel like a stranger.				
Friends and family do not				
involve me in their plans.				

Question 4: Rate the level of likelihood of engaging in activities stated below:

	Extrem		Slightl		Slight		Extrem
	ely	Unlike	У	Neith	ly	Like	ely
	unlikely	ly (2)	unlike	er (4)	likely	ly (6)	likely
	(1)		ly (3)		(5)		(7)
Admitting that your tastes are							
different from those of your							
friends.							
Arguing with a friend who has							
a very different opinion on an							
issue.							
Dating someone that you are							
working with.							
Deciding to share an apartment							
with someone you don't know							
well.							
Disagreeing with your parents							
on a major issue.							
Moving to a new city.							
Openly disagreeing with your							
------------------------------	--	--	--	--			
boss in front of your							
coworkers.							
Speaking your mind about an							
unpopular issue at a social							
occasion.							
Wearing unconventional							
clothes.							

Part 2 of questionnaire:

Before moving on to the next part of the questionnaire, please imagine that You are a user of the VPN (Virtual Private Network*) and You are asked to recommend VPN service to new users. You are provided with information which You will see in this gamified system mockup: <u>https://vpngamifcationsurvey.my.canva.site/</u> or in the pictures below.

For every new user attracted, You get the points and bonus points which later on can be exchanged into free of charge VPN service for a specific amount of time. In leaderboards and progress bars, You can follow your performance and compare performance with others. Users can also see the time limitation of this challenge.

The main aim of all these actions is to encourage You to to recommend VPN service by sharing a link to start to use VPN service. Based on this, please provide answers below. **Please base your answers on opinion about gamified system presented.**



Refer our VPN to a friend and get 30 days FREE VPN for you and your friend!

Not enough? Our new challenge lets you double the prize by getting bonus days!

FIND OUT ABOUT CHALLENGE ↓

Get 2xBONUS

JOIN OUR NEW CHALLENGE AND GET 2XBONUS! Our new challenge reward you 2x times for referring friends VPN services. For the TOP 100 users who managed to attract the most new users during 3 months period award doubles.



RULES

1. INVITE FRIENDS

Refer VPN services to a friend by pressing "Invite friends" and sharing automatically generated link to our services.

2. COLLECT POINTS

For each new person joined our VPN family, you will earn 30 days free of charge VPN. Free of charge days can be summed.

LET'S START ↓ INVITE FRIENDS →

3. BE TOP 100 JSERS AND GET A 30NUS

At the end of out limited time 3 month special challenge, the TOP100 user with most people attracted will double award!

Bonus! 2X Free VPN People invited Rank User Name AWARD and joined! days! 1 Lucas_19 55 1650 3300 2940 2 Stefan 49 1470 Francesco 3 48 1410 2880 Gallimi

47

6

з

1410

180

90

2820

360

people

3 MORE

TO GET a BONUS!

LEADERBOARD

CHECK OUT YOUR STANDING

Leaderboard is the easiest way to compare your performance to other users!



4

100

102

AllineR

David Picc

YOU

	Strong		Slightl		Slight	Agn	Strong
	ly	Disagr	У	Neith	ly	Agr	ly
	disagr	ee (2)	disagr	er (4)	Agree	(6)	agree
	ee (1)		ee (3)		(5)	(0)	(7)
Using presented gamified system							
in referring a VPN service for a							
new user would enable me to							
accomplish tasks more quickly.							
Using presented gamified system							
in referring a VPN service for a							
new user would improve my							
performance.							
Using presented gamified system							
in referring a VPN service for a							
new user would increase my							
productivity.							
Using presented gamified system							
in referring a VPN service for a							
new user would enhance my							
effectiveness on the task.							
Using presented gamified system							
in referring a VPN service for a							
new user would make it easier to							
do this task.							
I would find presented gamified							
system in referring a VPN service							
for a new user useful.							

Question 5: Rate the level of agreement with each statement provided below:

	Strong		Slightl		Slight		Strong
	ly	Disagr	У	Neith	ly	Agre	ly
	disagr	ee (2)	disagr	er (4)	Agree	e (6)	agree
	ee (1)		ee (3)		(5)		(7)
I would find the presented							
gamified system enjoyable.							
I would find the presented							
gamified system pleasant.							
I would find the presented							
gamified system exciting.							
I would find the presented							
gamified system interesting.							

Question 6: Rate the level of agreement with each statement provided below:

Question 7: Rate the level of likelihood of impact that participation in gamified system to refer VPN service might have on You:

	Extrem ely unlikely (1)	Unlik ely (2)	Slight ly unlike ly (3)	Neith er (4)	Slight ly likely (5)	Like ly (6)	Extrem ely likely (7)
By using gamified system, it is							
highly likely that my personal							
information will be used by other							
people.							
Participating in gamified system,							
endangers my privacy because of							
wrongful use of my personal							
data.							
Sometimes I experience							
unnecessary stress while							
connected to gamified system.							

Sometimes, when I am				
participating in gamified system				
I feel anxious.				
I am concerned about wasting				
too much time participating in a				
gamified system.				
I am concerned about having to				
waste time on task related to				
participation in a gamified				
system.				
Participating in gamified system				
can worsen the image other				
people have of me.				
Participating in gamified system				
makes some people whose				
opinion I value think I am not				
acting correctly.				

Question 8: Rate the level of likelihood of Your intention to recommend VPN service using presented gamified system:

	Extrem		Slight		Slight		Extrem
	ely	Unlike	ly	Neith	ly	Like	ely
	unlikely	ly (2)	unlike	er (4)	likely	ly (6)	likely
	(1)		ly (3)		(5)		(7)
I would say positive things							
about this VPN service and							
gamified system.							
9) I would recommend use this							
VPN service to anyone who							
seeks my advice.							

9) I do not encourage friends to				
use this VPN service.				
9) I hesitate to refer my				
acquaintances to this VPN				
service.				

Question 9: Your gender:

- Female
- Male

Question 10: Your age:

- 18-24
- 25-34
- 35-44
- 45-54
- 55>